NHS LIVERPOOL CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
GOVERNING BODY
THURSDAY 28TH MAY 2015 AT 3PM – 5PM
BOARDROOM ARTHOUSE SQUARE
AGENDA
Part 1:
1.1

Introductions and Apologies

Declarations of Interest

Part 2:

All

Governance

2.1

Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15

Report no: GB 40-15
Tom Jackson / Ian Davies

2.2

Draft Letter of Representation to Grant Thornton
from Liverpool CCG

Report no: GB 41-15
Katherine Sheerin

2.3

Letter of Financial Statements to Grant Thornton
from Liverpool CCG

Report no: GB 42-15
Maureen Williams

2.4

Audit Findings Report (ISA260) from
Grant Thornton for Liverpool CCG

Report no: GB 43-15
Robin Baker –
Grant Thornton

3.

Questions from the Public

4.

Date and time of next meeting:
Tuesday 9th June 2015 at 1pm - Boardroom, Arthouse Square
Exclusion of Press and Public: that in view of the confidential nature of the business to be
transacted, members of the public, press and non-voting members be excluded from the
meeting at this point.

PAGE 1

Page 1 of 1

Report no: GB40-15
NHS LIVERPOOL CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
GOVERNING BODY
THURSDAY 28TH MAY 2015
Title of Report
Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15
Lead Governor
Senior Management
Team Lead
Report Author(s)

Summary
Recommendation

Impact on improving
health outcomes,
reducing inequalities
and promoting
financial
sustainability
PAGE 2

Nadim Fazlani
Chair
Katherine Sheerin
Chief Officer
Ian Davies,
Head of Operations & Corporate Performance and
Kim McNaught, Deputy Chief Finance Officer
The purpose of this paper is to present to the Governing
Body the Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15.
That Liverpool CCG Governing Body confirm the
Statement of Disclosure to Auditors (SECTION 3:15)
made by each individual GB member i.e;
That each individual who is a member of the
Governing Body at the time the Members Report is
approved confirms:
• So far as the member is aware, that there is no
relevant audit information of which the clinical
commissioning group’s external auditor is unaware;
and
• The member has taken all the steps that they ought
to have taken as a member in order to make them
self-aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the clinical commissioning group’s
auditor is aware of that information.
That Liverpool CCG Governing Body:
 Approve and adopt the Annual Report and Accounts
for 2014/15
The Annual Report and Accounts provide assurance as to
the leadership, capacity and capability of the organisation
to meet its operational and strategic objectives and
obligations.
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Welcome & Introduction:
Welcome to the Second Annual Report for NHS Liverpool CCG.
Our first year was focused on building the CCG so that we are a strong commissioner, and
developing relationships across the system to create a collective effort to improve the
health and health services of the city. This included launching Healthy Liverpool, which is
our programme for transforming health care and outcomes for the people of the city.
During our second year, we have built on this, publishing the Healthy Liverpool Prospectus
for Change which clearly sets out the outcomes we want to achieve and starts to describe
how this will be delivered.
A key principle for the CCG is to recognise that health is dependent on so many factors
which are outside the NHS, in particular having informed and engaged individuals and
families within strong, vibrant communities. Because of this, we have invested significantly
in local community organisations both to support them to deliver health improving services,
and to utilise their local knowledge and intelligence in helping to shape how services are
commissioned going forward.
Our investment in telehealth and telecare the Mi
programme is now the biggest telehealth programme in England supporting more and
more people to live at home safely in the community.
Primary care services are of course at the heart of what the NHS delivers, and we are
proud that primary care in Liverpool goes from strength to strength, with more
appointments offered by our member practices, and evidence that they are working harder
than ever and achieving improved care for their patients.
We recognise however that we cannot achieve our ambitions alone. We are proud to have
strong partnerships with the Local Authority, the health care provider organisations of
Liverpool and our neighbouring commissioners, and most importantly with the people of
the city.
We are keen to hear your thoughts on our work, and for you to become more involved in
our future.

Nadim Fazlani

Katherine Sheerin

Chair

Chief Officer

Liverpool CCG

Liverpool CCG
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1.

Member Practices’ Introduction

Liverpool CCG, in its second year of operation, has continued to actively seek and involve
GPs and their practices to help further develop the organisation, its culture, behaviours
and decision making processes. Local engagement with practices remains a key
organisational foundation and priority, with a continued strong emphasis on engagement
and involvement through both the use of local neighbourhoods and the three localities.
The CCG commitment to engagement extends to the Local Medical Committee (LMC) that
has continued to be fully consulted on matters effecting general practice and primary care
through involvement on the Primary Care Committee. In addition, there has been
reciprocal membership between the LMC and CCG bodies through the Chairman of the
CCG and Secretary of the LMC.
The bond between the CCG and its membership practices remains at the heart of the
organisation and lead GPs from the localities remain co-opted onto the CCG Governing
Body. This, together with the fact that there are nine GPs elected to the Governing Body,
has ensured that the views of practices are taken into account by the Governing Body. At
the local level, practices are engaged within neighbourhoods and information from
neighbourhoods flows to and from the locality leadership team meetings. Reports from
these meetings are seen and discussed by the Governing Body on a regular basis. In this
way, the CCG is able to demonstrate good engagement with its Member Practices.
As the CCG moves forward into its third year of operation, the CCG has been keen to work
with practices on developing the strategic transformational Healthy Liverpool
Programme. To achieve the aims to not only see patient care closer to home, but also
work to achieve a reduction in health inequalities as well as improve patients’ wellbeing, it
is important to work closely with all practices in the city. A key enabler is the CCG’s
ongoing commitment and investment in the GP Specification / Local Quality Improvement
Scheme, a direct material example of the CCG’s commitment to working closely with
practices.
The LMC and Locality Chairs are committed to working with all GPs and practices,
supporting them through the changes being brought about through legislation and local
negotiation. The CCG continues to show its willingness to work with the LMC in a positive
manner to ensure that the CCG’s health priorities for the local community are achieved.

Dr Rob Barnett
Secretary, Liverpool Local Medical Committee.
Dr Paula Finnerty - North Locality Chair
Dr Jim Cuthbert - Matchworks Locality Chair *
Dr Jude Mahadanaarachchi - Central Locality Chair*
(*Resigned 20th March 2015)
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CASE STUDY: Helping the voluntary sector to improve health in the city.
In July 2014 the CCG approved the investment of £3m over three years for
grants to help Liverpool’s Voluntary Community and Social Enterprise
organisations improve health in the city.
The grants support small community groups and organisations to undertake
activity that improves health and wellbeing in Liverpool and help to build
mutual understanding and cooperation between these groups.
Using a fair and structured process, the programme awards grants from
£3,000 to £35,000 for up to 3 years.
Nearly 180 applications were received in the first year of the scheme and over
one third of these received grants.
Speaking of the grants programme, Maureen Williams, Liverpool CCG Deputy
Chair said ‘We recognise the important role of community and voluntary
organisations in supporting health and wellbeing and are proud to bring
forward this innovative approach. We think this will have a major positive
impact for Liverpool and builds up social approaches to improving health
alongside clinical treatments’.
In March 2015 projects participating in the programme reported on the
excellent progress being made. A fresh call for applications from groups and
organisations wishing to benefit from the scheme will be launched in June
2015.
Progress reported by participating organisations in the Healthy Liverpool
Community Grant Programme included:
•

“People are attempting to do new things that they would not normally
do. This has improved and increased their self-confidence and this in
turn has also had a positive impact on their outlook on life”

Source: Bridge Community Centre
•

“A “chat” and a donated guitar helped a very distressed client stop
self-harming”

Source: Merseyside Refugee Support Network

6
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2.

Strategic Report

2.1

Introduction

The Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group became operational as an NHS Body on the
1st April 2013 and currently includes 93 GP member Practices and is co-terminus with the
boundaries of Liverpool City Council. The CCG serves a registered population of 493,964
and has a budget of £764.8m. The CCG remained ‘licenced without conditions’ from NHS
England throughout 2014/15.
The accounts in this report have been prepared in accordance with the Department of
Health Group Manual for Accounts 2014/15 and associated guidance.
2.2
Details of the members of the Governing Body and Staffing
For the year 2014/15 the office of Chair of the CCG has been held by Dr Nadim Fazlani
and the Chief Officer (Accountable Officer) is Katherine Sheerin.
The membership of the Governing Body up to the signing of the Annual Report & Accounts
has been as follows:
Governing Body Members:
Dr Nadim Fazlani
Professor Maureen Williams
Dr Simon Bowers
Dave Antrobus
Dr Janet Bliss
Moira Cain
Dr Jim Cuthbert
Dr Ed Gaynor
Tom Jackson
Dr Rosie Kaur
Dr Fiona Lemmens
Jane Lunt
Dr Jude Mahadanaarachchi
Professor Donal O’Donoghue
Dr Shamim Rose
Katherine Sheerin
Dr Maurice Smith

Chair
Lay Member Governance / Deputy Chair
GP / Clinical Vice Chair
Lay Member Patient Engagement
GP
Practice Nurse
GP (resigned 20th March 2015)
GP (up to 31st May 2014)
Chief Finance Officer
GP (new member from 1st June 2014)
GP
Head of Quality / Chief Nurse
GP (resigned 20th March 2015)
Secondary Care Doctor
GP
Chief Officer (Accountable Officer)
GP

Co-opted
Members
voting):
Sandra Davies
Cllr Roz Gladden
Dr Paula Finnerty
Dr Tristin Elkin
Dr David Webster
Dr Rob Barnett
Ray Guy
Tina Atkins

Director of Public Health, Liverpool City Council
Liverpool City Council Representative
GP North Locality
GP Central Locality
GP Matchworks Locality
Secretary, Liverpool LMC
Practice Manager (retired 31st December 2014)
Practice Manager (from 1st January 2015)

(non-
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Page 64 provides details of the membership of CCG Committees, whilst matters
concerning ‘conflicts of interest’ are dealt with from Page 55 in the section profiling
Governing Body members and Senior Managers.
The Audit Committee has comprised of the following membership:
Audit Committee Membership:
Professor Maureen Williams
Professor Donal O’Donoghue
Dave Antrobus
Dr Simon Bowers

Lay Member / Audit Committee Chair
Secondary Care Doctor
Lay Member Patient Engagement
GP

In attendance:
Internal Audit Representative
Counter Fraud representative
External Audit Representative

Mersey Internal Audit Agency
Mersey Internal Audit Agency
Grant Thornton UK LLP

The Governing Body is not aware of any relevant audit information that has been withheld
from the Clinical Commissioning Group’s external auditors, and members of the Governing
Body take all necessary steps to make themselves aware of relevant information and to
ensure that this is passed to the external auditors where appropriate.
The Governing Body (voting / full members) in post at the 31/03/15 comprises of: male 6
and female 8 members.
The CCG currently employs 117 staff: male 30 and female 87 (VSM: 4 (inc 1 Governing Body)
male and 4 female (inc 2 Governing Body) ), an increase overall of 20 from the previous year.

2.3
Management Commentary
2014/15 has been the second year of the CCG’s operation and during the year the clinical
leadership of the organisation has continued to develop and be recognised along with
other members of the Governing Body as the leaders of the local health care system. The
infrastructure and staffing of the CCG has continued to develop as the need for new roles
and support has been identified, alongside continued attention to the necessary
governance arrangements and other processes that underpin the commissioning of safe,
effective and quality services that meet local needs and allow the CCG to discharge its
statutory role and duties. The CCG aims to further improve the health of the local
population in relation to the rest of the country and reduce the variations in health that exist
between people living in different areas of the city.
During the year the CCG has met all of the required financial duties placed upon it and
ends the year in a balanced and healthy financial position.
Throughout the year the CCG has sought to work effectively with a wide variety of partners
including member GP Practices and commissioning partners including neighbouring
CCGs, NHS England and Liverpool City Council. This has been achieved through
continued membership and support of the Merseyside CCG Network, joint working with the
NHS England Merseyside Area Team (from 1st January 2015 NHS England Cheshire &
Merseyside Sub Regional Team) and the continuation of our formal Partnership
8
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Agreement with Liverpool City Council. Equal importance has been placed upon further
developing and sustaining Provider relationships with frequent engagement between
clinicians, Board / Governing Body Members alongside the more formal contract and
quality forums and meetings.
Externally Governing Body members have supported a variety of national initiatives and
roles. These include the Chief Officer who is a Board member of NHS Clinical
Commissioners, whilst the Chief Finance Officer has chaired the HFMA Commissioning
Finance Faculty Technical Issues Group as well as being Vice Chair of the North West
Branch of the HfMA and Chair of the Core Cities Finance Group.
A number of significant projects and milestones have been achieved during 2014/15 and
these include the following:
•

Publication of the Healthy Liverpool Programme ‘Healthy Liverpool Prospectus
for Change’ setting out our vision and ambition for a healthcare system in the city
that supports people to stay well and provides access to the very best care and
treatment.

•

The adoption by the Governing Body of a Social Value Strategy and a Voluntary,
Community & Social Enterprise Strategy both aimed at strengthening the CCGs
commitment to commissioning across the wider determinants of ill health and
supporting the development and growth of a vibrant third sector provider
community.

•

Introduction of a Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise Grant Scheme,
investing £1m p.a. over each of the next three years in the sector across a wide
range of community projects and services.

•

Agreement with the Liverpool City Council of a Public Health Memorandum of
Understanding that underpins the importance of public health to the Healthy
Liverpool Programme and achievement of the CCG strategic priorities.

•

Investment of £2.3m in the commissioning of a newly integrated diabetes service,
the Liverpool Diabetes Partnership, a partnership between the Royal Liverpool
and Aintree Hospitals and Liverpool Community Health.

•

Investment of £9.6m in the development of a centre of excellence for cancer care to
be provided by the Clatterbridge Cancer Centre on the Royal Liverpool Hospital
campus.

•

Investment of £9.4m in schemes to increase system ‘winter’ resilience including
increased GP appointments across the city, GPs working alongside the Emergency
Departments at the Royal Liverpool and Alder Hey Hospitals, a new Frailty Unit at
the Royal Liverpool and enhanced social care and discharge support.

•

Investment of £1.6m in Mersey Care to support the opening of the new ‘Clock
Tower’ mental health development to serve the population in the north of the city.

•

The introduction of a joint strategy with Liverpool City Council for Personalised
Health Budgets, providing the foundations and structures necessary to allow for an
expansion of this important area of patient choice.
9
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2.4

•

Completion of important procurements for a new IAPT service (access to
psychological therapies), NHS 111 and anti-coagulation services to benefit local
people across the city.

•

Development of a revised CCG Constitution following engagement with member
practices which strengthens the management of ‘conflicts of interest’ and introduced
a revised Committee Structure (see Section 2.7), which was subsequently approved
by NHS England.

•

Continued commitment to the development and expansion of the Mi Programme,
delivering the largest deployment of telehealth and remote telemetry monitoring in
the UK.
Social, community issues and human rights

The CCG places a high priority on ensuring that it discharges its obligations as a good
corporate citizen and takes into account its responsibilities towards serving and meeting
the needs of local people, including safeguarding their human rights. Operational policies
and procedures are reflective of this commitment, including our approach to managing
individual funding requests for treatment.
The CCG acknowledges its responsibilities under The Public Service (Social Value) Act
2013 and has, during 2014/15, made significant strides to take this important agenda item
forward. On the 13th May 2014 the Governing Body formally adopted a Social Value
Strategy for the organisation.
Through our social value approach NHS Liverpool CCG aims to:-

Place Social Value at the centre of
our thinking and policy,
commissioning and practice

Creating Social Value to
Improve Health Outcomes
by…

Ensure the way LCCG invests and acts
achieves maximum benefit to the
population we serve now and in the future

•
•
•

maximizing impact of clinical services
supporting non-medical solutions
positively influencing social determinants of
health

Social value presents an effective framework to commission in new ways which maximise
health outcomes and value from investments and support local economic and
environmental goals. Our approach aims to bring Liverpool CCG closer to its population
and achieve meaningful engagement and shared decision making with patients.
Importantly the implementation of the strategy will help us understand, track, report and
continuously improve the impact upon local residents and the city at large.
A strategic approach to social value seeks to embed the desired outcomes in all policy and
practice and if applied effectively, the benefits for wellbeing, reduced health inequalities,
10
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and managing future demand for NHS services, could be significant. The majority of the
CCG’s influence and ability to affect positive outcomes and minimise harm comes through
our strategic and commissioning decisions and our partnerships. These areas are
therefore the focus for the social value approach through both clinical and non-clinical
means.
Our social value objectives can be summarised and illustrated as follows:

Commissioning,
Investment and
Procurement

• ensure that all commissioning and investment processes
enable and achieve social value

Workforce

• engage CCG, GP practice and NHS Trust staff such that
social value is widely understood, supported and delivered
throughout the system

Models of care

• utilise frameworks of social value to help rethink models of
care that achieve better health outcomes, effective
resource use and are future proof

Resource use

• maximise efficient use of resources including buildings,
energy, water, transport and waste such that social value is
achieved

Adaptation and risk

• plan services and facilities with climate change, resource
availability and price conditions in mind

Engagement

• work in partnership with stakeholders , including nonclinical providers and partners, to ensure a strong and
effective social value approach that delivers better health
outcomes

Governance,
finance, monitoring
and reporting

• put in place structures/systems that oversee the social
value approach, align resources where appropriate, embed
this into policy and practice and track the impact this is
having

Alongside the Social Value Strategy in May 2014 the Governing Body also approved and
adopted another important policy; our strategy for working with the Voluntary, Community
and Social Enterprise Sector (VCSE). This strategy outlines why the CCG values the role
of the VCSE in improving health and explains why we wish to work in partnership on this
shared goal. Liverpool is fortunate in having a very active and diverse VCSE sector and
the strategy sets out the value the CCG places on the contribution of these organisations
to the city’s health and how it intends to work with the sector going forward.
11
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Different types of VCSE organisations have different roles to play in health terms; from the
contact they have with their community to providing citizens with opportunities and support
to participate in community life, decision making and in improving their own and their
families’ health. It is in these areas of common interest where the CCG and VCSE
organisations can come together effectively to support each other. Where VCSE
organisation goals are in line with CCG goals, we will seek to understand and maximise
the mutual advantage of working together to improve health in Liverpool communities.

12
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2.5

Progress against agreed targets

The CCG has maintained a robust and consistent focus on performance and has
continued to achieve the majority of the key targets set both nationally and locally during
2014/15; building on the positives of the previous financial year 2013/14 and overseeing
overall improvements in important areas such as waiting times for cancer treatment, 18
week and 52 week Referral to Treatment (RTT) targets and in mental health measures
(percentage of patients on a Care Programme Approach).
Whilst the overall achievement of these targets in 2014/15 highlights the progress made by
the CCG in relation to patient care, waiting times and performance in other critical areas
continues to represent a significant challenge.
For the financial year 2014/15 the CCG achieved the national four hour operational
standard of 95% for patients being seen and discharged within 4 hours. At provider level
however, delivery against the four hour A&E standard saw unacceptable variations (and
failures) in performance throughout the financial year; although this was generally
reflective of most major A&E departments across the country during 2014/15.
Performance against Mixed Sex Accommodation Breaches was also rated as ‘Red’ with a
total of 31 breaches reported up to the end of February 2015 (most recently available data
at the time of this report). Nationally there is a zero tolerance of Mixed Sex
Accommodation breaches and when compared to the zero breaches reported in 2013/14,
this has obviously been a significant concern for the CCG. We have worked closely with
the Royal Liverpool Hospital the principle provider concerned to ensure that improvements
in internal processes and physical changes to critical care accommodation were
implemented to eliminate these breaches. The breaches primarily occurred as a
consequence of clinical care being prioritised in the best interests of the patient and their
immediate needs.
The incidence of health care acquired infections has also been challenging for the CCG in
2014/15. Incidents of MRSA carry a ‘zero tolerance’ and up to the end of February 2015
seven cases had been reported relating to Liverpool patients, although this is an
improvement against the 17 cases reported in 2013/14. Incidence of C.difficile were
however, marginally below the national target of 158 cases set for the city (153 were
reported up to the end of March 2015). In all cases the CCG has striven to work with
commissioning partners and providers to seek sustainable solutions to improve
performance and ensure that provider remedial plans address any gaps in quality or safety
and prevent recurrences.
The Governing Body receives monthly updates which highlight CCG and individual
provider performance against all key healthcare acquired infection targets and assurances
on actions completed or underway to remedy poor performance and mitigate risks.
Throughout the year the CCG has worked collaboratively with public health colleagues in
the City Council to better understand the overall health status of the city’s population;
culminating in the development of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), Health &
Wellbeing Strategy and joint commissioning priorities.
Liverpool CCG has been pressing on with its five year strategy for the city that will be
delivered as part of the Healthy Liverpool Programme and which has set the following key
outcomes:
13
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•

To reduce life years lost by 24.2%

•

To improve health-related quality of life for people with long-term conditions

•

To reduce emergency admissions by 15.3%

•

To improve the experience of patients of hospital care to the average of the top 10
CCGs in England

•

To improve the experience of patients of primary and community services to the
average of the top 5 CCGs in England

2.6

Legislative Requirements

Clinical Commissioning Groups have a number of requirements under The NHS Act 2006
(as amended) which have to be included in their Annual Report. There is a specific
legislative obligation which requires the CCG to comment on how the organisation has
discharged its statutory duties during the year, including the following:
•

To improve the quality of services – Quality of care is best defined as ‘care that
is effective, safe and provides as positive an experience as possible’. This definition
is taken from The Health & Social Care Act 2012 and runs throughout our
Constitution. Liverpool CCG has a duty to the population of the city of Liverpool to
secure continuous improvement in the quality of services we commission and the
outcomes achieved from those services.
Liverpool CCG continues to seek assurances of the quality of commissioned
services primarily through its Governing Body (which meets on a monthly basis)
and through the Governing Body’s Committee structure. Within this structure, the
Quality, Safety and Outcomes Committee reports directly to the Governing Body
and acts as the ‘first line’ of assurance for the continuous improvement in the quality
of services we commission. The Committee is chaired by a lay member of the CCG
and its core membership comprises of Governing Body representation from the
Head of Quality/Chief Nurse, two GP clinical leads and the Chief Officer. The
Committee routinely receives reports on all quality and safety issues and seeks
evidential assurances of the CCG’s work with providers to support continued
improvement.
The Governing Body directly receives a monthly ‘Integrated Corporate Performance
Report’, which is presented at the public Governing Body meeting and provides key
information regarding both the performance and the quality of services
commissioned by the CCG against specific national measures and outcomes. The
CCG consistently and regularly reviewed its’ performance against the NHS
Outcomes Framework 2014/15 (and all operational standards expected from the
NHS Constitution). This analysis is augmented with other vital quality information
such as complaints, Serious Incidents data, Healthcare Acquired Infection rates and
the outcomes of Care Quality Commission/Monitor inspections/reports concerning
our main provider organisations.
Actions to address quality and performance issues are typically managed through
Clinical Performance and Quality Groups (CPQGs) which have been established for
14
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each provider organisation. CQPG meetings are held at regular intervals throughout
the year and are chaired by a GP member. Each CQPG includes senior
representation from both the provider organisation and the CCG and is the forum in
which key performance, compliance and quality indicators are reviewed and where
improvement action plans are agreed. The delivery of these action plans are
rigorously monitored by the relevant CPQG; ensuring that the CCG links service
improvement and transformation with quality improvement. Clinical Performance
and Quality Groups continue to support our collaborative commissioning
arrangements across Merseyside, which in turn enable commissioners of services
to align their work and commission services more efficiently and effectively.
Underpinning the work of the Quality, Safety and Outcomes Committee and CQPGs
are the CCG Quality Team. The Quality Team is led by the CCG Chief Nurse/ Head
of Quality, who, along with the Clinical Performance and Quality Manager and
Clinical Performance and Safety Manager provide strategic and operational
leadership for key components of the quality work stream. The team is supported by
project managers and a dedicated administrative post to ensure that the meetings
run effectively and efficiently.
On a wider health economy level NHS England, through its’ Cheshire & Merseyside
Sub-Regional Team has firmly established a Quality Surveillance Group (QSG) of
which NHS Liverpool CCG is an active member, along with each of the Merseyside
CCGs and other key partners and stakeholders. Quality Surveillance Groups act as
an important mechanism for the sharing and analysis of significant information and
intelligence about commissioned services. This enables early detection of
deteriorating quality and an ‘early warning’ of potential risks to patient safety. Where
necessary, the QSG will conduct enhanced surveillance of providers until evidential
assurance of sustained quality improvement is demonstrated.
Enhanced surveillance, ‘Quality Reviews’ and ‘Risk Summits’ can be triggered by a
number of factors; such as an unacceptably high risk rating following the outcome
of a Care Quality Commission inspection, combined intelligence and quality data
which highlights serious issues, aggregated thematic reviews of Serious Incidents
and complaints or a continued failure to achieve minimum quality targets. Although
led by the Sub-Regional Team of NHS England, both the Quality Review and Risk
Summit process involve a range of partners, such as the CQC, Health Education
England and Local Authorities to ensure that an informed and inclusive view of the
issues can be considered and proportionate actions to improve quality can be taken
forward and monitored.
The financial year 2014/15 has been a challenging year for the CCG in terms of
quality, with a number of local provider issues highlighted by the Care Quality
Commission as requiring improvement or having areas of concern; including Alder
Hey, Liverpool Women’s Hospital, Liverpool Community Health, the Royal Liverpool
& Broadgreen University Hospitals, Liverpool Heart & Chest and Aintree University
Hospital. In all cases matters have been considered through the CPQGs, Quality
Safety and Outcomes Committee and Governing Body, with close scrutiny and
monitoring of remedial action plans.
The CGG has maintained its strong and effective working relationships with
providers, NHS England, Liverpool City Council and external organisations including
the Care Quality Commission, Monitor and the NHS Trust Development Authority
(NTDA). Continued partnership working with these stakeholders has greatly
enhanced our surveillance capabilities and influenced the positive work with our
15
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main providers to drive continuous improvements in the quality of healthcare
services for the people of Liverpool.
•

Duty in relation to quality of primary medical services - The quality of General
Practice primary care services has continued to be a key priority for the CCG and is
overseen by the Primary Care Quality Improvement Committee which is chaired by
the CCG Chair. The CCG has developed a range of methods to build a two-way
dialogue with its 93 member practices. All practices are engaged within
neighbourhoods and information flows to and from the locality leadership team.
The Primary Care Quality Framework, which was introduced in April 2013 and
based on the original Liverpool General Practice Specification, aims to drive
continuous improvement through supporting practices to deliver high quality primary
medical services (and at the same time providing assurances to the NHS England
Sub-Regional Team that Liverpool CCG practices are providing high quality care).
Equally fundamental to this framework is ensuring that every Liverpool general
practice plays their part in realising the CCG’s vision.
The Framework consists of 62 evidenced based indicators covering prevention,
cancer, cardiovascular disease (CVD), long term conditions, children’s, urgent care,
planned care and patient experience. With the support of the CCG primary care
team via regular practice visits, GP neighbourhood meetings and Locality
Leadership Teams, practices are presented with opportunities to review
performance, identify priorities, receive support from peers and showcase best
practice. A quarterly report is also presented to the Primary Care Committee to
monitor progress and allow localities to share best practice.
Overall, positive progress and improvement has been made during 2014/15 in key
areas of focus for the CCG such as cholesterol management in coronary heart
disease (CHD) patients, and in diabetes; with diabetics receiving the nine key tests
for diabetes care.
The now well established locality and neighbourhood infrastructure facilitates and
assures a local approach to managing quality and variation, as well as identifying
training and education needs and crucial member practice input into the
development of clinical pathways. Localities have reviewed where progress has not
been as good as expected, and actions are set out in the individual Locality Plans to
address these areas.
Transforming Routine Neighbourhood Services has also been identified as one of
the key workstreams of the Healthy Liverpool Programme. The principle behind the
development of this workstream is that through the existing GP neighbourhood
footprint, each neighbourhood (working in partnership with practices, other health
services and patients) will locally shape the core clinical and non-clinical services
that each neighbourhood should expect to have available to them.
During 2014/15 the Care Quality Commission also commenced inspections of
General Practice and GP Out of Hours services in Liverpool under a new inspection
regime. Up to 31st March 2015 a total of 18 Liverpool CCG practices had received
inspections, two of which received ‘outstanding’ ratings; one practice for responsive
services to patients and one for outstanding care of patients.
The majority of practices inspected during 2014/15 have received overall ratings of
‘Good’ from the CQC. However, three Liverpool CCG practices were rated as
16
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‘inadequate’. As a result two practices were placed in special measures (Dharmana
Family Practice and Kensington Park Practice) with Baycliffe Medical Centre having
their contract terminated by NHS England. The CCG Primary Care Team have
continued to work in partnership with NHS England to ensure delivery of high quality
and consistent primary medical services that meets the needs of the patients and
supports the practices in achieving this.
To reduce inequalities – Promoting and embracing equality is at the heart of
Liverpool CCG’s core values; ensuring that ‘everyone counts’ and that we
commission services fairly and inclusively and with no community or group left
behind in the improvements that will be made to health outcomes across the city.
This is particularly important in light of the challenges the NHS face as outlined in
the Five year view.
The CCG has continued to work internally and in partnership with our providers,
community, voluntary sector and other key organisations to ensure that we advance
equality of opportunity and meet our exacting requirements of The Equality Act
2010.
The Equality Act 2010 requires us to meet our Public Sector Equality Duty across a
range of protected groups including age, gender, race, sex, sexual orientation,
religion/belief,
gender
identity,
marital/civil
partnership
status
and
pregnancy/maternity status.
To help us set our Equality Objectives LCCG is currently undertaking Equality
Delivery Systems (EDS) 2, in partnership with Liverpool Healthwatch.
Liverpool CCG has been assessed as “Developing”; reflecting the need to fully
embed equality and diversity. The CCG is currently working toward to improving its
performance around the following indicators, over the next 2 years:
•
•
•

Services are commissioned, procured, designed and delivered to meet the
health needs of local communities;
People, carers and communities can readily access hospital, community health
or primary care services and should not be denied access on unreasonable
grounds, and;
Papers that come before the Governing Body and other major Committees
identify equality-related impacts including risks, and say how these risks are to
be managed.

Key pieces of work for the year include: working closely with the key NHS providers
in the city through the Equality and Diversity Provider Forum to ensure there are
robust quality contract mechanisms in place to drive up improvements in equality
performance; working with Healthwatch Liverpool (Scrutiny) on improving their skills
and knowledge around both The Equality Act 2010 and their role in relation to
Equality Delivery Systems and future CCG and provider self-assessments.
•

To consult with and involve the public – the CCG recognises the importance of
effective engagement, involvement and when required consultation with local
people. To that end one of the Lay members on the Governing Body has formal
responsibility for the oversight and if required challenge to the approach to
involvement and engagement being taken by the organisation. In addition Liverpool
Healthwatch has a formal and monthly invitation to attend meetings of the
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PAGE 20

FINAL DRAFT 2014/15
Governing Body, providing the opportunity for transparency and a further scrutiny of
our approach. Members of the public are also welcomed to attend formal meetings
of the Governing Body and are provided with the opportunity to question Governing
Body members and officers. During the year after listening to the public, the
requirement for questions to be submitted in writing at formal meetings was lifted
and Governing Body meetings now include an ‘open’ question session for members
of the public, although written questions are also still welcomed.
Patient, service user and public involvement underpins the commissioning role of
the CCG and during 2014/15 we continued building our programme of active
engagement and involvement as a key strand of our Healthy Liverpool Programme.
This year Liverpool CCG has embarked on an ambitious new approach which
supports our duties both to reduce inequality and to involve people. We have invited
voluntary and community organisations from right across the city to work with us to
enable the community in which they operate to participate in planning and designing
healthcare strategy and services and to ensure their views and experiences are
understood and fed in to NHS Liverpool CCG, to influence decision making. This
approach significantly increases the reach of our engagement and ensures the
voices of particularly vulnerable people can also be heard.
•

To contribute to the delivery of the local health and wellbeing strategy – the
CCG has played a full and active role with our partners in Liverpool City Council in
establishing and developing the local Health & Wellbeing Board. The CCG has
contributed significantly to the development of the subsequent Joint Health &
Wellbeing Strategy that has itself then influenced and informed the CCG’s own 2
and 5 year commissioning plans and strategy going forward.

We certify that the Clinical Commissioning Group has complied with the statutory duties
laid down in the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
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CASE STUDY: Improving Accident & Emergency Services by investing in
primary care.
This year the CCG agreed a significant investment in three schemes to
improve accident and emergency provision in Liverpool.
The CCG’s Governing Body has agreed funding for a dedicated GP to be
located in the A&E department at the Royal Liverpool Hospital and for a GP to
be located in the Children’s A&E department at Alder Hey Hospital.
The aim behind the schemes is to help relieve the pressure on local A&E
services, particularly during the busy winter period, by employing a GP to
assess those patients whose treatment may be better delivered by their GP or
other primary care provider rather than in hospital. Under the schemes,
patients with less urgent conditions will be diverted away from A&E to their GP
or primary care provider for treatment.
Dr Fiona Lemmens , GP and Governing Body Member and Urgent Care Lead
at the CCG, explained: “The CCG has been working closely with Urgent Care
24 (the local GP ‘out of hours’ service) and the Royal Liverpool Hospital to run
a pilot scheme with a dedicated GP working within the A&E department since
last November. The scheme has proven successful in diverting patients whose
treatment may be better provided by their GP away from A&E, and this has
enabled the A&E team to focus on treating those patients who require
emergency care more quickly.”
The CCG has also agreed to provide funding for a North West Ambulance
Service Pathfinder scheme. The aim behind the scheme is for ambulance
staff to identify patients who are safe to be left at home until a GP can visit to
assess their condition and decide whether that patient should treated in
hospital, at home or within the community.
The scheme will see NWAS work in partnership with GP out of hours service
providers to provide a dedicated GP response outside of normal operational
hours.
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2.7

Nature, objectives and strategies of the Clinical Commissioning Group

NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group became established as an NHS Body on the
1st April 2013, following formal authorisation by NHS England. The financial year 2014/15
is the second year of the CCG as an organisation, during which the focus has shifted from
‘authorisation’ to sustainability and establishment as the leaders of the local health care
system.
The CCG comprises of 93 GP member Practices that are organised into three localities
(North, Central and Matchworks (South)), beneath which there are eighteen
neighbourhoods. Co-terminus with the boundaries of Liverpool City Council, the CCG
serves a population of 470,800* and has a budget of £764m.
*Latest population estimates from the Office for National Statistics

Population projections suggest the increase will continue in the medium term, with the number
of local residents increasing by a further 6,400 by 2022.

The following diagram illustrates the registered population profile as at December 2013

While there was a recovery following the slump in population during the war, this marked the
period when the large scale migration from Liverpool began and led to a rapid decline in
population. The city now boasts a large student population from its five universities and
colleges, with over 11% of people in Liverpool aged between 20 and 24 years old. The
relatively large population of children and young adults in the city is reflected in the
average age of its residents. At the time of the 2011 Census, the median (average) age in
Liverpool was 35 years, compared to 39 years for England. While the city has a relatively
young population, the Office for National Statistics project a substantial increase in the
number of children and older people in Liverpool over the coming decade.
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By 2021, it is estimated that the number of people aged over 65 in Liverpool will increase
by just over 9%, or 5,700 people. Projections also indicate there will be a large increase in
the number of children in the city by 2021, with the number aged under 15 increasing by
6.8%, or an additional 5,000 people.
Reflecting the diverse recent and past history of our maritime city, figures from the 2011
Census indicate that 15.2% of the Liverpool population are from a minority ethnic group
i.e. non-white British, equating to almost 71,000 residents. This is slightly higher than the
regional average (12.9%), but lower than England (20.2%).
The top 5 ethnic minority groups in Liverpool are:

The CCG is based in a leased headquarters building in the centre of Liverpool at 1
Arthouse Square. These premises are shared with NHS Property Services.
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The CCG organisational structure can be illustrated as follows:

The management of the CCG is structured and delivered around seven ‘Heads of Service’
or directorates:
•

Finance

•

Chief Nurse & Quality

•

Primary Care Quality & Improvement

•

Operations & Corporate Performance

•

Strategy & Outcomes

•

Contracts & Procurement

•

Communications

The organisation contracts with the North West Commissioning Support Unit (NWCSU) for
a limited number of commissioning support services to enable the CCG to deliver its
objectives and day to day operations. During 2014/15 these were limited to: Business
Intelligence (including data processing); Continuing Healthcare (CHC), Funded Nursing
Care and individual complex packages of care; Emergency Planning support; urgent care
system reporting; Individual Funding Requests (IFR); communications and strategic
engagement advice and support.
The CCG is responsible for commissioning the full spectrum of community, mental health
and secondary care services, along with emergency and patient transport ambulance
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services, GP out of hours services and the NHS 111 service. The following table highlights
those providers whose contract value in 2014/15 exceeded £0.5m in value.

Provider Type: Acute Hospitals
Royal Liverpool & Broadgreen University Aintree University Hospital NHS Foundation
Hospitals NHS Trust
Trust
Liverpool
Women’s
Foundation Trust

Hospital

NHS Alder Hey Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

St Helens & Knowsley Teaching Hospitals Liverpool Heart & Chest Hospital NHS
NHS Trust
Foundation Trust
Southport & Ormskirk Hospitals NHS Trust
Warrington & Halton
Foundation Trust

Hospitals

Wirral University Teaching Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust

NHS Spire Hospital Liverpool, Spire Healthcare
Limited

Provider Type: Mental Health
Mersey Care NHS Trust

South Staffordshire NHS Trust (IAPT)

5 Boroughs Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust
Provider Type: Community Services
Liverpool Community Health NHS Trust
Provider Type: Other
North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust Urgent Care 24 Limited (GP out of hours
(ambulance services and NHS 111)

provider)

The city’s health economy (like many across England) is quite complex and full of unique
challenges and opportunities. Residents in Liverpool experience a wide range of poorer
health outcomes when compared to similar cities. Certain parts of the city suffer from
significant levels of variation in health inequalities; not only when compared to different
parts of the country but even when compared to different parts of the city itself. Cancer has
now replaced cardiovascular disease as the leading causes of death in Liverpool and one
in five people in the city have a single long term condition. The prevalence of chronic
illnesses such as heart disease, respiratory disease and cancer increases with age and
increases at a faster rate among the most deprived communities. These are the major
challenges for the CCG and for the healthcare system going forward.
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The Liverpool health economy infrastructure consists of a unique mix of eight
NHS/Foundation Trusts (four of which are ‘specialist’ Trusts), all sharing
interdependencies and relationships with neighbourhood health facilities, private acute
providers and numerous providers accredited under ‘any qualified provider’ (AQP).
Liverpool is fortunate to have a wealth of voluntary, community and social enterprise
(VCSE) partners and has a diverse market of nursing, residential home and domiciliary
care providers.
The CCG is co-terminus with the Liverpool City Council, with whom we have maintained
an extremely strong, positive and close working relationship with in 2014/15. This crucial
strategic partnership will enable us to ensure that all our health services across all settings
of care will be able to meet the future needs of the city and achieve our ambitions for
significant improvements in health outcomes for the people of Liverpool. Our joint focus
with Liverpool City Council will therefore continue to be on ensuring that people and
communities have a better experience of care and support; that they experience less
health inequalities and achieve better outcomes as a result of receiving the right services
which meet the specific needs of communities and neighbourhoods.
Further details of the city’s health can be found in the Annual Report of the Director of
Public Health, Liverpool City Council.
As part of the journey towards becoming authorised and established the CCG determined
and agreed its vision, values and strategic objectives which remain as:
Our Vision
•

By 2020, health outcomes for the people within Liverpool will have improved relative
to the rest of England, and health inequalities within Liverpool will have narrowed.

•

The quality of health care received by Liverpool patients will be consistent and of
high quality. They will be measured by patient feedback, provider assessment, and
external review processes.

•

Both will be achieved efficiently within the available resources.
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Our Values
Patient Focused and Outcome Led
•

We will empower our patients to engage in improving their overall quality of life, to
interact in their care plans, and to ensure that no decisions will be made without
fully involving patients, both in the planning and monitoring of services.

Partnership and Collaboration
•

We believe in working in unity, both within our organisation and externally with our
partners. We listen to, communicate with, and work effectively with all our partners
including membership practices, Trusts, the Local Authority, and Commissioning
Support Services.

Locally Focused
•

We will work through locality and neighbourhood groups to implement and deliver
services that meet the needs of our communities.

Progressiveness
•

We encourage innovation and continuous improvement in all services
we commission. We will target our resources in the most effective way to ensure we
offer value for money in the services we provide, and equity for patients.

Accountability
•

We accept responsibility for our actions. We make and support business decisions
through experience, evidence and good judgement, and we will deliver against our
promises.

Integrity and Respect
•

We will act with honesty and transparency in all our actions. We are committed to a
teamwork environment, where every member of the CCG is valued, encouraged to
contribute and recognised for their efforts.

Our Strategic Objectives
•

To improve health outcomes

•

To maximise value from our financial resources and focus on interventions that will
make a major difference

•

To build successful partnerships which promote system working and integrated
service delivery

•

To hold providers of commissioned services to account for the quality of services
delivered

•

To effectively engage patients and the public in decision making

•

To ensure continuous improvement in primary care services

The delivery of these strategic objectives has shaped and directed the commissioning
strategies and business of the organisation during 2014/15. As a clinically led organisation
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it is the clinicians and other Governing Body members, informed by and working with
member practices and other partners who have then determined the commissioning and
investment strategies, transformational and change programme activities during the year.
During the year we have made further progress in developing the Healthy Liverpool
Programme. A key milestone was achieved in October when we published our ‘Prospectus
for Change’ which marked the next stage in the development of this strategic service
transformation programme. The prospectus was launched in Liverpool Town Hall and
outlined the high level case for change, our approach to transforming services and
importantly presented our response to the Mayoral Health Commission.
Our ambitious programme aims to transform the lives of people in the city, their health and
the future shape of health services across the city to meet the challenges going forward
that include: rising demand; increased morbidity and acuity; an ageing population; financial
and economic constraints; the need for enhanced and sustainable quality services; market
and regulatory requirements and interventions; and the changing face of local authority
resources and services. This fundamental programme can be summarised by the following
diagram that illustrates the five key transformational programmes.

The Healthy Liverpool Programme represents the organisation’s five year strategy going
forward and integrates and meets the national planning requirement from NHS England as
expressed in The NHS Five Year Forward View published in October 2014 and the
subsequent planning guidance ‘The Forward View into Action – Planning for 2015/16
published in December 2014.
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An important milestone for the programme was marked in March 2015 with the first large
scale public engagement event held in St George’s Hall. The event brought together over
200 local residents who had been ‘recruited’ independently to represent the diverse
population of the city. Independently facilitated the event provided a significant opportunity
to begin a discussion with local people as to the priorities for Healthy Liverpool and to start
exploring the health challenges ahead and the possible solutions. The event provided the
foundation for rolling out an intensive period of public and staff engagement right across
the city in 2015/16.
Each month the Governing Body receives, at its public meeting, a Corporate Performance
Report that includes a comprehensive data set and key performance indicators that are
used by the Governing Body to assess and track performance against the organisation’s
strategic and operational objectives. Governing Body papers including this regular
performance report are published on the CCG website and can be found
at:
http://www.liverpoolccg.nhs.uk/About_Us/Governing_Body_meetings_2014.aspx
and http://www.liverpoolccg.nhs.uk/About_Us/Governing_Body_meetings_2015.aspx .
A copy of the latest available set of CCG level performance indicators can be found below.
This report shows performance up to the end of February 2015 (final year end data was
unfortunately not fully available in time to meet the audit and publication deadlines for this
annual report and accounts. The most recent performance data and reports can however
be found on the CCG website, address as above).
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CCG Outcomes Framework & Everyone Counts

Frequency of
Reporting

Reporting
Period

Quarterly

Q3 14/15 YTD

Monthly

YTD - Jan 15

852.39

994.80

Monthly

YTD - Jan 15

242.83

160.65

Potential years of life lost (PYLL) from causes considered
amendable to healthcare - Females (Rate per 100,000 pop)

Annual

2013

2,211.90

Potential years of life lost (PYLL) from causes considered
amendable to healthcare - Males (Rate per 100,000 pop)

Annual

2013

2,909.80

CB_A2

Under 75 mortality rate from cardiovascular disease - Males &
Females (Rate per 100,000 pop)

Annual

2013

83.70

CB_A3

Under 75 mortality rate from respiratory disease - Males &
Females (Rate per 100,000 pop)

Annual

2013

57.90

CB_A4

Under 75 mortality rate from liver disease (Rate per 100,000
pop)

Annual

2013

25.60

CB_A5

Under 75 mortality rate from cancer (Rate per 100,000 pop)

Annual

2013

156.7

Monthly

YTD - Jan 15

1,689.92

1,821.76

Monthly

YTD - Jan 15

767.16

796.77

Unplanned hospitalisation for asthma, diabetes and epilepsy in
under 19s (Rate per 100,000 pop)

Monthly

YTD - Jan 15

266.31

278.39

Estimated diagnosis rate for people with dementia

Monthly

Mar-14

56.5%

58.25%

Mental Health Measure - % of Patients on Care Programme
Approach (Target 95%)

Monthly

Feb-15

95.0%

98.08%

Ref.

Performance Indicators

Target/
Baseline

Current
Position

CCG Outcomes Framework Measures
Local Measures
LPI 1
(Quality Prevalence of Mothers Smoking at time of Delivery
Premium)
Emergency admissions for acute conditions that should not
CB_A6_03
usually require hospital admission(Cumulative)
(Quality
Premium)
Emergency admissions for children with Lower Respiratory
CB_A6_04
Tract Infections (LRTI)(Cumulative)
(Quality
Premium)

15.79%

Preventing people from dying prematurely
CB_A1 I
(Quality
Premium)
CB_A1 ii
(Quality
Premium)

Enhancing quality of life for people with long term conditions
CB_A6
Emergency Admissions Composite Indicator (Rate per 100,000
(Quality
pop)
Premium)
Unplanned hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care
CB_A6_01
sensitive conditions (Rate per 100,000 pop)
CB_A6_02
CB_A9
CB_B19

Helping people to recover from episodes of ill health or following injury
CB_A10

Emergency readmissions within 30 days of discharge from
hospital

Monthly

YTD - Jan 15

CB_A11 i

Total health gain assessed by patients: i Hip replacement (Av reported health gain)

Annual

2012/13

0.438

0.422

CB_A11 ii

Total health gain assessed by patients: ii Knee replacement (Av reported health gain)

Annual

2012/13

0.318

0.298

CB_A11 iii

Total health gain assessed by patients: iii Groin hernia (Av reported health gain)

Annual

2012/13

0.085

0.062

CB_A11 iv

Total health gain assessed by patients iv Varicose veins (Av reported health gain)

Annual

2012/13

0.093

0.099

SQU06_01

Percentage of patients who had a stroke & spend at least 90% of
their time on a stroke unit

Monthly

Feb-15

80.0%

77.8%

SQU06_02

Percentage of patients with a high risk of Stroke who experience
a TIA are assessed and treated within 24 hours

Monthly

Feb-15

60.0%

77.78%
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Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care
CB_A12 i

Patient experience of primary care - % of patients unsatisfied
with GP Services

Bi annual

Jan-Mar 14
and Jul-Sept 14

No Target

4.04%

CB_A12 ii

Patient experience of primary care - % of patients unsatisfied
with GP Out of Hours services

Bi annual

Jan-Mar 14
and Jul-Sept 14

No Target

11.83%

CB_A12 iii

Patient experience of primary care - % of patients unsatisfied
with GP Services & Out of Hours Combined

Bi annual

Jan-Mar 14
and Jul-Sept 14

5.00%

4.83%

CB_B17 i

Number of Mixed Sex Accommodation breaches

Monthly

Feb-15

0

2.0

CB_17 ii

Mixed Sex Accommodation breaches per 1,000 FCEs

Monthly

Feb-15

0

0.1

Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm
CB_A15
(Quality Incidence of healthcare associated infection (HCAI) MRSA
Premium)
CB_A16
Incidence of healthcare associated infection (HCAI) C.difficile
(Quality

Monthly

YTD Feb-15

0

10

Monthly

YTD Jan-15

145.0

148

NHS Constitution - Access and Waiting
CB_B1

Admitted patients to start treatment within a maximum of 18
weeks from referral

Monthly

Jan-15

90.0%

91.86%

CB_B2

Non-admitted patients to start treatment within a maximum of
18 weeks from referral

Monthly

Jan-15

95.0%

97.51%

Monthly

Jan-15

92.0%

94.3%

Patients on incomplete non-emergency pathways (yet to start
CB_B3
(Quality treatment) should have been waiting no more than 18 weeks
Premium) from referral
CB_S6 i

Number of 52 week Referral to Treatment Pathways - Admitted
Patients

Monthly

Jan-15

0

0

CB_S6 ia

Number of 52 week Referral to Treatment Pathways - Admitted
Patients (adjusted)

Monthly

Jan-15

0

0

CB_S6 ii

Number of 52 week Referral to Treatment Pathways - Non
Admitted Patients

Monthly

Jan-15

0

0

CB_S6 iii

Number of 52 week Referral to Treatment Pathways Incomplete Pathways

Monthly

Jan-15

0

0

CB_B4

Percentage of Patients waiting for more than 6 weeks for a
diagnostic test

Monthly

Feb-15

1.00%

1.29%

CB_B5

Patients should be admitted, transferred or discharged within 4
hours of their arrival at an A&E department

Monthly

YTD Feb - 15

95.00%

93.78%

Monthly

YTD Jan -14

93.00%

94.81%

NHS Constitution - Cancer
Maximum two-week wait for first outpatient appointment for
CB_B6
(Quality patients referred urgently with suspected cancer by a GP - %
Premium) achievement
CB_B7

Maximum two-week wait for first outpatient appointment for
patients referred urgently with breast symptoms (where cancer
was not initially suspected) - % achievement

Monthly

YTD Jan -14

93.00%

95.56%

CB_B8

Maximum one month (31-day) wait from diagnosis to first
definitive treatment for all cancers - % achievement

Monthly

YTD Jan -14

96.00%

97.51%

CB_B9

Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where that
treatment is surgery - % achievement

Monthly

YTD Jan -14

94.00%

98.22%

CB_B10

Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where that
treatment is an anti-cancer drug regimen - % achievement

Monthly

YTD Jan -14

98.00%

99.64%

CB_B11

Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where the
treatment is a course of radiotherapy - % achievement

Monthly

YTD Jan -14

94.00%

95.97%

CB_B12

Maximum two month (62-day) wait from urgent GP referral to
first definitive treatment for cancer - % achievement

Monthly

YTD Jan -14

85.00%

87.82%

CB_B13

Maximum 62-day wait from referral from an NHS screening
service to first definitive treatment for all cancers - %
achievement

Monthly

YTD Jan -14

90.00%

95.19%

CB_B14

Maximum 62-day wait for first definitive treatment following a
consultant’s decision to upgrade the priority of the patient (all
cancers) - % achievement

Monthly

YTD Jan -14

No threshold
set - local
target 85%

92.06%
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NHS Constitution - Ambulance Response Times
CB_B15 I
Ambulance clinical quality - Category A (Red 1) 8 minute
(Quality
response time. (NWAS)
Premium)
Ambulance clinical quality - Category A (Red 2) 8 minute
CB_B15 ii
response time. (NWAS)

Monthly

Feb-15

75.00%

69.21%

Monthly

Feb-15

75.00%

69.79%

CB_B16

Ambulance clinical quality - Category A 19 minute
transportation time. (NWAS)

Monthly

Feb-15

95.00%

93.32%

CB_B15 i

Ambulance clinical quality - Category A (Red 1) 8 minute
response time. (CCG)

Monthly

Feb-15

75.00%

80.04%

CB_B15 ii

Ambulance clinical quality - Category A (Red 2) 8 minute
response time. (CCG)

Monthly

Feb-15

75.00%

79.31%

Ambulance clinical quality - Category A 19 minute
transportation time. (CCG)

Monthly

Feb-15

95.00%

95.96%

CB_B16

Ref. No. highlighted in purple indicate Quality Premium indicator

Achieving Target

Improved Performance

Below Target

Reduced Performance

Significantly Below Target

No Change
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CASE STUDY: Talk Liverpool new mental health service.
This year the CCG awarded Mersey Care NHS Trust a £14.4m contract to
provide Widening Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) for Liverpool. The
service will be known as ‘Talk Liverpool.’
IAPT is part of a wider government programme to improve access to mental
health services for people suffering with common mental health problems such
as depression, anxiety, panic attacks or stress. The IAPT programme is
intended to make it easier for people to access the support, treatment and
advice they need.
IAPT was originally designed to help frontline services treat depression and
anxiety disorders and is based on the principle that psychological approaches
and therapies can enable patients to overcome their difficulties, increase their
sense of wellbeing and provide ways to tackle problems in the future.
The ‘Talk Liverpool’ programme will provide better access to information and
help people with mental health issues to get access to the help they need
more readily.
When awarding the contract, CCG Chair, Dr Nadim Fazlani, said: “Liverpool
has amongst the highest levels of mental health need in the country, with
many people experiencing mental health issues such as anxiety and
depression during their lives.
“This new service is designed to support people at these times, with a strong
focus on accessible, effective support helping people on their journey to
recovery.
“This is all part of our vision for Healthy Liverpool, to provide seamless mental
health services focused on prevention and recovery, with more services
delivered closer to home.”
2015 also saw the opening by Mersey Care of the new Clock View Hospital, a
significant investment by Mersey Care NHS Trust and the CCG designed to
improve the experience of patients. Clock View provides 80 individual
bedrooms, all with en-suite bathrooms, across five wards. The therapeutic
environment and patient-centred care aims to improve recovery, wellbeing and
reduce lengths of stay.
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2.8 Development and performance of the clinical commissioning group for the
period under review and in the future
The CCG has had overall a successful second year of operation, building upon the
foundations and achievements of 2013/14. Importantly the clinical leadership of the
organisation has continued to develop, with partial ‘mid-term’ elections bringing a new
Governing Body Member Dr Rosie Kaur into the Governing Body and seeing the reelection for a second full term of Dr Fiona Lemmens and Dr Maurice Smith. Following the
retirement of Ray Guy at the end of 2014, Tina Atkins joined the Governing Body as the
co-opted Practice Manager in January 2015.
The Governing Body members have continued their development and recognition as the
key influencers and leaders of the local health economy. The continued emphasis has
been upon driving up the quality and safety of services provided to local people, reducing
unacceptable variation in delivery and outcomes, underpinned by strong and effective
systems, financial management and probity. Strong and effective governance
arrangements are important and during the year the CCG Constitution has been reviewed
and updated with the agreement of NHS England and a strengthened Risk Management
Strategy and Conflicts of Interest Policy introduced.
Following on from the major structural reforms to commissioning implemented from April
2013 our second year of operation has seen organisational roles and relationships
become consolidated and to a certain extent mature. We have continued to build our
relationships with the NHS England Merseyside Area Team (from 1st January 2015 now
the Cheshire & Merseyside Sub-regional Team), as well as relationships with the CQC,
Monitor and the NHS TDA, all of whom have an impact upon the local health economy and
have an important role to play in the delivery of the Healthy Liverpool Programme.
The role of the CQC in particular has continued to bring a significant and enhanced level of
attention and scrutiny to local providers and the CCG has fully embraced and participated
in the subsequent impact of their revised inspection regime and the need for service
improvement and action. The latter can be illustrated by the active role played by the Chief
Nurse and other Governing Body members in the quality surveillance process and
subsequent remedial action plans that have followed the inspection of local providers,
including now General Practice (CQC Inspection Reports of Liverpool providers can be
found at http://www.cqc.org.uk). The regular monthly performance reports to the
Governing Body detail the CQC inspection of local providers and any subsequent action or
remedial plans that may be required.
Overall NHS Liverpool CCG has met all of its required statutory duties, supported
transition and continued the development of the strategic transformational Healthy
Liverpool Programme.
The CCG financial strategy creates an environment through the Healthy Liverpool
Programme to facilitate the delivery of a clinically and financially sustainable health
economy for Liverpool going forward.
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As economic pressures on the NHS become even tougher the solid financial foundations
laid down since inception of the CCG will be increasingly affected by pressures facing local
providers from both the national and local context.
Strong financial management is critical to the success of the Healthy Liverpool programme
and Better Care Fund requirements. Continued financial sustainability will enable the
delivery of major change programmes which will be key to our success in driving change
and fundamental to our forward plans and our future success.
The progress made in the year can be categorised into three key areas:
 Transactional
 Transitional
 Transformational
Transactional - During the year the CCG has maintained a strong control environment
and has worked on building on the success of the first year of operation. Continued focus
on sustaining robust financial reporting, financial processes and policies has enabled us to
deliver our statutory financial duties.
Liverpool CCG has achieved all of its statutory financial duties:
Summary Financial Performance 2014-15 - Duties

Expenditure
Ensure its expenditure does not exceed the aggregate of its
allocations for the financial year

Use of Resources
Ensure its use of resources (both its capital resource use and
revenue resource use) does not exceed the amount specified by
NHS England for the financial year
Additional Controls on Resource Usage
Take account of any directions issued by the NHS England, in
respect of specified types of resource use in a financial year, to
ensure the CCG does not exceed an amount specified by NHS
England

Duty
Achieved





In addition, the CCG:
•

Delivered an above requirement surplus of 2.39%

•

Invested over £18m non recurrently

•

Worked with Liverpool City Council to establish arrangements for the Better Care
Fund and Personal Health Budget initiatives.
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Summary Financial Performance

The financial statements are detailed on pages 102 to 139.
An analysis of expenditure for the financial year is shown in the charts below:
LCCG – Summary Position 2014/15
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LCCG Spend by Area

LCCG Provider Spend
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Transitional
During 2014/15 the CCG has effectively dealt with the range of continuing legacy issues
inherited within the new commissioning landscape from predecessor organisations and
structures. Although diminishing in number a small number of complaints and a large
number of continuing health care restitution cases have continued to require attention and
action to resolve. The number and complexity of the latter CHC cases remain a matter of
concern for the CCG and we have invested resource with the NWCSU who act on our
behalf to seek to expedite matters. We will continue to work closely with the NWCSU
however, the size of the inherited problem means that it is likely to be 2017 before all are
resolved.
Importantly we have continued to develop our partnership working with other
commissioners including neighbouring CCGs (South Sefton and Knowsley CCGs in
particular), Liverpool City Council and NHS England through formal and informal methods
including pooled budgets and collaborative commissioning groups.
The CCG and Liverpool City Council have established a pooled funding agreement as part
of the national Better Care Fund (BCF) Programme with our plans fully approved by NHS
England. Through the BCF we have set ambitious plans to ensure the delivery of
integrated health and social care focus on the needs of people, rather than allow
organisational boundaries to affect care. We will concentrate within the BCF on key areas
of Self Care and Prevention; Mental Health; Healthy Ageing and Assistive Technologies.
Appropriate joint governance and delivery systems have been established to oversee the
delivery of the BCF programme under the leadership of the Health and Wellbeing Board.
The CCG was accredited as a Controlled Environment for Finance (CEfF) during the year.
The CEfF is a new concept which allows CCGs and CSUs to see Patient Confidential Data
under the terms of legislation. This approval provides the legal basis for Health Service
Providers to disclose patient confidential information to the Liverpool CCG for the
purposes
of
invoice
validation.
Further
information
is
available
at http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/tsd/ig/in-val/.
During the year the finance team have continued to develop, building on the progress
made in the first year of operation of the CCG. The team are committed to ensuring that
services provided are of the highest standard and in providing assurance to the CCG and
Governing Body. This has been externally recognised. The team were awarded the
Finance Skills Development North West - Towards Excellence - Level 1 Accreditation in
October 2013. Work to further develop processes, systems and working practices has
taken place during 2014/15 and the team were awarded Level 2 Accreditation in
December 2014. Work has now commenced to meet the Level 3 requirements and this
will continue in 2015/16.
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Transformational
Our Strategic Financial Objectives going forward can be summarised as follows:
•

To support delivery of the outcome focused Healthy Liverpool Programme.

•

To ensure that the Liverpool Health Economy is clinically and financially sustainable
in 5 years’ time.

•

To create an environment and platform for transformation.

•

To enable a minimum of 10% of the CCG’s allocation to be invested in new ways of
working.

•

To support credible and deliverable planning.

•

To deliver the CCG’s financial duties.

We will continue to embed the transactional work streams, provide assurance and focus
on the transformational programme going forward. More than ever, the whole organisation
needs to ensure that CCG resources are used effectively to ensure delivery of the very
best outcomes and value and meet the objectives of the Healthy Liverpool Programme.
Mature financial management is essential to achieving the strategic financial objectives.
The Finance team are key enablers to support the change process, business
transformation and the development of new delivery models. Consequently, there is a
strong focus on team development and training to ensure the team are “fit for purpose”.
Active involvement at all levels in the local health economy and participation in national
initiatives, working groups and forums provides opportunities to learn from others, to
influence nationally and use these experiences to support the achievement of the CCG
financial strategy. Examples include:
•

Participation in the Healthcare Financial Management Association (HFMA),
Finance Skills Development Network (FSD), and the NHS North West Student
Forum.

•

The team are actively involved in the Future Focussed Finance (FFF) initiative.
Two members of the team are part of the best possible value work stream and a
member of the team became one of the early FFF value makers. A number of the
team have taken part in training to become FFF – Finance Educators.
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Celebration of Success
During the year in addition to celebrating exam successes, the Finance team have
received external recognition as follows:
•

The HFMA North West Branch - Sue Rosson Prize for Outstanding Contribution
was awarded to a member of the team in October 2014.

•

External recognition of robust systems and processes. The team were awarded the
North West Towards Excellence Level 2 Accreditation in December 2014.

•

The PQ Award for Study Resource of the Year was won by the NHS North West
Student Forum. Two team members are part of the Forum committee.

•

In January 2015 the Finance team won the HFMA North West Innovation Award for
the “Show Me the Money” training programme which aims to increase knowledge
and understanding of finance across the organisation in a relaxed and enjoyable
environment. This initiative has since been shared with other local organisations
and a secondary school. The team have also been invited to present at FFF
Finance educator events nationally. We will continue to expand and develop the
“Show Me the Money” training programme moving forward.

The further development of the critically important Healthy Liverpool Programme has
significantly enhanced and strengthened the involvement of providers across the city, the
City Council and other commissioners (in particular NHS England) in working with the
CCG to shape and direct the future direction for health services across Liverpool.
The future health, economic and delivery climate in the city like many others is faced with
a variety of challenges and uncertainty looking forward into the years ahead. Liverpool
CCG is however confident that is has put into place the structures, clinical leadership,
systems, process, alliances and forward planning that means it is best placed to rise to
these future challenges in both a proactive and reactive manner as they occur.
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2.9
The resources, principle risks and uncertainties and relationships that may
affect the clinical commissioning group’s long-term value
The CCG’s financial position is overall positive and provides a strong and solid foundation
on which to go forward. However the organisation is not complacent and is sighted and
mindful of the challenges ahead, both known and potentially unknown. Similarly the
resources of the organisation go beyond the financial and extend in particular to the
clinical leadership of the CCG, the Governing Body, the involvement and support of
member Practices, the organisation's senior management team and staff. Taken as a
whole they represent the ‘assets’ of the organisation and the means by which the strategic
and operational objectives will be achieved. Those assets are supported, developed and in
part protected by a commitment to clinical engagement and involvement, good
communications, organisational and personal development and recognition that the
organisation is a sum of all of its parts.
Good governance and risk management is an area that the CCG pays particular attention
to and the Governing Body regularly receives, discusses and assesses the Corporate Risk
Register/Assurance Framework as part of their approach and commitment to practising
strong and effective governance and discharging their statutory duties.
The significant risks faced by the CCG can be grouped under a series of headings and are
managed through the overall risk management strategy and processes that are embedded
in the organisation and which are subject to both regular internal and external audit
scrutiny and review.
Strategic Risks –
•

Delivery of commissioned services across the city by providers that improve and
maximise health outcomes, deliver first class quality care and which are
operationally and financially sustainable: Mitigation – the CCG has embarked upon
the next phase of the Healthy Liverpool Programme with the intention of
transforming the shape and delivery of services going forward over the next five to
ten years and the health outcomes for local people.

•

Commissioning of primary care medical services under delegated authority from
NHS England: Mitigation – the CCG has agreed to the scheme of delegation with
NHS England and will during April 2015 complete negotiations with NHSE to secure
the necessary assurances and support to transition responsibility and the effective
commissioning of primary care medical services through 2015/16.

Commercial Risks –
•

Delivery of effective, efficient and value for money commissioning support services:
Mitigation – the CCG has reviewed the services provided by the North West
Commissioning Support Unit (NWCSU) and implemented revised service
specifications and contract values, which are monitored via monthly performance
meetings. Financial services (treasury functions) and procurement have been
directly provided internally throughout 2014/15.

•

Failure of the NWCSU to gain approval to join the lead provider framework and
therefore unable to deliver services beyond 2015/16: Mitigation – the CCG is
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assessing, with other Merseyside CCGs the options of how CSU services can be
delivered going forward, exploring ‘make, share or buy’ options for implementation
in 2015/16. A final decision on the way forward will be made by the Governing Body
in early 2015/16.
•

Delivery by NHS England of effective and comprehensive Primary Care Support
Services (PCS) to contractors to support service delivery and patient care:
Mitigation – the CCG has carried out a review of the services currently provided by
Central Operations Merseyside and the likely delivery of services under the
reconfigured national contract in 2015/16, following an external procurement
exercise. Gaps in service scope and delivery have been identified that pose a risk
to the support provided to Contractors, these have been formally raised with NHS
England and negotiations will continue into 2015/16 to seek a resolution.

Operational Risks –
•

Delivery by providers of services in compliance with NHS Constitution Standards:
Mitigation – effective quality surveillance processes are in place, with Quality
Summits held with providers as required and subsequent recovery plans as
appropriate put into place and which are then closely monitored through the quality
and contract management processes.

Financial Risks –
•

Financial Challenge to Providers - The ability of Providers to continue to maintain
service provision within reduced contract values: Mitigation – the Chief Finance
Officer and his team will maintain and further develop close working relationships
with key stakeholders across the health economy. The Healthy Liverpool
Programme blue print and five year strategic plan will be subject to ongoing
financial review.

•

Delegated Commissioning – Delegated commissioning of Primary Care Medical
Services has been approved. There are significant financial risks around the
adequacy of the funding allocation, and the impact of Primary Care Services
changes: Mitigation – Development of a transition plan in conjunction with NHS
England/ current Primary Care Services provider. On going negotiation to better
understand forecast costs and availability of funding to be transferred to the CCG to
meet this agenda.

•

Commissioning Support Unit – Inherent uncertainty around the future of services
currently provided by North West Commissioning Support Unit: Mitigation –
Review of current service provision and future options. Working closely with other
Mersey CCGs to discuss and develop robust solutions across the local health
economy.

•

Local Authority Budget Reductions – constrained funding in local government may
adversely impact on the demand for health services: Mitigation – On going impact
assessments of proposed changes to service provision. Investment of £10m within
the Better Care Fund to support social care provision.
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The performance of the CCG is informed and influenced by a variety of relationships and
key partnerships. Chief amongst these are the following:
•

Member Practices: the CCG has in place a locality structure with three localities
(North, Central and Matchworks) that provide via their locality Chairs and Lead GPs
direct input into the Governing Body, supported by regular locality meetings. The
localities themselves are underpinned by eighteen neighbourhoods that provide a
direct link into member Practices. At least twice a year all member Practices are
brought together for city wide development and engagement events.

•

Other Commissioners: the CCG is an active participant in and supporter of the
Merseyside CCG Network that provides a valuable forum for Chief Officers, Chairs
and Chief Finance Officers to meet monthly and discuss matters of common
interest and concern, recommending actions or interventions to Governing Bodies.
Specific collaborative commissioning arrangements are in place for key Trusts and
services which deliver services across multiple CCG boundaries and populations.
Examples of the latter include the Collaborative Commissioning Forum around
Aintree University Hospital and the wider North West arrangements effecting the
commissioning of ambulance services and NHS 111. The CCG has continued to
also build a strong relationship with the NHS England Cheshire & Merseyside Sub
Regional Team, including specialist services commissioners.

•

Local residents and patients: city wide engagement events provide the
opportunity for strategic input and engagement. Individual clinical programmes
benefit from patient and public involvement in the service design and procurement
of new or changed services. Liverpool Healthwatch is also invited to attend and
participate in formal meetings of the Governing Body. Individual member Practice
Patient Participation Groups are also encouraged and supported, with the majority
of Practices in the city having PPGs established and operational, which link into
Patient Forums at a locality level.

•

Local Authority: effective relations with Liverpool City Council are critical to the
delivery of health services and health improvements across the city. At the strategic
level the Governing Body welcomes the Deputy Mayor Councillor Gladden and the
Director of Public Health to meetings of the Governing Body, with the Director of
Adult Social Care also in attendance. The CCG also continues to fully support the
work of the Mayoral Health Commission and participate in the Health & Wellbeing
Board and associated Joint Commissioning Group. The latter brings together CCG
and local authority colleagues to deliver the work of the Health & Wellbeing Board.
The importance of this relationship is evidenced by the commitment of the CCG to
the ‘Better Care Fund’ and continuance and expansion of our formal Partnership
Agreement (Section 75) between the Council and CCG and the further development
of our joint approach to personalised health budgets.
During the year the CCG has regularly attended meetings of the City Council Adult
Social Care and Health Select Committee and provided the Committee with updates
and progress reports on key actions and activities. More detailed presentations and
discussion have taken place on specific matters including; the proposed changes to
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services provided by the Clatterbridge Cancer Centre; specialised services planning
and engagement; Healthy Liverpool Programme; Liverpool Community Health
integrated clinical and quality strategy; review of services provided at the
Merseyview GP Access Centre; and primary care service delivery and quality.
•

Service Providers: the development of relationships with providers across the city
is led by the clinical programme and locality leads from the Governing Body who
are ‘attached’ to specific Trusts. This emphasis upon direct engagement by clinical
leaders has set the CCG apart from previous approaches and led to the
development of a more direct, open and transparent relationship. Regular quality
and contracting meetings with providers are supplemented by more strategic
meetings between members of the Governing Body and individual Trust Executive
teams.
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2.10

Sustainability report

NHS Liverpool CCG has made significant strides in improving its sustainability planning
this year. In May 2014 the Governing Body approved the organisation’s first Social Value
and Sustainability Strategy and Action Plan. Building Social Value for us means increasing
the social, economic and environmental wellbeing of the people we serve. As these areas
form the fundamental principles of sustainable development as well, our strategy brings
together our obligations to set out a Sustainable Development Management Plan and not
just comply with The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 but to place the approach at
the centre of our thinking and policy, commissioning and practice. This is to ensure the
way the CCG invests and acts achieves maximum benefit to the population we serve now
and in the future.
As a commissioning organisation, most of our carbon footprint derives from commissioning
health and care services (89%) and from the procurement of other services (11%). Our
resources used through transport, travel and electricity are negligible compared to the
resources used through the services we commission, predominantly through our main
providers. For the CCG it is a priority therefore to work in partnership with our main
providers to improve their performance and to minimise the harm and maximise the
positive gain that can be made to health from the way our providers operate.
The following represent key achievements since the introduction of the strategy: NHS Liverpool CCG is committed to becoming a Living Wage employer. All directly
employed staff are paid the Living Wage as a matter of policy. In addition, we have
begun conversations with our main providers about how they might work towards
the adoption of the Living Wage and will audit the situation further through our
2015/16 contracts.
 Social Value and Sustainable Development Management Plans and reporting has
been included in contracts with the main NHS Provider Trusts for 2015/16.
 Key procurement processes have included Social Value requirements such as the
Living Wage, carbon reduction and workplace wellbeing as the start of embedding
social value into the culture and practice of our providers.
 An extensive community programme has been launched which includes health and
wellbeing projects and partnerships for engagement.
 Engagement has taken place regarding the development of non-medical
commissioning approaches and models of care which is being developed as part of
the Healthy Liverpool programme.
 Our first Good Corporate Citizenship Assessment was completed during the year,
with the organisation scoring well for ‘Corporate Approach’ and ‘Workforce issues’
which reflects the early stage of our implementation and the nature of our business
as commissioners leading through policy. Our overall score was 24% which reflects
the first year of having developed our strategy. We were unable to compare this to
other CCG’s scores as this information is not presently available.
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For the first time we have gathered information for our baseline around the use of
resources, including data supplied by NHS Property Services The figures described here
represent the resource use associated with the CCG headquarters base at Arthouse
Square in Liverpool city centre only.
 989m3 water were used at a cost of £2,528
 201,065 kWh of electricity were used at a cost of £50,316 generating approximately
93 tonnes of CO2e
 31,948 business miles travelled by car (please note this figure includes some claims relating
to 2013/14 and will not include all 2014/15 claims)

 147,072 km of rail / air travel was undertaken for work purposes
 63% of staff travelled to work by car, 31% used public transport, with the balance
using a combination of walking and cycling.
 51.86 tonnes of waste were sent to landfill
 More than 29,000 tCo2e were generated from the pharmaceuticals used by
commissioned services (including General Practice) *
 More than 250,000 tCo2e are produced by the providers of NHS care to local
residents through our commissioning activity *
*Source: Derived from an analysis of financial spend through the NHS Sustainability Unit.

In line with findings in the national strategy, the carbon impacts of the CCG relate largely
to the commissioning of NHS care and treatment and associated pharmaceuticals. This is
why the focus of our strategy is on the improvements we can make through the
commissioning process and procurement processes. None the less, as an employer of
more than 100 staff, the impact of our actions is still important. During 2015 the CCG is
intending to relocate its office base in the city and efforts will be made to maximise the
energy efficiency and sustainability of operations in the new premises.
The Climate Change Act 2008 set legally binding targets for the UK to reduce carbon
emissions by 80% by 2050. The NHS is a significant emitter of carbon emissions and
through the National Sustainability strategy is committed to reducing CO2e by 34% by
2020. NHS Liverpool CCG, through its Social Value Sustainability Strategy implementation
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is working to reduce its carbon emissions and those of its providers to support this national
goal.
As part of the national requirements to plan for ‘adaptation’ required to meet the likely
climate change challenges ahead the CCG has through the Emergency Preparedness and
Resilience agenda ensured that plans are cognisant of these risks and make provision for
mitigating action as required.
The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 requires public bodies to consider how they
can increase social value and NHS Liverpool CCG is going above and beyond the
requirements of the legislation through its Social Value Strategy implementation (see
Section 2.4).

2.11

Equality Report

The CCG is required to pay due regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) as
defined by The Equality Act 2010. Failure to comply has legal, financial and reputational
risks.
The key functions that enable Liverpool CCG to make commissioning decisions and
monitor the performance of their providers have to demonstrate (in an auditable manner)
that the needs of protected groups have been considered in:
•

Commissioning processes;

•

Consultation and engagement;

•

Procurement functions including Pre-Qualification Questionnaire (PQQ) and
Invitation to Tender;

•

Contract specifications;

•

Quality contract and performance schedules, and

•

Governance systems.

Equality and Diversity
Promoting equality is at the heart of NHS Liverpool CCG' core values; ensuring that
‘everyone counts’ and that we commission services fairly and inclusively and with no
community or group left behind in the improvements that will be made to health outcomes
across the city. This is particularly important in light of the challenges the NHS faces as
outlined in the Five year view.
We will continue to work internally, and in partnership with our providers, community and
voluntary sector and other key organisations to ensure that we advance equality of
opportunity and meet our exacting requirements of The Equality Act 2010.
The Equality Act 2010 requires us to meet our Public Sector Equality Duty across a range
of protected groups including age, gender, race, sex, sexual orientation, religion/belief,
gender identity, marital/civil partnership status and pregnancy/maternity status.
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Equality objectives
We are required to prepare and publish Equality Objectives to meet our Specific Duty as
outlined in The Equality Act 2010. Our plan is specific and measurable and we will update
the plan on an annual basis.
The CCG understands that at sometimes in our lives we may face barriers in relation to
accessing health services or experience different outcomes. The CCG wants to reduce
the health differences across our diverse communities and our Equality Objectives will
support us to do this.

Our Equality Objectives are:
1.

To make fair and transparent commissioning decisions;

2.

To improve access and outcomes for patients and communities who experience
disadvantage;

3.

To improve the equality performance of our providers through robust
procurement and monitoring practice

4.

To empower and engage our workforce

Equality delivery Systems 2
To help us set our Equality Objectives LCCG is currently undertaking Equality Delivery
Systems (EDS) 2, in partnership with Liverpool Healthwatch.
Liverpool CCG has been assessed as “Developing”* reflecting the need to fully embed
equality and diversity. The CCG is currently working toward to improving its performance
around the following indicators, over the next 2 years:•

Services are commissioned, procured, designed and delivered to meet the
health needs of local communities

•

People, carers and communities can readily access hospital, community health
or primary care services and should not be denied access on unreasonable
grounds

•

Papers that come before the Governing Body and other major Committees
identify equality-related impacts including risks, and say how these risks are to
be managed

The outcomes and recommendations of the assessment will be presented to the CCG
Governing Body in summer 2015.
* Developing – can demonstrate 3 or more protected groups are considered in commissioning processes
and there is evidence to demonstrate that these group fare equally compared with people overall.
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Provider performance
All key providers including the Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University Hospital,
Liverpool Community Health Services, Mersey Care, Liverpool Women’s Hospital,
Liverpool Heart and Chest, Aintree University Hospital Trust and Alder Hey have
undertaken the EDS assessment and have set equality objectives in accordance with their
requirements. LCCG is working closely with its providers to improve equality performance
and access and outcomes for protected groups through robust contract monitoring, via the
quality contract schedule.
Human resources
The CCG is also working towards implementation of the New National Workforce Race
Standard. The Standard aims, to address the lack of Black and Minority Ethnic (BME)
representation at senior levels in the NHS, and to galvanise cultural and organisational
change. The Standard, underpinned by commissioning and regulatory action, will also help
to address the treatment of BME staff including adverse outcomes throughout recruitment
and promotion, access to non-mandatory training, over-representation in disciplinary
procedures, bullying and harassment. The new standard supports the vision set out in the
Five year Forward View and the need to ensure NHS workforces experience inclusive and
non-discriminatory opportunities.

Strategic Report
TO BE SIGNED
Katherine Sheerin
Accountable Officer
28th May 2015
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CASE STUDY:Mi Smarthouse
More independent (Mi) is the Liverpool-based partnership led by the CCG
that’s empowering thousands of people to live a safe, healthy life and
maintain their independence, by making technology more available and
more affordable to the people who really need it.
This year the Mi Smarthouse showcase visited Aintree University Hospital to
show off the latest healthcare technology products.
The event showcased a range of Mi technology products and services,
some of which are available on prescription to patients.
Patients, visitors and hospital staff including teams from the hospital’s
Occupational Therapy, Physiotherapy and Emergency Departments came
along to find out more about the technology that is helping people to live a
more independent, safe and healthy life.
Dr Maurice Smith, local GP and Chair of the Mi Board, said: “It’s fantastic to
be able to bring Mi technology and services direct to health professionals,
patients and carers within the hospital. With the Smarthouse, people can
sample the technology for themselves and see how it can help and support
them to live more independently.”
Some of the products demonstrated in the Smarthouse include a one cup
kettle that can help people with conditions such as arthritis to make a hot
drink safely and easily, as well as a talking microwave, and technology for
people with long-term conditions, including a device that connects to a TV
and allows them to monitor their health at home with the support of a remote
nurse.
Visitors were also invited to watch demonstrations of Health Apps that
people can use to monitor their health, including Simple Health Technology,
also known as Flo, which is a free to use text-based service that enables
people to record their blood pressure readings from the comfort of their own
home.
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3

Members Report

3.1

Member Practices

The following table includes details of the 93 Practices that comprise the membership of
Liverpool CCG:
Abercromby Holistic Health Centre

Greenbank Drive Surgery

SSP Kensington Park Practice

Abingdon Family Health Centre

Hornspit MC

SSP Marybone HC

Aintree Park Group Practice

Jubilee Medical Centre

SSP Netherley

Albion Surgery

Kirkdale Medical Centre

SSP Park View

Anfield Group Practice

Knotty Ash MC

SSP Princes Park HC

Belle Vale Health Centre

Lance Lane

SSP Robson St

Benim MC

Langbank Medical Centre

SSP Stanley Medical Centre

Bigham Road MC

Long Lane Medical Centre

SSP West Speke Health Centre

Bousfield Health Centre

Margaret Thompson MC

St James MC

Bousfield Surgery

Mere Lane Practice

Stanley Medical Centre (Dr Harvey)

Brownlow Group Practice

Moss Way Surgery

Stoneycroft MC

Derby Lane Surgery

Oak Vale Medical Centre

Stopgate Lane Medical Centre

Dharmana's Family & General
Practice

Old Swan HC

Storrsdale Medical Centre

Dingle Park Practice

Penny Lane Surgery

The Ash Surgery

Dovecot Family HC

Picton Green

The Elms MC

Riverside Centre for Health (Dr
Hegde)

Queens Drive Surgery (Dr Gerg)

The Grey Road Surgery

Dunstan Village Group Practice

Poulter Road Medical Centre

The Surgery (Gateacre Brow)

Earle Road Medical Centre

Priory Medical Centre

The Surgery (Greenbank Drive)

Eaton Road Surgery

Riverside Centre for Health

The Surgery (Mather Avenue)

Edge Hill MC

Rock Court Surgery

The Surgery (Queens Drive)

Ellergreen Medical Centre

Rocky Lane Medical Centre

The Valley Medical Centre

Fairfield Medical Centre

Rutherford Medical Centre

The Village Medical Centre

Fir Tree Medical Centre

Sandringham MC

The Westmoreland GP Centre

Fulwood Green MC

Sefton Park MC

Townsend Medical Centre

Gateacre Medical Centre

Speke Health Centre

Vauxhall Health Centre

Gillmoss Medical Centre
Grassendale Medical Practice

Speke Neighbourhood Health
Centre (Dr Choudhary)
Speke Neighbourhood Health
Centre (Dr Thakur)

Village Surgery (Long Lane)
Walton Medical Centre

Great Homer Street Medical Centre

SSP Breeze Hill

Walton Village Medical Centre

Green Lane MC

SSP Childwall Valley

Westminister Medical Centre

Hunts Cross Health Centre

SSP Everton

Woolton House MC

Islington House Medical Centre

SSP Garston Family H C

Yew Tree Centre
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3.2

Chair and Accountable Officer

For the year 2014/15 the office of Chair of the CCG has been held by Dr Nadim Fazlani
and the Chief Officer (Accountable Officer) has been Katherine Sheerin.
3.3
Governing Body
Governing Body Members:
Dr Nadim Fazlani
Professor Maureen Williams
Dr Simon Bowers
Dave Antrobus
Dr Janet Bliss
Moira Cain
Dr Jim Cuthbert
Dr Ed Gaynor
Tom Jackson
Dr Rosie Kaur
Dr Fiona Lemmens
Jane Lunt
Dr Jude Mahadanaarachchi
Professor Donal O’Donoghue
Dr Shamin Rose
Katherine Sheerin
Dr Maurice Smith
Co-opted
Members
voting):
Sandra Davies
Cllr Roz Gladden
Dr Paula Finnerty
Dr Tristin Elkin
Dr David Webster
Dr Rob Barnett
Ray Guy
Tina Atkins

Chair
Lay Member Governance / Deputy Chair
GP / Clinical Vice Chair
Lay Member Patient Engagement
GP
Practice Nurse
GP (resigned 20th March 2015)
GP (up to 31st May 2014)
Chief Finance Officer
GP (new member from 1st June 2014)
GP
Head of Quality / Chief Nurse
GP (resigned 20th March 2015)
Secondary Care Doctor
GP
Chief Officer (Accountable Officer)
GP

(nonDirector of Public Health, Liverpool City Council
Liverpool City Council Representative
GP North Locality
GP Central Locality
GP Matchworks Locality
Liverpool LMC
Practice Manager (retired 31st December 2014)
Practice Manager (new member from 1st
January 2015)

3.4
Audit Committee Membership
Audit Committee Membership:
Professor Maureen Williams
Professor Donal O’Donoghue
Dr Simon Bowers
Dave Antrobus

Lay Member / Audit Committee Chair
Secondary Care Doctor
GP
Lay Member Patient Engagement

In attendance:
Internal Audit Representative

Mersey Internal Audit Agency
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Counter Fraud representative
External Audit Representative

Mersey Internal Audit Agency
Grant Thornton UK LLP

Details of the membership of other committees can be found on Page 64 and conflicts of
interest can be found in the Governing Body profiles from Page 55.
3.5

Additional matters of disclosure

None.
3.6

Pension Liabilities

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme.
The scheme is an unfunded, i.e. a defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers,
General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State,
in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable
NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the
cost to the clinical commissioning group is taken as equal to the contributions payable to
the scheme for the accounting period. Further information with regard to pension benefits
can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsba.nhs.uk/pensions.
In respect of early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension
liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional
costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself
to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
The accounting policy relating to pension costs in described at paragraph 1.8 of the Notes
to the Financial Statements and pension liabilities existing at 31st March 2015 are
disclosed within the Statement of Financial Position under other payables.
3.7

Sickness absence data

During 2014/15 employee sickness accounted for 919 FTE days, equivalent to a sickness
absence rate of 2%.
Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group is committed to maintaining the health, safety and
wellbeing of its employees and adopts policies and practices which establish a positive
attendance culture and promote staff welfare. The CCG recognises that staff will be absent
due to illness from time to time and will endeavour to provide all possible help and support
to assist recovery and a return to work. Absence is recorded accurately and is regularly
monitored. The CCG’s Managing Sickness Absence Policy ensures a consistent approach
when managing sickness absence and contains processes for managing both short term
and long term absences, including impairment related absence. Staff and managers have
access to an externally provided Occupational Health Service and Staff Counselling
Services.
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3.8

External Audit

The CCG is externally audited by Grant Thornton UK LLP, for 2014/15 the total external
audit fees were £125,400
•
•
•

Audit services - £114,000
Further assistance services - £0
Other services - £11,400

Following the appointment of Grant Thornton UK LLP it became known that other
elements of the organisation were involved in tax and accounting preparation of the
practices of several Governing Body members, including the Chair of the CCG. Once this
became known it was discussed in the Audit, Risk and Scrutiny committee and as a result,
Grant Thornton UK LLP submitted formal proposals to the Audit, Risk and Scrutiny
committee as to how this potential conflict might be appropriately managed by the
identification of a clear separation of duties within the firm and the introduction of a review
partner from a different office in the firm to have an oversight role of the conduct and
operation of the external audit of the CCG. These mitigating actions were formally
accepted by the Audit, Risk and Scrutiny committee as reasonable and proportionate
actions to manage the potential conflict identified.
During 2014/15 other services (£11,400) from Grant Thornton UK LLP have been provided
to the CCG. Similarly the above controls in place have been applied.

3.9

Disclosure of serious untoward incidents

The Governance Statement on Page 81 includes details of all disclosures required for
incidents involving data loss or confidentiality breaches.
3.10

Cost allocation & settings of charges for information

We certify that the Clinical Commissioning Group has complied with HM Treasury’s
guidance on cost allocation and the setting of charges for information.
3.11

Principles of remedy

The CCG complies fully with the ‘Principles for Remedy’ as published by the Parliamentary
and Health Services Ombudsman. Such remedies are part of the CCG complaints
handling procedures and would be applied as and when required in the handling of
complaints made to the organisation.
During the year the Parliamentary and Health Services Ombudsman made one finding
against the CCG with regards to the handling of an historical continuing healthcare
restitution case. The Ombudsman found that the complainant had suffered the injustice of
not having their claim for retrospective NHS continuing healthcare funding assessed in
accordance with the standards applicable. The CCG accepted these findings and made a
payment of £250 to the complainant for the inconvenience and distress caused by the
delay in dealing with their complaint.
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3.12

Employee consultation and engagement

The CCG places a high importance on the delivery of effective communications,
involvement and engagement with all of its employees. It discharges these duties through
a variety of means including:
•

A weekly Friday morning ‘floor meeting’ which provides a valuable opportunity for
the Chief Officer and senior managers to brief staff on important matters concerning
the business and operations of the organisation, including specific employee
matters to which all CCG staff are invited and encouraged to attend.

•

A weekly electronic bulletin available to all staff that provides a short and digestible
summary of key internal and external issues of relevance to the staff and CCG.

•

An internal online intranet resource that includes weekly summaries of key activities
and performance, alongside policy and procedures.

•

Participation in the NHS national staff survey.

•

A staff suggestions mailbox for staff to post ideas they have to make changes and
improvements to the workplace.

•

Focus groups for staff that have included the development of a refreshed
Organisational Development plan and plans to develop a new headquarters building
for the organisation.

•

A Healthy Workforce Group, represented by both senior management and staff, to
discuss and agree initiatives devised by the workforce, to improve employee health,
wellbeing and engagement.

•

Formal recognition of Trade Union ‘staff side’ representatives, who have a standing
invitation to attend the regular meetings of the HR Committee.

During the year the CCG voluntarily participated for the first time in the NHS national
independent staff survey, providing an opportunity for comparison against other CCGs and
NHS organisations. Previously we had conducted our own in house survey but this did not
provide any opportunity for comparative data. Staff embraced the opportunity to express
their views with a 93% response rate to the survey questionnaire. The results of the survey
were shared with staff and overall the organisation scored higher than average in a
number of key areas and in particular the questions concerning: would you recommend
the CCG as a place to work; and also questions that highlighted higher than average staff
engagement.
However, improvement can always be made and there were a small number of areas in
the survey where the CCG scores were ranked lower than average. These included
questions concerning the relevance of job training, career progression/promotion, team
working, health and wellbeing and incident reporting. The results of the survey were
shared with staff at a Friday ‘floor meeting’ and subsequently the themes emerging from
the survey have been discussed at subsequent meetings and the staff engaged in debate
as to how the organisation can improve the matters highlighted and take actions forward.
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During the year the CCG supported and invested in the development of a healthy staff
initiative to improve employee health and wellbeing in 2014/15.
Staff were encouraged to submit bids to run groups or activities which aimed to improve
the overall health of colleagues. Similar schemes nationally have seen a reduction in
stress levels, staff absence and an overall increase in productivity.
Getting physically active was a clear focus for staff and during the year, the CCG
subsidised race entries for Liverpool’s Santa Dash, the Liverpool Spring 10k and the
Liverpool Rock and Roll half-marathon. The initiatives are designed to be inclusive, and
staff who were new to running could take part in lunch-time running sessions, led by a
specially trained member of staff, using the NHS Choices “Couch to 5k” mobile app.
Whilst running has proved popular, other schemes have also been supported including:
supplying table tennis equipment for lunch-time tournaments; ukuleles for those wishing to
learn a musical instrument and the provision of ‘Citybike’ credits for staff to make use of
the public bicycle scheme across the city in both a personal and business capacity.
3.13

Disabled employees

The CCG is committed to an environment that promotes equality and embraces diversity in
its performance as an employer. It adheres to legal and performance requirements and
mainstreams its equality and diversity principles through its policies, procedures and
processes. To ensure that our policies do not have an adverse impact in response to the
requirements of The Equality Act 2010, policies are screened for relevance during policy
development processes and a full impact assessment conducted where necessary. The
CCG will take action when necessary to address any unexpected or unwarranted
disparities and monitor workforce and employment practices to ensure that employment
policies are fairly implemented. The CCG is committed to ensuring that staff receive
appropriate awareness training in Equality and Diversity to undertake their role. Equality
and Diversity training is mandatory for all staff commensurate with the duties that they are
required to undertake.
We operate a fair and objective system for recruiting, which places emphasis on individual
skills, abilities and experience. This enables a full diversity of people to demonstrate their
ability to do a job. Selection criteria contained within our Job Descriptions and Person
Specifications are regularly reviewed to ensure that they are justifiable and so do not
unfairly discriminate directly or indirectly and are essential for the effective performance of
the role. We offer a guaranteed interview scheme for disabled applicants who meet our
essential selection criteria. During 2014/15 we obtained ‘Positive About Disabled People/2
Tick’ accreditation.
We are committed to making reasonable adjustments in the workplace, including
appropriate training, to support the continuation of employment. We strive to enable all
staff to achieve their full potential in an environment of dignity and mutual respect. This is
underpinned by ensuring that every employee is in possession of a Personal Development
Plan (PDP) and is annually appraised in a Performance Development Review (PDR). All
employees are supported to develop the skills and abilities they require to carry out their
current and any likely future role in the organisation.
3.14

Emergency preparedness, resilience and response

The CCG has in place a suitably experienced and competent designated Senior Manager
lead for emergency preparedness, resilience and response and has played a full and
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active role in the Merseyside Local Health Resilience Partnership and the associated
‘operational’ Health Resilience Group. The CCG commissions from the North West
Commissioning Support Services Unit access to a professionally qualified and
experienced emergency planner who provides some additional support and advice to the
CCG, supplementing the in-house resources.
The CCG response plan has been subject to review during the year and is kept up to date
and reflects national best practice and policy guidance. Key staff have participated in a
variety of planning and response exercises during the year. Plans from all of the major
providers from who the CCG commissions services have in addition been subject to audit
and review during the year and where required actions plans put into place to ensure full
compliance with the national EPRR standards and requirement.
As well as supporting day to day system resilience across the city during the year
Liverpool continued to play host to a series of national and international cultural and
sporting events. Chief amongst these was the return of the ‘giants’ and the ‘Memories of
August 1914’, part of the UK’s World War One commemoration events. Over five days in
July the city was host to over 750,000 visitors and the CCG led EPRR planning involving
providers and event organisers made sure that not only visitors were kept safe and any
health needs responded to but also that health services across the city were able to
maintain delivery of essential services to local residents.
Accountable Officer Self-certification:
I certify the NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group has incident response plans in
place, which are fully compliant with the NHS Commissioning Board Emergency
Preparedness Framework 2013. The clinical commissioning group regularly reviews and
makes improvements to its major incident plan and has a programme for regularly testing
this plan, the results of which are reported to the Governing Body.
3.15

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors

Each individual who is a member of the Governing Body at the time the Members Report
is approved confirms:
•

So far as the member is aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which
the clinical commissioning group’s external auditor is unaware; and

•

The member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a member in
order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the clinical commissioning group’s auditor is aware of that information.

3.16

Governing Body Profiles

Voting / Full members:
Dr Nadim Fazlani - Chair of Liverpool CCG (Appointed: 1st June 2012)
I have worked in the NHS since 1983 and been a GP in Liverpool for over 22
years.
A Fellow of the Royal College of General Practitioners, I was Chair of Liverpool
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Health Care Practice Based Consortium from 2006 – 2011 and Chair of Liverpool Central
Clinical Consortium from 2011 to 2012. I have been a long standing GP trainer and have
been an examiner for MRCGP conducted by Royal College of General Practitioners since
2004.
Since 2005 I have been a performance assessor for General Medical Council.
Committee Membership: Finance, Procurement and Contracts Committee (Chair); Primary
Care Committee (Chair).
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: GP Edge Hill Health Centre; Wife Dr K Tabani is a
Consultant Psychiatrist at Mersey Care NHS Trust.
Professor Maureen Williams – Lay Member Governance / Deputy Chair of
Liverpool CCG (Appointed: 1st October 2012)
I Chair the CCG’s Audit and HR & Remuneration Committees. I am also Chief
Executive of Merseyside Development Foundation and an Honorary Fellow and
Visiting Professor at Liverpool John Moores University. I am a senior expert
and consultant with the Council of Europe, an author and a trustee and advisor to a
number of charities.
My former responsibilities include: Pro Chancellor and Chair of Liverpool John Moores
University; Chair of The Community Fund (NW); Chair of Telescope Technologies Ltd;
Advisor to and Non-Executive Board member of the Board of the North West RDA; Vice
Chair of the NW Region European Partnership; Company Secretary/Trustee St Helens
District Women’s Aid; Non-Executive Director of Liverpool PCT; board member of the
Mersey Partnership and a member of Greater Merseyside Learning and Skills Council.
Committee Membership: Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee (Chair); Finance, Procurement
and Contracts Committee; HR & Remuneration Committee (Chair); Approvals Committee
(Chair).
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: Chief Executive Merseyside Development
Foundation; Adviser/Consultant F.O.R.M.E; Associate/Consultant Praxis; and Chair of
PLDP for NHS England since July 2013.
Dr Simon Bowers, GP / Clinical Vice Chair (Date Appointed: 1st June 2012)
I am a GP in South Liverpool and was previously the Chair of Liverpool
Matchworks PBC/CCG. I qualified in 1998 and have worked in the NHS
exclusively since then.
I am a passionate supporter of the NHS and feel that the combined role of a GP and a
Clinical Commissioner gives the best opportunity to improve health and wellbeing for the
people of Liverpool by designing services with the patient at the centre.
Clinically, I support the holistic view of British General Practice and hope we can protect
this generalism in years to come as hospital doctors become ever more specialised.
I am also the Clinical Vice-Lead for Liverpool CCG and the Governing Body sponsor for
children and IM&T.
Committee Membership: Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee; Quality, Safety and Outcomes
Committee.
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: Fulwood Green Medical Centre GP Partner; none.
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Dave Antrobus – Lay Member, Patient Engagement (Appointed: 1st
September 2012)
Born and brought up in Liverpool, I started my working life at Pilkington Bros in
St Helens. After attending Liverpool University I have worked as a Sub
Postmaster on Merseyside, an Administrator of a Nursing Home in Sefton Park
and been an Elected Member of Liverpool City Council for Aigburth and Mossley Hill wards
between 1996 and 2008.
As a City Councillor I concluded my term of office as the Executive Member for Health and
Adult Social Care, working closely with the Health Sector and the Probation Service.
I have been a member of the Territorial Army and was awarded Territorial Decoration in
1978. I was also an Independent Lay member of Merseyside Police Authority’s Standards
Committee and a Merseytravel Advisory Panel member. I have also worked as a Logger in
Liverpool Crown Court as well as being a Non-Executive Director of Liverpool Primary
Care Trust.
Committee Membership: Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee; Finance, Procurement and
Contracts Committee; HR & Remuneration Committee; Primary Care Committee; Quality,
Safety and Outcomes Committee (Chair), Approvals Committee.
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: Trustee Whitechapel Centre; Independent
Monitoring Board (IMB) member at HMP Liverpool.
Dr Janet Bliss, GP (Date Appointed: 1st June 2012)
I was born in Liverpool and have lived in the city all my life. I qualified as a
doctor in 1992 and have worked exclusively in the NHS since then. I have been
a GP since 1997.
One of the things I value most about General Practice is continuity of care and I
feel very privileged to have looked after my patients for almost 13 years.
I have been involved in commissioning since 2009; I have found the work both challenging
and rewarding. I feel optimistic that the current changes to the NHS are an opportunity for
clinicians who are closest to the patient to make a real difference in shaping our NHS
services.
I am executive sponsor for CVD and diabetes on the Governing Body and I also have an
interest in Planned Care, Integrated Care and Prescribing.
Committee Membership: Service Improvement Committee; Primary Care Committee.
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: The Grey Road Surgery GP Partner; Trustee Relate
Cheshire & Merseyside; brother employed as a Consultant at Aintree University Hospital.
Moira Cain, Practice Nurse (Appointed: 1st June 2012)
I am a Practice Nurse in the centre of Liverpool and I have worked in both
Liverpool and South Sefton. I was previously the Nurse Representative on South
Central PBC and then Liverpool Central CCG. I qualified as an RGN in 1989 and
have worked in the NHS exclusively since then.
I am a passionate supporter of the NHS and I feel privileged to be at the forefront of
decisions which could greatly improve services to patients in Liverpool.
59

PAGE 62

FINAL DRAFT 2014/15
I have held various clinical positions before training as a midwife. As a midwife I worked on
a busy labour ward in Fazakerley Hospital and then on its unique midwife led Antenatal
unit.
I subsequently chose to work in primary care and am currently the clinical nurse on
Liverpool CCG and I am joint sponsor for patient and public engagement and alcohol.
Committee Membership: HR & Remuneration Committee; Primary Care Committee;
Service Improvement Committee.
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: Practice Nurse; none.
Dr Ed Gaynor, GP (Date Appointed: 1st June 2012, term of office ended 31st May
2014)
I arrived in Liverpool in September 1981 to study medicine from the south, and
have never wanted to leave. I qualified as a GP in 1990 and have worked in
different parts of the city. In 1994 I set up a new practice working in the centre
and providing services to the University. Brownlow Group Practice now has
28,000 patients. I have particular interests in mental health, drug dependence,
homeless patients and intermediate care.
I really enjoy working as a GP. I believe that delivering the best care can only be achieved
in partnership with the patient and we need to be open to change and better ways of
delivering care. I am committed to the principles of the NHS and addressing the
inequalities of healthcare delivery. In my role I am involved in the training of GPs of the
future so feel confident in the quality of our up and coming doctors.
Committee Membership: Primary Care Committee.
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: Brownlow Group Practice GP Partner; Director of L1
Health Care Limited.
Dr Rosie Kaur (Appointed 1st June 2014)
I came to Liverpool in 1987 to study medicine, qualifying as doctor in 1992. I
have held GP posts in Garston and Kensington before becoming a GP Partner
at the Elms Medical Centre in 2009.
As well as being a GP Partner in this practice I am also a GP Trainer, GP
Appraiser, a Clinical Advisor and a member of board of Liverpool Health Care Consortium.
I represent Central Locality on the CCG where I am Cardiovascular Disease Lead Locality.
I have always been passionate about being a GP and working in the NHS, It was through
seeing and understanding the challenges faced by the patients accessing the “the right
care in the right place” that I became interested in clinical commissioning. I was involved in
Practice Based Commissioning in 2009 before being appointed to the CCG.
My current roles are Exec Sponsor for Quality in Primary Care and Exec Sponsor for
Alcohol.
Committee Membership: Healthy Liverpool Programme Leads, Quality Safety &
Outcomes, Primary Care.
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: GP Partner at the Elms Medical Centre; none
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Dr Jim Cuthbert, GP / Matchworks Locality Chair (Appointed: 1st June
2012, resigned 20th March 2015)
I am currently a GP in Liverpool and joined my practice in 2002.
I have been in the NHS for 15 years and have gained a variety of experience in
a number of jobs including hospital specialities and General Practice.
I joined the NHS as I was always interested in healthcare and working with people. Over
the last few years I have become more involved with commissioning services for patients
in Liverpool. I was a member of the city wide Shadow Commissioning Board and have
been involved in a number of areas of healthcare including urgent care, dermatology and
respiratory problems.
I sit on the service improvement and primary care committees for the CCG board and will
be one of leads for urgent care.
Committee Membership: Primary Care Committee; Service Improvement Committee
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: Rutherford Medical Centre GP Partner; none.
Tom Jackson - Chief Finance Officer (Appointed: 6th July 2012)
Prior to joining the CCG I fulfilled a number of senior financial roles for NHS
Merseyside including Locality Director of Finance for Liverpool PCT and NHS
Sefton.
I have worked in NHS financial management for over 20 years joining the NHS
as a Graduate Financial Management Trainee.
Upon qualification as an accountant I continued to work in Liverpool hospitals before a
move to Commissioning in Wigan with the advent of PCGs and PCTs. In 2007 I returned
to Merseyside firstly as Deputy Director and then as Director of Finance for NHS Sefton.
Committee Membership: Finance, Procurement and Contracts Committee, Approvals
Committee.
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: Director of Oldflower Services Limited; Trustee St
Helens Autism Support charity; Chair Liverpool St Helens Football Club.
Dr Fiona Lemmens, GP (Re Appointed: 1st June 2014)
I have been a GP in north Liverpool since 1997. In 2012 I was elected as a
Governing Body member for Liverpool CCG representing the North Locality
Group.
Within the CCG I am one of two Urgent Care Leads and I am a CCG Lead for
liaison with Aintree University Hospital.
I am currently the Chair of the North Merseyside Urgent Care Network and I am also the
Clinical Lead for NHS 111 on behalf of the Merseyside CCGs.
Committee Membership: Quality, Safety and Outcomes Committee.
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: Aintree Park Group Practice GP Partner; spouse is
a Paramedic in the North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust.
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Jane Lunt, Head of Quality / Chief Nurse (Appointed: 1st November 2012)
I am a nurse, midwife and health visitor, having held a range of clinical and
managerial posts.
I originally undertook my Registered General Nurse training at the Royal
Liverpool Hospital and worked there as a staff nurse before training as a
midwife and working as a specialist midwife before undertaking health visiting training. I
became a Practice Mentor in health visiting, supporting the training of student health
visitors and working closely with the universities to support curriculum development and
the provision of placements for students. It was while working as a health visitor that I
came into contact with families with safeguarding and child protection needs, which
generated my interest in safeguarding.
I have worked within Public Health as a lead commissioner for children's and maternity
services, mental health and other services in a number of organisations. I have a long
history of partnership working with local authority colleagues and have much experience of
working with Safeguarding Boards and within other partnership arrangements.
Committee Membership: Quality, Safety and Outcomes Committee.
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: none.
Dr Jude Mahadanaarachchi, GP / Liverpool Central Locality Chair
(Appointed: 1st June 2012, resigned 20th March 2015)
I am a GP partner in a large inner city practice.
Having been involved in commissioning from the start of my GP career in 2007,
I am excited the new NHS changes will allow us to commission more
appropriate services which will aid the frontline to further improve the services we offer. I
am the planned care sponsor on the Governing Body.
Committee Membership: Primary Care Committee; Service Improvement Committee
(Chair).
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: GP Dr Jude’s Practice; none.
Professor Donal O 'Donoghue, Secondary Care Doctor (Appointed: 1st
November 2012)
I am a kidney consultant at Salford Royal Foundation Trust where I am also
Professor of Renal Medicine. After studying physiology and medicine in
Manchester and New York, I undertook general professional training in internal
medicine in Manchester, Leicester and Nottingham before specialising in kidney care in
Manchester. This was followed by a stint as a Medical Research Council training fellow
and as Senior Registrar.
I was inaugural president of the multi-professional British Renal Society (from 2000/03),
Treasurer of the Renal Association (2004-6) and was elected president of the Renal
Association in 2006. Since 2007, I have been the National Clinical Director for Kidney Care
responsible for developing and leading the implementation of the kidney policy for the
NHS.
I relish the prospect of contributing to the health and care of people in Liverpool as a
member of the Liverpool CCG Governing Body.
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Committee Membership: Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee; Quality, Safety and Outcomes
Committee; Service Improvement Committee.
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: intermittent advisor to Deloittes; Director of Greater
Manchester Academic Health Network.

Dr Shamim Rose, GP (Appointed: 1st June 2012)
Dr Shamim Rose came to Liverpool in 1984 as a medical student. She has had
a varied medical career as a junior Surgeon, Prison Doctor, Principal GP and is
since 2004 a Salaried GP in Garston.
Her role at Liverpool CCG is Executive sponsor for Prescribing and the
Programme Lead for Alcohol.
She is also on the Liverpool Local Medical Committee, is a GP Appraiser for Liverpool and
a Forensic Medical Examiner (SOCAP) for Merseyside Police. She has an education role
as GP Tutor for Medical Students from Liverpool University.
Committee Membership: HR & Remuneration Committee; Quality, Safety and Outcomes
Committee.
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: GP Garston Family Health Centre (SSP Health) and
clinical lead GP in SSP Health; elected member of the Liverpool Local Medical Committee;
GP Appraiser; Merseyside Police Forensic Medical Examiner.
Katherine Sheerin – Chief Officer (Appointed: 2nd July 2012)
I have worked in Primary Care in Liverpool for over 20 years now having come
to University in Liverpool in 1988 and joining the NHS Management Training
Scheme after graduating.
I see my role as Chief Officer for Liverpool CCG as one to ensure that we make
best use of the significant resources we are responsible for on behalf of the people of the
city.
This will require real partnership working with the Local Authority, Hospital Trusts,
Community Health Services, community and voluntary organisations, and most importantly
patients and the public.
The health services for the city in the 21st Century need to respond to the changes in
society, and to really address the causes of ill health and work in partnership with patients
to maximise their wellbeing.
I am committed to maximising the role of general practice in both improving health
outcomes and securing financial stability across the system, and also to promoting
integrated care delivery with first class hospital and community services for patients.
Committee Membership: Finance, Procurement and Contracts Committee, Approvals
Committee, Quality, Safety & Outcomes Committee.
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: Board Member NHS Clinical Commissioners;
Daughter a volunteer at Clare House Hospice.

63

PAGE 66

FINAL DRAFT 2014/15
Dr Maurice Smith, GP (Re Appointed: 1st June 2014)
My GP career started in Salford in 1990 before moving to South Liverpool in
1993.
I have a broad range of clinical interests from diabetes and cardiology to
occupational medicine.
I have undertaken key leadership roles over the last 10 years, including Clinical
Governance Lead and PEC Chair. I’m a member of the NHS Clinical Leaders Network
(CLN). I have worked for the Matchworks Shadow CCG as planned care lead since its
formation.
I have been involved in the development of various new pathways to improve patient care
and have provided clinical input to the development of hospital and community services. I
have visited practices to encourage the sharing of best practice and learn what issues
colleagues struggle with in order to try and improve the service we provide.
Committee Membership: Finance, Procurement and Contracts Committee; HR &
Remuneration Committee.
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: Mather Avenue Surgery GP Partner; none.
Non-voting Members of the Governing Body:
Ray Guy, Practice Manager (Date Appointed: 1st Nov 2012, retired 31st Dec 2014)
Committee Membership: Finance, Procurement and Contracts Committee; Primary Care
Committee.
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: GP Practice Manager; Executive Member of the
National Association of Primary Care.
Tina Atkins, Practice Manager (Date Appointed 1st January 2015)
Committee Membership: Finance, Procurement and Contracts Committee; Primary Care
Committee.
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: GP Practice Manager
Dr Paula Finnerty, GP – North Locality Chair (Date Appointed: 29th January 2013)
Committee Membership: Primary Care Committee.
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: GP Partner; none
Dr Tristin Elkin, GP – Liverpool Central Locality (Date Appointed: 1st April 2013)
Committee Membership: Primary Care Committee.
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: GP Partner; none
Dr David Webster GP – Matchworks (Date Appointed: 1st April 2013)
Committee Membership: Primary Care Committee.
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Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: GP Partner; wife works as a Dermatologist at the
Royal Liverpool and Alder Hey Hospitals.
Sandra Davies, Director of Public Health
Committee Membership: None
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: employee Liverpool City Council, Trustee of the
Heart of Mersey Charity, and Chair of the Healthy Stadia Network (part of Heart of
Mersey).
Councillor Roz Gladden, Liverpool City Council Member Representative (Deputy
Mayor of Liverpool and Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Health)
Committee Membership: None
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: elected member Liverpool City Council.
Dr Rob Barnett (LMC Secretary)
Committee Membership: None
Declarations of Interest and Conflicts: GP Partner; Secretary of the Liverpool Local
Medical Committee; North West Region representative on the General Practitioners
Committee of the BMA; and Chairman of the General Practitioner’s Defence Fund.
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3.17

Committee Membership

The following table shows the membership of the CCG Committees and attendance by
voting Governing Body members during the year.
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Members Report
TO BE SIGNED

Katherine Sheerin
Accountable Officer
28th May 2015
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CASE STUDY: Investing in cancer services.
In early January 2015 the CCG announced it had approved an
investment of £9.6m to help fund a new cancer centre for patients in
Merseyside on the site of the Royal Liverpool Hospital.
The investment supported the Clatterbridge Cancer Centre’s £118m
Transforming Cancer Care Programme and the vision to improve cancer
care for patients in Merseyside and Cheshire. The programme includes:
•
A new Clatterbridge Cancer Centre in the heart of Liverpool,
located next to the Royal Liverpool University Hospital, the University of
Liverpool and Cancer Research UK’s Liverpool Cancer Trials Unit. The
new centre will become the cancer centre’s main site and complement
the existing centre, which is in Wirral.
•
An expansion of the services provided by The Clatterbridge
Cancer Centre to meet increased demands for specialist cancer care.
Outpatient treatments for most cancers will continue to be provided at
the Clatterbridge Cancer Centre in Wirral and its second radiotherapy
unit at Aintree. Outpatient and chemotherapy clinics would also continue
at local hospitals across Cheshire and Merseyside.
The Wirral site would be redeveloped to allow patients to continue to
benefit from high quality facilities.
At the time, Dr Nadim Fazlani, Liverpool CCG Chair, said: “Patients in
Cheshire and Merseyside already benefit from superb cancer services.
However, there is a clear need to future proof these services to meet an
increasing demand for cancer care and to ensure that Liverpool patients
continue to enjoy the best specialist cancer care closer to home.
“By locating a new cancer centre alongside the existing facilities
available on the Royal Liverpool Hospital site, we move closer to the
vision of Merseyside and Cheshire becoming a world-class centre of
excellence for cancer services, which can only benefit patients in terms
of access to the latest treatments, research and expertise.”
The plans for the new cancer centre have the backing of eight local
authorities in Cheshire and Merseyside including: Liverpool, Wirral,
Sefton, Knowsley, St Helens, Halton, Warrington, and Cheshire West
and Chester.
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4

Remuneration Report
4.1

Introduction

Section 234B and Schedule 7A of the Companies Act, as interpreted for the public sector
in the Government Financial Reporting Manual, requires NHS bodies to prepare a
Remuneration Report containing information about directors’ remuneration.
In the NHS, the report will be in respect of the Senior Managers of the NHS body. ‘Senior
Managers’ are defined as: ‘those persons in senior positions having authority or
responsibility for directing or controlling the major activities of the NHS body. This means
those who influence the decisions of the clinical commissioning group as a whole, rather
than the decisions of individual directorates or departments.’ For the purposes of this
report, this includes the CCG’s Governing Body members.
Remuneration for the CCG Governing Body members only is determined by the
Remuneration Committee.
Elements of the Remuneration Report which are subject to audit have been indicated
within subheadings below.
4.2

The Remuneration Committee

The terms of reference for the Remuneration Committee were approved by the Governing
Body in April 2013 and updated in March 2014. The membership of the Remuneration
Committee consists of the Chair, Lay member (Patient Engagement) and three other
Governing Body Members. In the absence of the Committee Chair of the committee a
nominated Governing Body member will act as Chair.
Current membership:
•
•
•
•
•

Professor Maureen Williams – Committee Chair – Lay Governing Body MemberGovernance
Dave Antrobus – Lay Governing Body Member – Patient Engagement
Dr Maurice Smith GP Governing Body Member
Dr Shamim Rose GP –Governing Body Member
Moira Cain –Practice Nurse Governing Body Member

During 2014/15 the Remuneration Committee has met on 5 occasions, with attendance as
follows:
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29/04/14
30/09/14
10/10/14 14/10/14 24/03/15
FINAL
DRAFT
2014/15
Not
quorate

Prof Maureen Williams

√

Dave Antrobus
Dr Maurice Smith

√

Dr Shamim Rose

√

√

√

√

√

√

√
√

√
√

√

√
√

Moira Cain
In attendance:
Katherine Sheerin

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

Accountable Officer
Lisa Doran
Corporate
Services
Manager HR /OD Lead
Helen Galley
Admin
Taker

Manager/Minute
√

Carol Hughes

√

PA/Minute Taker

4.3

Appraisal of Chair and Chief Officer

The CCG has in place a robust procedure for assessing the performance and delivery of
the Chief Officer and Chair. The CCG operates a mutually exclusive appraisal
arrangement between the Chair, Deputy Chair/Chair of Audit Committee and Chief Officer.
The Chair appraises the performance and delivery of the Chief Officer, the Chief Officer
then appraises the Deputy Chair/Chair of Audit Committee and the Deputy Chair appraises
the Chair. Objectives are set for each person alongside agreement as to any
developmental needs, with full records of the appraisal meetings made and retained.
4.4

Policy on Remuneration of Senior Managers

Amendments to salary are determined annually by the Remuneration Committee. Salaries
exclude on-call payments. Senior Manager performance is monitored through the formal
appraisal process, based on organisational and individual objectives.
As required the Remuneration Committee has access to professional advice from the
CCG’s qualified HR team and also the CCG legal advisers, Hill Dickinson LLP.
In setting policy for current and future years, the Committee has access to guidance, best
practice and benchmarking information from NHS Employers, NHS England and
comparative CCGs, such as those in the ‘core cities’ group. Account is also taken of the
pay and conditions of service that apply to other employees in the CCG.
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4.5

Senior Managers performance related pay.

Senior managers are not subject to an element of performance related pay as part of their
remuneration packages.

4.6

Senior Manager Contracts

Senior Managers (Officers) hold permanent contracts of employment and are subject to six
months’ notice. Governing Body members, excluding the Accountable Officer, Chief
Finance Officer and Chief Nurse, are Office Holders and have various lengths of tenure,
details of which can be found on Page 70.
4.7

Past Senior Managers

During 2014/15 the CCG has not made any payments to any past senior managers, or any
payments for loss of office.
4.8

Pay Multiples (subject to audit)

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the
highest-paid Senior Manager in their organisation and the median remuneration of their
organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest-paid Senior Manager at Liverpool CCG in the
financial year 2014-15 was £155-160k (2013/14 - £135-£140k). This was 5.7 times
(2013/14 – 5.4 times) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was banded £2530k (2013/14 - £25-30k).
In 2014-15 no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid Senior
Manager. Banded remuneration across the organisation ranged from £15-20k to £155160k (2013/14 £14-15k to £135 -£140k).
(Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, and
benefits-in-kind. It does not include pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer
value of pensions.)
4.9

Duration of contracts, notice periods and termination payments

The Accountable Officer, Chief Finance Officer and Head of Quality/ Chief Nurse are
employed on contracts of service and are substantive employees of the CCG. Executive
Governing Body members’ contracts can be terminated by either party with up to 6
months’ notice. Following the departure of a Governing Body (officer) member and in
advance of a new appointee commencing, the CCG may engage a suitably qualified and
experienced interim Senior Manager to ensure continuity of leadership.
There are no special contractual compensation provisions for the early termination of
Governing Body members’ contracts. Employees above the minimum retirement age who
themselves request termination by reason of early retirement, are subject to the normal
provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme.
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4.10

Governing Body Members

The dates of contracts and unexpired terms of office for the Governing Body members are
shown in the table below. Details of Co-opted (non-voting) members are shown on page
7.

Name

Appointment Start Date

Appointment End Date

Dr Nadim Fazlani
Professor Maureen Williams
Dr Simon Bowers
Dave Antrobus
Dr Janet Bliss
Moira Cain
Tom Jackson

1st June 2012
1st October 2012
1st June 2012
1st September 2012
1st June 2012
1st June 2012
6th July 2012

Dr Rosie Kaur
Dr Fiona Lemmens
Jane Lunt

1st June 2014
1st June 2012
1st November 2012

Professor Donal O’Donoghue
Dr Shamim Rose
Katherine Sheerin

1st November 2012
1st June 2012
2nd July 2012

Dr Maurice Smith

1st June 2012

31st May 2015
31st March 2017
31st May 2015
31st March 2016
31st May 2015
31st May 2015
N/A Permanent contract
of employment
31st May 2017
31st May 2017
N/A Permanent contract
of employment
31st October 2015
31st May 2015
N/A Permanent contract
of employment
31st May 2017

Governing Body Members who left office during 2014/15:
Dr Ed Gaynor

1st June 2012

31st May 2014

Dr Jim Cuthbert

1st June 2012

20th March 2014

Dr Jude Mahadanaarachchi

1st June 2012

20th March 2015
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4.11

Salaries & Pension Entitlements of Senior Managers

4.11.1 Salaries & Allowances (subject to audit)
The following table provides details of the Senior Managers salaries for 2014/15:

Salary

Expense payments
(taxable)

Performance pay and
bonuses

(bands of £5,000)
2014/15
2013/14
£'000
£'000
155-160
135-140
145-150
125-130
130-135
95-100
150-155
100-105
100-105
70-75
70-75
60 - 65

(to nearest £100)
2014/15
2013/14
£'00
£'00
15
0
6
0
0
2
0
0
0

(bands of £5,000)
2014/15
2013/14
£'000
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0

Name & Title

Katherine Sheerin, Chief Officer
Tom Jackson, Chief Finance Officer
Jane Lunt, Chief Nurse/ Head of Quality*
Dr Nadim Fazlani, Chair
Prof Maureen Williams Deputy Chair
Dr Simon Bowers Gp/Clinical Vice Chair#

45 - 50
60 - 65
40 - 45
65 - 70
60 - 65
65-70

0
0
0
0
0
0

Long term performance
pay and bonuses
All pension related benefits
(bands of £5,000)
2014/15
2013/14
£'000
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

TOTAL
2014/15
£'000
185-187.5
135.137.5
465-467.5
170-175
110-115
90-95

2013/14
£'000
405-410
300-305
135-140
105 - 110
75 - 80
60 - 65

55-60
70-75
70-75
85-90
15-20
90-95

45 - 50
60 - 65
40 - 45
65 - 70
60 - 65
70 - 75

Dave Antrobus, Lay Member Patient Engagement
Dr Janet Bliss, GP
Moira Cain, Practice Nurse
Dr Jim Cuthbert, GP
Dr Ed Gaynor, GP#
Dr Fiona Lemmens, GP
Dr Jude Mahadanaarachchi, GP/ Locality Chair
Central

50-55
65-70
65-70
75-80
15-20
75-80
75-80

65 - 70

0

0

0

0

0

85-90

65 - 70

Dr Donal O'Donoghue, Secondary Care Doctor
Dr Shamim Rose, GP
Dr Maurice Smith, GP
Dr Rosie Kaur, GP#

90-95
60-65
75-80
50-55

55 - 60
55-60
60 - 65

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

90-95
70-75
90-95
55-60

55 - 60
60 - 65
60 - 65

Highest Earners Remuneration
£'000

0
0
0
0
0
0

(bands of £2,500)
2014/15
2013/14
£'000
£'000
27.5-30.0
290-292.5
0
195-197.5
332.5-335.0
50.0-52.5
0
0
0
0
0
0

155-160

Median Total Remuneration - (Governing Body)
£
Ratio
Median Total Remuneration (All Staff)
£
Ratio

75-80
1:2
25-30
1:57

*2014/15 includes a sum of £17k pay arrears in relation to 2013/14.
# Part year effect - Dr E Gaynor to 31.05.14 – Dr R Kaur with effect from 01.06.14
The Chief Officer, Chief Finance Officer and Chief Nurse/ Head of Quality are engaged
under contracts of service and are employees. All other Senior Managers disclosed in
the table above are engaged under contracts for service and are considered to be off
payroll workers and are included in 4.11.3.
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4.11.2 Pension Benefits (subject to audit)

Name & Title

Katherine Sheerin, Chief
Officer
Tom Jackson, Chief Finance
Officer
Jane Lunt, Head of Quality,
Chief Nurse

Real
Real
increase in increase in
pension at pension
aged 60 lump sum
at aged 60

Total
accrued
pension at
aged 60 at
31 March
2015

2014/15
Lump sum at
Cash
Cash
Real Increase
Employers
aged 60
equivalent equivalent
in Cash
Contribution
Transfer
Equivalent to partnership
related to
Transfer
accrued
Value at 31 Value at 31 Transfer Value
pension
pension at 31 March 2014 March 2015
March 2015

(bands of
£2,500)
£'000

(bands of
£2,500)
£'000

(bands of
£5,000)
£'000

(bands of
£5,000)
£'000

0-2.5

2.5-5.0

35.0-40.0

115.0-120.0

555

605

35

0

0

30.0-35.0

100.0-105.0

542

563

7

12.5-15.0

42.5-45.0

45.0-50.0

140.0-145.0

580

879

284

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

The table above shows pension benefits for those senior managers engaged under
contracts of service. The remaining senior managers included in the table in 4.11.1
are off payroll workers, consequently, there is no requirement to include them in the
pension disclosure.

4.11.3 Off Payroll Engagements
The following tables provide details of Off Payroll Engagements for 2014/15:
Number
The number that have existed as of 31 March 2015
▪ For less than one year at the time of reporting
▪ For between one and two years at the time of reporting

0
39

▪ For between two and three years at the time of reporting

0

▪ For between three and four years at the time of reporting

0

▪ For four or more years at the time of reporting

0

Total number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2015

75

PAGE 78

39

FINAL DRAFT 2014/15
Number

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six
months in duration, between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015

1

Number of the above which include contractual clauses
giving the NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group the
right to request assurance in relation to Income Tax or
National Insurance obligations

0

Number for whom assurance has been requested

1

Of which, the number:
▪ For whom assurance has been received
▪ For whom assurance has not been received
▪ That have been terminated as a result of assurance not
being received

0
1
0
Number

Number of off-payroll engagements of membership Body
and/ or Governing Body members, and/or senior officials
with significant finanical responsiblitity, during the financial
year.

0

Number of individuals that have been deemed "Membership
Body and/or Governing Body members, and/or, senior
officals with significant financial responsibility", during the
financial year

0

Remuneration Report
TO BE SIGNED

Katherine Sheerin
Accountable Officer
28th May 2015
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CASE STUDY: Improving Children and Young people’s Mental Health.
Liverpool CCG launches new Children and Young People’s Mental Health
Strategy
•

•

At any one time in the UK, 10% of children aged 5 – 16 has a
mental health problem. 75% of mental health disorders start before
the age of 18
Mental health disorders represent the single largest category of ill
health in children and young adults, hugely outweighing the onset of
other health care related problems

In 2014 the CCG launched a new Children and Young People’s Mental
Health and Emotional Wellbeing Strategy aimed at ensuring ‘early help’,
intervention and prevention for children and young people in Liverpool who
may be suffering with mental health or emotional wellbeing issues.
The new strategy, a key component of the Healthy Liverpool Programme to
transform health and care services in Liverpool, was unveiled at a launch
event held at the Merseyside Maritime Museum. Delegates enjoyed a
theatre production presented by young people from the Splinter Theatre
Group, as well as a series of keynote speeches from experts in the field. The
key theme behind the event was that mental health is ‘Everyone’s Business’.
Dr Simon Bowers said: “Our vision for Healthy Liverpool is for a healthcare
system that is person-centred, one that puts people at the heart of what we
do. We know that a child’s health and emotional wellbeing is often closely
related to poverty and other societal issues. In some areas of Liverpool,
levels of poverty are worse than the England average. This new strategy will
mean working closely with our partners to adopt a holistic approach that not
only look at the needs of the child, but their entire family.
Services are currently delivered and supported by a broad spectrum of
agencies from both the statutory and voluntary sector. The new strategy will
explore opportunities for closer, more integrated service delivery, achieved
through co-location of staff and resources at the very heart of local
communities. It will aim to improve awareness of mental health issues
through better training and health promotion campaigns that tackle the
stigma around mental illness. More targeted support for children and young
people will also ensure an improved transition process from child to adult
mental health services in the city.
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5

Statement of Accountable Officer Responsibilities

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has
appointed Katherine Sheerin to be the Accountable Officer of the Liverpool Clinical
Commissioning Group.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the propriety
and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable, for
keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure that
the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction) and for safeguarding
the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities), are set out in the Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed
each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements
in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity
and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with
the requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health and in
particular to:
•

observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis;

•

make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;

•

state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for Accounts
issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and explain
any material departures in the financial statements; and

•

prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set
out in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.

TO BE SIGNED
Katherine Sheerin
Accountable Officer
28th May 2015
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CASE STUDY: New Integrated Diabetes Service for Liverpool
NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group has invested £2.3m to commission a
newly integrated diabetes service.
The Liverpool Diabetes Partnership is the first example of an integrated model of care,
which as part of the Healthy Liverpool Programme, will transform health services in
Liverpool. This reflects a fresh approach to the care and support of people with this long
term condition, which we hope to use as a blueprint for other future developments.
This new service represents a considerable shift in focus from hospital-based care to the
delivery of care in the community; enabling Liverpool to lead the way in the provision of
dynamic, patient-centred diabetes care. It will focus on promoting good self-management,
integrated delivery with GPs and education in the community.
Aintree University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, The Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen
University Hospital NHS Trust and Liverpool Community Health NHS Trust will come
together to deliver the service with a shared vision: to improve outcomes for people living
with diabetes in Liverpool.
Diabetes is one of the major challenges facing the NHS and is a major cause of death.
Estimates suggest that 8.3% of people in Liverpool may develop diabetes by 2030 unless
more support is provided to help people take better care of their health and wellbeing.
Dr Janet Bliss, GP and CCG Governing Body Member, explains: “The new diabetes
partnership encapsulates what the Healthy Liverpool vision is all about: providing
healthcare that is person-centred, supports people to stay well and offers patients the
very best care. The new service will give patients and their families the ability to access
the care and advice they need to manage their diabetes in one place closer to home.”
As part of the service, there will be 6 community-based clinics at a number of locations
throughout Liverpool including: Garston, Speke, Kensington, Townsend Lane, Breeze Hill
and Princes Park Health Centre. These clinics will provide specialist support to patients
to help them manage their diabetes. Clinicians from each partner organisation will work
together in multi-disciplinary teams at community-based clinics to deliver care to patients,
with the most specialist elements of diabetes care continuing to be delivered in hospital.
Patients will continue to see consultants, nurses, GPs, dieticians and podiatrists like
before, but this will take place closer to home in community-based clinics. Patients will be
given resource packs and agree a care plan tailored to their own individual health needs.
They will also be given the opportunity to attend diabetes education sessions that will
provide advice on how best to manage their condition.
Dr Cheong Ooi, Consultant in Diabetes at Aintree University Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust, said: “This new service will improve the experience of diabetes patients across
Liverpool and will make the care they need more convenient and easier to access. It is a
great example of NHS organisations working together and putting patients at the heart of
the services we provide, which is central to the Healthy Liverpool programme.”
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6. Governance Statement
6.1 Introduction & Context
The Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group is licenced “without conditions” by NHS
England under provisions enacted in the Health & Social Care Act 2012, which amended
the National Health Service Act 2006.
6.2 Scope of Responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s policies, aims
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in ‘Managing Public
Money’. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my Clinical Commissioning
Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the Clinical Commissioning Group is administered
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively,
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity.
6.3 Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code

We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, we
have reported on our Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing upon best practice
available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we consider to
be relevant to the CCG and best practice.

6.4 The Clinical Commissioning Group Governance Framework
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph 14L(2)(b) states:
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it complies with such generally accepted principles of good
governance as are relevant to it.
The CCG Constitution is constructed around the exemplar model constitution provided by
NHS England, with the Governing Body advised as to the need for any specific
amendments by our legal advisers Hill Dickinson LLP. The agreed amendments made
from the exemplar model primarily reflected the landscape of the membership practices in
the city and the final Committee structure adopted by the CCG.
During 2014/15 the Constitution was subject to further amendment following engagement
and consultation with member practices. These further changes updated the member
practice numbers, reflected some changes to the Committee structures and introduced
new commitments around ‘whistle blowing’ and a new Conflicts of Interest Policy. The
revised and updated Constitution was formally approved by NHS England in February
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2015. These changes further strengthen the Constitution and Governance structures for
the organisation.
The Constitution includes the ‘Scheme of Reservation and Delegation’ and outlines those
matters that are reserved for the membership as a whole and those that are the
responsibilities of the Governing Body.
The Committees of the Governing Body are as follows (details of membership can be
found on Page 64):
•

Audit, Risk & Scrutiny – the Committee purpose is to review the establishment
and maintenance of an effective system of integrated governance, risk
management and internal control, across the whole of the CCG’s activities. Further
it shall ensure that there is an effective internal audit function that meets the
mandatory NHS Internal Audit Standards and provides appropriate independent
assurance. The Committee shall also review the work and findings of the external
auditors and consider the implications and management’s responses to their work.
Other aspects of the Committee’s work include ensuring that adequate counter
fraud arrangements are in place and as required review the outcomes of counter
fraud work.
During the year the Committee has continued to play an important role in
overseeing the operation of robust and effective governance arrangements
throughout the organisation. This has included the setting and review of the annual
internal audit cycle, counter fraud activities and the development of effective
working relationships with the appointed external auditors.
To ensure the effectiveness of the committee at the beginning of 2014/15 the Audit
Committee undertook an exercise facilitated by the internal auditors MIAA to review
the organisation, effectiveness and delivery of its activities and how these might be
improved. This review concluded that the committee members recognised the
crucial role they play in the CCG governance structures and were delivering that
role in a diligent and effective manner. The review provided the framework for a
subsequent action plan designed to secure further improvements and provide clarity
to the work of the committee. Areas highlighted in the action plan included
development of the annual audit plan, more frequent meetings to manage the
expanding breadth of business, the use of external assurance to inform the work
and the relationship with other committees and the Governing Body.
During 2014/15 a significant piece of work commenced to review ‘3rd party
assurance’, where the CCG commissions or relies upon 3rd parties to provide
services or goods to the CCG. The aim of this work is to review the process,
adequacy and details of the assurances available to the CCG and determine what
improvements or changes are necessary to strengthen governance arrangements.
The findings of this review will be presented to the Committee in 2015/16.

•

Remuneration – the Committee role is to make decisions and determinations about
pay and remuneration for Senior Managers and the wider senior management
team. This remit includes setting pay levels, reviewing conditions of service and
allowances.
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During the year the Committee has established the remuneration levels for the
expanded group of senior managers (non Governing Body officers) and also
undertaken a review of the remuneration for the Governing Body members.
•

Human Resources – the Committee role is to determine and agree HR policies
and salary frameworks for employees (other than Senior Managers), monitor
corporate workforce organisational performance indicators and provide assurance
to the Governing Body that performance is managed.
During the year the Committee has reviewed and adopted a series of key HR
policies for the organisation and also commissioned a comprehensive review of the
organisation’s Organisational Development Plan that will be presented to the
Governing Body in early 2015/16.

•

Finance, Procurement and Contracting– the Committee has a lead role in
monitoring the financial governance arrangements of the CCG. This includes
responsibility for assuring the delivery of the CCG’s statutory financial duties and
financial reporting arrangements on behalf of the Governing Body.
The Committee has oversight of the delivery of the CCG financial plan including
QIPP, and provides assurance regarding the procurement and contracting activities
of the organisation.
During the year the Committee has overseen the development of the organisation’s
financial plans, reviewed monthly financial and contract activity performance and
QIPP plans. This has included the procurement of Access to Psychological
Therapies (IAPT) and Anticoagulation services.

•

Healthy Liverpool Programme Leads Board – the Board is accountable to the
CCG Governing Body and acts as a forum for development and partnership
working. The Healthy Liverpool Programme Leads Board is not a decision making
body which commits resources or expenditure, but does make recommendations to
the Governing Body and other appropriate bodies and key stakeholders to ensure
alignment between the Healthy Liverpool Programme and the plans for each
organisation included in the programme.
During 2014/15 the Healthy Liverpool Programme Leads Board has overseen the
further development of the Programme and recommended the approval of a series
of investment proposals; ensuring that each proposal aligns with the strategic
objectives and aims of the Healthy Liverpool Programme and optimises public value
for money and outcomes for patients.

•

Quality, Safety and Outcomes – the Committee is responsible for overseeing
quality and safety processes across all commissioned services, ensuring alignment
with delivery of the NHS Outcomes Framework and for assuring the Governing
Body that quality and patient safety activity is co-ordinated and transparent ensuring
a coherent and systematic review of the system.
During 2014/15 the Committee has made a significant contribution to improving
patient safety and outcomes; including the performance management of Serious
Incidents (SIs) and commissioner led assurance of learning from incidents by
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providers through the overview and scrutiny of remedial action plans. The
Committee has also played a crucial role in the prevention of, and learning from
Healthcare Acquired Infections and holding our providers to account where
Regulatory Inspection has found issues of concern or failure to meet expected
quality and/or safety standards.
•

Primary Care Committee – the Committee is responsible for driving continuous
improvement within Primary Care, ensuring delivery of high quality General Practice
through implementation of the Liverpool CCG General Practice Specification and
neighbourhood delivery model. During the year the Committee has made significant
progress in supporting and encouraging Liverpool General Practices to improve the
quality of and reduce the variability of primary care services delivered to local
people.
From February 2015, the Primary Care Committee became a sub-committee of the
‘new’ Primary Care Commissioning Committee following NHS England’s approval of
the CCG’s revised Constitution and the successful application to assume delegated
responsibility from NHS England for the commissioning of primary medical services.

•

Approvals Committee – the Committee is responsible for ensuring that the CCG
applies conflicts of interest principles and policies rigorously and provides the CCG
with independent advice and judgement where there is any doubt about how to
apply them to individual or group cases involving the commissioning or other
procurement of clinical services.
During the year the Committee has continued to increase awareness and improve
the management of areas of business where a conflict of interest can arise (aided
by the development and implementation of the CCG’s new Conflicts of Interest
Policy). The Committee has played an important role in assessing and approving
funding for new initiatives in primary care to improve health outcomes for elderly
patients (Healthy Ageing), increased access to primary medical care for winter
2014/15 and significant funding for ‘neighbourhood’ development and mobilisation
plans.

The Governing Body has performed well throughout the year, providing clear strategic
leadership and accountability for the organisation’s business and activities. It has firmly
established itself both internally and externally across the health economy, with clear
governance arrangements in place and operation. Members of the Governing Body have
been welcomed onto the membership of collaborative commissioning forums, the Health &
Wellbeing Board, Joint Commissioning Group and Children’s Trust. Specific attention has
been paid during the year to external relationships and engagement with Governing Body
members leading partner and stakeholder engagement through the Health Liverpool
programme, alongside direct engagement with Trust Chief Executives, Chairs and local
MPs.
The role of the Governing Body continues to develop and members have been afforded a
variety of internal and external opportunities during the year to expand and develop their
knowledge and skills, alongside opportunities to share learning from Liverpool with
regional and national colleagues. A revised formal Organisational Development plan for
the Governing Body has been under development and will be presented to the Governing
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Body in early 2015/16 for agreement and implementation. Such opportunities, particularly
for shared learning play an important role in supporting the ongoing development of the
organisation and it’s Governing Body. At the same time the CCG has continued to engage
and involve members with a programme of city wide and locality based events, supported
by the Locality Chairs and neighbourhood structures.
The Governing Body and Committee meetings have been well attended and supported
during the year.
The Governing Body and Committees have together led and overseen:
•

Publication of the Healthy Liverpool Programme ‘Healthy Liverpool Prospectus
for Change’ setting out our vision and ambition for a healthcare system in the city
that supports people to stay well and provides access to the very best care and
treatment.

•

The adoption by the Governing Body of a Social Value Strategy and a Voluntary,
Community & Social Enterprise Strategy both aimed at strengthening the CCG’s
commitment to commissioning across the wider determinants of ill health and
supporting the development and growth of a vibrant third sector provider
community.

•

Introduction of a Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise Grant Scheme,
investing £1m p.a. over each of the next three years in the sector across a wide
range of community projects and services.

•

Agreement with the Liverpool City Council of a Public Health Memorandum of
Understanding that underpins the importance of public health to the Healthy
Liverpool Programme and achievement of the CCG strategic priorities.

•

Investment of £2.3m in the commissioning of a newly integrated diabetes service,
the Liverpool Diabetes Partnership, a partnership between the Royal Liverpool
and Aintree Hospitals and Liverpool Community Health.

•

Investment of £9.6m in the development of a centre of excellence for cancer care to
be provided by the Clatterbridge Cancer Centre on the Royal Liverpool Hospital
campus.

•

Investment of £9.4m in schemes to increase system ‘winter’ resilience including
increased GP appointments across the city, GPs working alongside the Emergency
Departments at the Royal Liverpool and Alder Hey Hospitals, a new Frailty Unit at
the Royal Liverpool and enhanced social care and discharge support.

•

Investment of £1.6m in Mersey Care to support the opening of the new ‘Clock
Tower’ mental health development to serve the population in the north of the city.

•

The introduction of a joint strategy with Liverpool City Council for Personalised
Health Budgets, providing the foundations and structures necessary to allow for an
expansion of this important area of patient choice.
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•

Completion of important procurements for a new IAPT service (access to
psychological therapies), NHS 111 and anti-coagulation services to benefit local
people across the city.

•

Development of a revised CCG Constitution following engagement with member
practices which strengthens the management of ‘conflicts of interest’ and introduced
a revised Committee Structure, which was subsequently approved by NHS
England.

•

Continued commitment to the development and expansion of the Mi Programme,
delivering the largest deployment of telehealth and remote telemetry monitoring in
the UK.

6.5 The Clinical Commissioning Group Risk Management Framework
The CCG has in place a comprehensive risk strategy that was reviewed during the year
and formally approved and readopted by the Governing Body. The strategy which is
subject to regular review and if necessary updating includes the following key elements:
•

Risk management strategy, aims and objectives

•

Roles, responsibilities and accountability

•

The risk management process – risk identification, assessment, treatment,
monitoring, review and prevention.

•

Risk grading – criteria

•

Training and support

Risk assessment is embedded as a core part of the operational and strategic business of
the organisation, with a culture in place that encourages risks to be reported, investigated
and effectively handled. Risks are identified through a number of mechanisms including
risk profiling methodology, incident reporting, complaints and litigation, data analysis and
staff concerns/whistle blowing.
Risk management and the ensuing development of risk registers is generally achieved
through a combination of ‘top down’ and ‘bottom up’ approaches. The ‘top down’ element
of the risk management process is addressed through the development of the corporate
risk register/assurance framework, that seeks to identify strategic high level risks to the
organisation and which is presented bi-monthly to the public meetings of the Governing
Body. If required ‘exception’ updates on particular risks or issues are provided to the next
available Governing Body meeting. This ensures that risks are dealt with in a transparent
and open manner, open to external view and scrutiny.
This approach is similarly fed by the development and management of directorate and
specific project or programme risks registers that provide an escalation route for high or
significant risks to be brought of the attention of the Governing Body. In all cases clear
responsible officers / leads are identified for all risks, who are responsible for putting into
place and monitoring effective mitigation or reduction actions against the identified risks.
Risk prevention is achieved through a variety of mechanisms that include ensuring that a
suite of operational policy and procedures are in place that follow ‘best practice’ and
guidance and which are kept under regular review; the commissioning of fraud prevention
support, including preventative and investigatory work from the Mersey Internal Audit
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Agency and the circulation of fraud prevention bulletins and alerts across the CCG;
awareness of and adherence to NHS England policy, advice and direction.
6.6 The Clinical Commissioning Group Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is in place that ensures that effective processes and
procedures are in place across the clinical commissioning group to ensure it delivers its
policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate
the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to
manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness.
The system of internal control is based upon an on-going process designed to:
•

Identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the organisation’s policies,
aims and objectives

•

Evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be
realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.

The risk management agenda is co-ordinated through the senior management team,
reporting to the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee and Governing Body. The Governing
Body regularly reviews the corporate risk register / assurance framework to provide the
Governing Body with ‘reasonable’ assurance that the internal systems are functioning
effectively. By design this is a high level document that is used to inform and give
assurance to the Governing Body that the risks to achieving key objectives are recognised
and that controls are in place or being developed to manage those risks. Risks are rated,
and controls that will address these risks are identified, gaps in control or assurance are
noted and action plans to close gaps summarised and updated. Potential and actual
sources of assurance are identified and the latter are also rated for the level of assurance
provided.
The CCG commissions a range of training programmes which include specific mandatory
training for particular staff groups which aim to minimise the risks inherent in their daily
work activities. Information Governance training is mandatory for all staff. Targeted training
is provided to designated risk leads to support the development of risk registers.
6.7 Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by
which organisations within the NHS that commission or provide services, manage
information they hold about patients and employees, in particular personal identifiable
data. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an information
governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to the clinical
commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal information is
dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.
The CCG has an active programme of Information Governance Assurance with delegated
authority from the Governing Body to the Finance, Procurement and Contracting
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Committee. Clear management arrangements are in place with the Head of Strategy and
Outcomes identified as the Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO), the Chief Clinical
Information Officer, Dr Simon Bowers, is the Caldicott Guardian, with identified Information
Asset Owners (IAO) in place throughout the organisation.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems
and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. We have
established an information governance management framework and are developing
information governance processes and procedures in line with the information governance
toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake annual information governance training and
have implemented a staff information governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of
their information governance roles and responsibilities.
The CCG declared Level 2 compliance against all necessary standards and compliance
indicators for 2014/15 and has an external audit opinion of 'Significant Assurance' to
support the self-declaration. The CCG has complied and agreed with all requirements laid
out in the Information Governance Assurance Statement for use of Health and Social Care
Information Centre services.
Through establishing robust systems and processes the CCG has been granted
Accredited Safe Haven (ASH) status by the Health and Social Care Information Centre
(HSCIC), demonstrating confidence in the CCG to manage personal information safely
and securely.
Liverpool CCG was accredited as a Controlled Environment for Finance (CEfF) during the
year. The CEfF is a new concept which allows CCGs and CSUs to see Patient
Confidential Data under the terms of Section 251 and in accordance with Regulation 5 of
the Health Service (Control of Patient Information) Regulations 2002.
This approval provides the legal basis for Health Service Providers to disclose patient
confidential information to the Liverpool CCG for the purposes of invoice validation and
has allowed the Liverpool CCG to continue to work efficiently according to our statutory
duties
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents.
We have implemented robust information risk assessment and management procedures
and continue to work hard to establish a strong information risk culture throughout the
organisation.
During 2014/15 the CCG itself did not directly cause or experience a serious untoward
incident concerning the loss of data and / or breach of confidentiality.
The following Serious Incidents (SIs) were reported by providers with whom the CCG
commissions services during the year 2014/15:

PROVIDERS

TOTAL

TYPE OF SI

INCIDENT DESCRIPTION

Alder Hey NHS
Foundation Trust

1

Confidential
information
leak

Parent received clinical history of another
child with same name. Letter had been
copied in error to three external agencies.

Liverpool Heart &
Chest Hospital
NHS Foundation
Trust

1

Confidential
information
leak

A Fresenius Medical Care van contracted
to the Trust to provide a domiciliary
service for delivery dialysis products had
been stolen in the Liverpool area. A list of
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patient identifiable information was within
the van.
Liverpool
Community Health
NHS Trust

Mersey Care NHS
Trust

2

5

Confidential
information
leak (x 2)

1. External contract with HR services
provider cancelled. Non-LCH data
included in information return which
included pensions and payroll for staff
from other NHS Trusts.
2. Incident classed as ‘secure breach’
(NHS to NHS) of confidential &
sensitive staff information between
LCH & NHS England relating to LCH
staff which was later published by
NHS England on their portal.

Confidential
information
leak x 5

1. Two packages sent by Mersey Care
NHS Trust to West Cheshire CCG via
Royal Mail containing 4 sets of patient
records but not addressed to specific
recipient.
2. Minutes of a meeting circulated to
Mersey Care NHS Trust staff
containing the names of 42 service
users (some with clinical details)
3. Assessments for four individual
service users sent to wrong email
address (unclear if receiving email
address was ‘active’)
4. Service user records containing
extensive clinical information sent to
wrong address following Subject
Access Request.
5. Staff had been accessing the record
of service user without authority or
involvement in their care.

6.8 Pension
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control
measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the scheme
regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary,
employer’s contributions and payments into the scheme are in accordance with the
scheme rules, and that member pension scheme records are accurately updated in
accordance with the timescales detailed in the regulations.
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6.9 Equality, Diversity & Human Rights Obligations
Control measures are in place to ensure that the clinical commissioning group complies
with the required public sector equality duty set out in the Equality Act 2010.
6.10 Sustainable Development Obligations
The clinical commissioning group is required to report its progress in delivering against
sustainable development indicators (see Section 2.9).
We have developed our approach to assess risks, enhance our performance and reduce
our impact, including carbon reduction and climate change adaptation objectives. This
includes establishing mechanisms to embed social and environmental sustainability across
policy development, business planning and in commissioning.
We will ensure the clinical commissioning group complies with its obligations under The
Climate Change Act 2008, including the Adaptation Reporting power, and The Public
Services (Social Value) Act 2012.
We are also setting out our commitments as a socially responsible employer.
6.11 Risk Assessment in Relation to Governance, Risk Management & Internal
Control
Risks as already described are assessed and managed in accordance with the Risk
Management Strategy approved by the Governing Body. The effective management of risk
is the responsibility of all members of staff and Governing Body members, who all play a
role in ensuring that risks are managed and mitigated in an effective and sustainable
manner. Strategic and significant operational risks are reported to the Governing Body via
the Corporate Risk Register / Assurance Framework and are subject to regular review,
reassessment and profiling.
The major risks to governance, risk management and internal control can be summarised
as follows:

Governance:
•

Committee structures and effectiveness – during the latter half of 2014/15 the
Governing Body identified that the Committee Structures established required some
further revision and these are reflected in the amended and approved CCG
Constitution.

•

Conflicts of interest and members of the Governing Body – the Approvals
Committee has continued to oversee and decide upon the allocation of resources
and/or commissioning decisions where monies are to be invested or benefits
derived in general practice. The Committee membership does not include a GP or
primary care practice Governing Body member, thereby providing strengthened
governance surrounding matters affecting or impacting upon practice income. A
revised and strengthened Conflicts of Interest Policy has been introduced during
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2014/15 and fully meets the requirements set out by NHS England with regards to
future delegated commissioning arrangements.
Risk Management:
•

During the year a number of new risks have been added on to the Corporate Risk
Register reflective of the continued emphasis upon strong and effective governance
arrangements. These risks have included performance and service delivery issues
at a number of Trusts with regards to the delivery of NHS Constitution Standards;
the ‘negative’ outcome of several CQC provider inspections; and the delivery and
performance of support services by the NWCSU. All of these risks can be explored
in detail by examination of the CCG Board papers, available on the CCG website,
where details of the original risk, an assessment of the consequences and
likelihood of the impact of the risk and the required mitigation and actions taken by
the CCG can be found.
In the latter half of the year three potentially significant strategic risks going forward
were identified: the failure of the NWCSU to gain approval to join the lead provider
framework and the consequent requirement for the CCG to determine alternative
means of providing certain support services to the CCG in the second half of
2015/16; the likely cessation of certain primary care support services (PCSS)
currently provided by NHSE through ‘Central Operations Merseyside’ and the
transition in 2015/16 to a new national contract and contractor for PCSS; and the
potential financial and other risks associated with the CCG adopting delegated
primary care (GP) commissioning responsibilities from NHS England.
In all three cases the risks have been presented to the Governing Body meeting in
public session(s) and a variety of mitigating actions and steps are being taken in
response to the risks that will continue unresolved in part into 2015/16. The impact
and consequences of the risks are subject to ongoing scrutiny and attention as the
CCG seeks to agree and implement acceptable and sustainable solutions going
forward.

Internal Control:
•

Effectiveness of Commissioning Support Service Unit functions provided under the
auspices of NHS England – during the year the CCG has continued to closely
monitor and hold to account the North West Commissioning Support Unit for the
limited range of services it provides to the CCG. During the year the CSU applied
for and was subsequently rejected for inclusion in the national service delivery
framework. As a consequence the CCG has carried out an assessment of its
support requirements going forward and a final set of recommendations as to which
services it might ‘make, share or buy’ will be presented to the Governing Body in
early 2015/16.

Overall the CCG is vigilant to the potential risks to the CCG operating licence and
maintains a system of strong internal control and risk management. However no
organisation can be complacent and the CCG recognises this and has taken steps during
the year in a number of key areas to ensure that compliance with the operating licence is
maintained and protected.
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•

Effective governance arrangements – as highlighted above the CCG keeps under
constant review the governance structures and committees that support the
Governing body in the discharge of its role and responsibilities

•

Performance information – during the year the corporate performance report which
is presented formally on a monthly basis to the Governing Body has been subject to
regular review, refinement and further strengthening so as to fully meet the needs
and requirements of the Governing Body and provide them with assurance as to
compliance with the CCG’s licence and statutory duties.

6.12 Review of Economy, Efficiency & Effectiveness of the Use of Resources
The Governing Body informed by its committees and in particular the Finance, Contracts
and Procurement Committee, oversees and directs the use of the CCG resources. In
doing so Governing Body members benefit from the experience and skills of a strong and
competent senior management team, who work within a strong framework of performance
management, benchmarking and comparative assessment. Programmes of work and
service redesign and transformational programmes are all clinically led by Governing Body
members who are supported by project leads and a project management infrastructure.
All significant investment decisions are subject to a rigorous assessment and prioritisation
process that is applied in such a way as to determine the relative effectiveness of the
proposal, including the impact upon key strategic outcomes and objectives. Use is also
made of data and support from our public health colleagues in the local authority. Where
available, use is particularly made of comparative data, including that from the ‘Core Cities’
to ensure a rigour behind all decisions. Support is also provided by our internal auditors
from the Mersey Internal Audit Agency who provide an important source of objective
advice, assessment and oversight.
6.13 Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management & Internal
Control
As Accounting Officer I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control within the clinical commissioning group.
6.14 Capacity to Handle Risk
The risk management process is led by the Head of Operations & Corporate Performance
who provides professional leadership and oversight of both the overall process and its
application throughout the organisation. Underpinned by a revised Risk Management
Strategy and access to best practice and guidance, staff in lead roles across the CCG are
appropriately trained and supported to ensure that the risk management approach is
embedded at all levels in the CCG. Throughout the year use is made of internal and
external opportunities, to share and learn from best practice, including the opportunities for
shared learning from both our internal auditors and also legal advisers who both regularly
provide professional seminars and share good practice guidance.
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6.15 Review of Effectiveness
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of
the internal auditors and the Senior Managers and clinical leads within the clinical
commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the
internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My
review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management
letter and other reports.
The Corporate Risk Register / Board Assurance Framework itself provides me with
evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the clinical commissioning
group achieving its principles objectives have been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of
the system of internal control by the Governing Body, the Audit Committee and the Quality,
Safety & Outcomes Committee, if appropriate and a plan to address weaknesses and
ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.
During the year the Governing Body and Audit Committee have kept under regular review
the application of the system of internal control as the organisation has journeyed through
the first twelve months of formal operation. With the support of Internal Audit where areas
for improvement have been identified, appropriate actions have been taken and changes
made to ensure that the systems in place remain robust and effective. The formal process
of a quarterly assurance review of the CCG by the NHS England Cheshire & Merseyside
Sub Regional Team has also provided a further external insight and commentary as to the
performance of the CCG.
Overall the system of internal control has been found to be effective and has met the
needs of the organisation. However as already identified there have been some areas
where issues and gaps in control have been identified for example the effectiveness of
Commissioning Support Service and specific prompt action has been taken to address
these gaps in an effective and sustainable manner.
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of
risk management, governance and internal control.
The Head of Internal Audit Mr Tim Crowley, Mersey Internal Audit Agency has concluded
that:
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Source: MIAA Director of Audit Opinion, April 2015.
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During the year Internal Audit issued no audit reports with a conclusion of no assurance.
6.16 Data Quality
During the year the Governing Body has on occasion expressed some concerns as to the
quality of data provided by the Commissioning Support Service and in some cases by
individual provider Trusts to the service. Immediate steps were taken to hold the CSU to
account for the delivery of quality information and data through the contracting process,
including the withholding of payments where data was not of the required quality or
timeliness. Similarly action was taken against individual providers whose data was not of
an acceptable standard. The provision of a significant analytical resource internally within
the CCG has assisted greatly in ensuring that the Governing body has access to data of
the highest quality and in a timely fashion.
6.17 Business Critical Models
The CCG has been granted Accredited Safe Haven Status (ASH) by the Health & Social
Care Information Centre through the establishment of robust systems and processes,
demonstrating confidence in the CCG to manage personal identifiable information (PID)
safely and securely. All of the CCGs Business critical models have been identified and
noted on the CCG Information Asset Register.
6.18 Data Security
We have submitted a satisfactory level of compliance with the information governance
toolkit assessment. The CCG has submitted Level 2 compliance against all necessary
standards and compliance indicators for 2014/15 and has an internal audit opinion of
'Significant Assurance' to support the self-declaration.
The CCG has not directly been the source of any serious untoward data breaches.
6.19 Discharge of Statutory Functions
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the clinical commissioning group
and explained within the Corporate Governance Framework were developed with
extensive expert external legal input, to ensure compliance with the all relevant legislation.
That legal advice also informed the matters reserved for Membership Body and Governing
Body decision and the scheme of delegation.
In light of the Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has reviewed all of the
statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that
the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative requirements associated
with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on
delegation of those functions.
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Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a senior manager
lead. Heads of Service have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary
capability and capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory
duties.
6.20 Conclusion
No significant internal control issues have been identified other than those risks highlighted
above and in particular those matters concerning the Commissioning Support Service and
which have both been identified in the main body of the Governance Statement above.

TO BE SIGNED

Katherine Sheerin
Accountable Officer
28th May 2015
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF NHS LIVERPOOL
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group
for the year ended 31 March 2015 under the Audit Commission Act 1998. The financial
statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of
Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash
Flows and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in
their preparation is applicable law and the accounting policies directed by the NHS
Commissioning Board with the consent of the Secretary of State as relevant to the
National Health Service in England.
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration Report that is subject to audit,
being:
•

the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers and related narrative notes
on page 75

•

the table of pension benefits of senior managers and related narrative notes on
page 76

•

the table of pay multiples and related narrative notes on page 73 and 75.

This report is made solely to the members of NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group
in accordance with Part II of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and for no other purpose, as
set out in paragraph 44 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited
Bodies published by the Audit Commission in March 2014. To the fullest extent permitted
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG)'s members and the CCG as a body, for our audit work, for
this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the
Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express
an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards also require us to comply with
the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s
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circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Accountable Officer; and
the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial
and non-financial information in the annual report which comprises the Member Practices'
Introduction, Strategic Report, Members’ Report, Remuneration Report, Statement of
Accountable Officer Responsibilities and Governance Statement to identify material
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is
apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge
acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent
material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.
In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that
the expenditure and income reported in the financial statements have been applied to the
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities
which govern them.
Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reported in the financial
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.
Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
•
•

give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS Liverpool Clinical
Commissioning Group as at 31 March 2015 and of its net operating costs for the
year then ended; and
have been prepared properly in accordance with the accounting policies directed by
the NHS Commissioning Board with the consent of the Secretary of State as
relevant to the National Health Service in England.

Opinion on other matters
In our opinion:
•

•

the part of the Remuneration Report subject to audit has been prepared properly in
accordance with the requirements directed by the NHS Commissioning Board with
the consent of the Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health Service in
England; and
the information given in the annual report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
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Matters on which we report by exception
We report to you if:
• in our opinion the governance statement does not reflect compliance with NHS
England’s Guidance;
• we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 19 of the Audit
Commission Act 1998 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an
officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision involving unlawful
expenditure, or is about to take, or has taken, unlawful action likely to cause a loss
or deficiency; or
• we issue a report in the public interest under section 8 of the Audit Commission Act
1998.
We have nothing to report in these respects.
Conclusion on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources
Respective responsibilities of the CCG and auditor
The CCG is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and
governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these
arrangements.
We are required under Section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to satisfy ourselves
that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources. The Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit
Commission requires us to report to you our conclusion relating to proper arrangements,
having regard to relevant criteria specified by the Audit Commission in October 2014.
We report if significant matters have come to our attention which prevent us from
concluding that the CCG has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor
have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources
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We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having
regard to the guidance on the specified criteria, published by the Audit Commission in
October 2014, as to whether the CCG has proper arrangements for:
•
•

securing financial resilience
challenging how it secures economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

The Audit Commission has determined these two criteria as those necessary for us to
consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in
place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources for the year ended 31 March 2015.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on
whether, in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place proper arrangements to
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
Conclusion
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria published
by the Audit Commission in October 2014, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects,
NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group put in place proper arrangements to secure
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ending 31 March
2015.
Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Liverpool Clinical
Commissioning Group in accordance with the requirements of the Audit Commission Act
1998 and the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission.

Robin Baker
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor
Royal Liver Building
Liverpool
L3 1PS
28 May 2015
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the Year Ended 31 March
2015
2014-15

2013-14

Note

£’000

£000

Gross employee benefits

4

5,688

4,700

Other costs

5

768,324

740,079

Other operating revenue

2

(28,417)

(30,157)

Net operating costs before interest

745,595

714,622

Net operating costs for the financial year

745,595

714,622

Administration Costs and Programme Expenditure

Of which:
Administration Costs
Gross employee benefits

4

3,815

3,617

Other costs

5

7,603

7,933

Other operating revenue

2

(111)

(4,221)

11,307

7,329

Net administration costs before interest

Programme Expenditure
Gross employee benefits

4

1,873

1,083

Other costs

5

760,721

732,146

Other operating revenue

2

(28,306)

(25,936)

Net programme expenditure before interest

734,288

707,293

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year

745,595

714,622

The notes on pages 106 to 139 form part of this statement.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2015
31 March 2015

31 March 2014

Note

£000

£000

8

3,939

11,458

9

2

1

Total current assets

3,941

11,459

Total assets

3,941

11,459

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities:
Trade and other payables

10

(41,895)

(33,946)

Provisions

11

(750)

0

Total current liabilities

(42,645)

(33,946)

Total Liabilities Employed

(38,704)

(22,487)

General fund

(38,704)

(22,487)

Total taxpayers' equity:

(38,704)

(22,487)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity

The notes on pages 106 to 139 form part of this statement.
The financial statements on pages 102 to 139 were approved by the Governing Body on
and signed on its behalf by:

Katherine Sheerin
Accountable Officer
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity for the Year Ended 31 March 2015
General
fund

Revaluation
reserve

Other
reserves

Total
reserves

£000

£000

£000

£000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15
Balance at 1 April 2014

(22,487)

-

-

(22,487)

Net operating costs for the financial year

(745,595)

-

-

(745,595)

Net Recognised CCG Expenditure for the
Financial Year

(745,595)

-

(745,595)

Changes in the Liverpool CCG taxpayers
equity for 2014-15

-

Net funding

729,378

-

-

729,378

Balance at 31 March 2015

(38,704)

-

-

(38,704)

General
fund

Revaluation
reserve

Other
reserves

Total
reserves

£000

£000

£000

£000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14
Balance at 1 April 2013

-

-

-

-

Changes in the Liverpool CCG taxpayers
equity for 2013-14
Net operating costs for the financial year

(714,622)

Net Recognised CCG Expenditure for the
Financial Year

(714,622)

Net funding

692,135

Balance at 31 March 2014

(22,487)

-

-

-

-

(714,622)

(714,622)
-

-

-

-

692,135

(22,487)
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Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended 31 March 2015
2014-15

2013-14

Note

£’000

£000

2, 5

(745,595)

(714,622)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating costs for the financial year
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables

8

7,519

(11,458)

Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables

10

7,949

33,946

Increase/(decrease) in provisions

11

750

0

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

(729,377)

(692,134)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing

(729,377)

(692,134)

Net funding received

729,378

692,135

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities

729,378

692,135

1

1

2

1

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at
the End of the Financial Year

9
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1.

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of Clinical Commissioning
Groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by
the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the Manual for Accounts 2014-15 issued by the
Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Manual for Accounts
follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are
meaningful and appropriate to Clinical Commissioning Groups, as determined by HM
Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the
Manual for Accounts permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which
is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the Clinical
Commissioning Group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected.
The particular policies adopted by the Clinical Commissioning Group are described
below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material
in relation to the accounts.
1.1

Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis. Public sector bodies
are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service
in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that
service in published documents.
Where a Clinical Commissioning Group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its
services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector
entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of
Financial Statements. If services will continue to be provided the Financial Statements
are prepared on the going concern basis.
1.2 Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to
account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets,
inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
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1.3

Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations

Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the
public sector. Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely.
They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer from one public sector
body to another.
1.4

Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group

Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption
accounting in line with the Government Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM
Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require retrospective
adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for under merger
accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities
account for their transactions in the period in which they took place, with no
restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector.
Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from
operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are
accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to income and expenditure
entries.
1.5

Pooled Budgets

Where the Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled budget
arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006 the Clinical
Commissioning Group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and
expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance
with the pooled budget agreement.
If the Clinical Commissioning Group is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the Clinical
Commissioning Group recognises:
•

The assets the Clinical Commissioning Group controls;

•

The liabilities the Clinical Commissioning Group incurs;

•

The expenses the Clinical Commissioning Group incurs; and,
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•

The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the income from the pooled budget
activities.

If the Clinical Commissioning Group is involved in a “jointly controlled assets”
arrangement, in addition to the above, the Clinical Commissioning Group recognises:
•

The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the jointly controlled assets
(classified according to the nature of the assets);

•

The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,

•

The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.

1.6

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies,
management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are
continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or, in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
1.6.1

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see
below) that management has made in the process of applying the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:
•

Accruals have been included in the financial statements to the extent that the
CCG recognises an obligation at the 31 March 2015 for which it had not been
invoiced. Estimates of accruals are undertaken by management based on the
information available at the end of the financial year, together with past
experience.

•

Provisions are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Clinical Commissioning Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a
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reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Management
have made an assessment for the period ended 31 March 2015 these are
disclosed at note 11 – Provisions.
1.6.2

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of
applying the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
•

Activity is accounted for in the financial year it takes place, and not necessarily
when cash payments are made or received. The CCG has a robust process for
identifying that activities have taken place and for identifying the appropriate
accounting period. Therefore the degree of estimation uncertainty is considered
to be low.

1.7

Revenue

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that,
performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following
year, that income is deferred.
1.8
1.8.1

Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in
which the service is received from employees.
1.8.2

Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions
Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS
employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the
Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a
way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme
assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined
contribution scheme: the cost to the Clinical Commissioning Group of participating in
the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the
accounting period.
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For early retirements other than those due to ill health, the additional pension liabilities
are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is
charged to expenditure at the time the Clinical Commissioning Group commits itself to
the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
1.9

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.
1.9.1

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the
inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease
payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the Clinical Commissioning
Group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently
as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are
separated and individually assessed as to whether they are operating or finance
leases.
1.9.2

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the
amount of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance
lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate
of return on the Clinical Commissioning Group’s net investment outstanding in respect
of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
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lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
1.10 Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or
services have been received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration
payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the Clinical
Commissioning Group has a present legal or constructive obligation, which occurs
when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.
1.11 Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash is shown net of bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the Clinical Commissioning
Group’s cash management.
1.12 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Clinical
Commissioning Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is
the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is
the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
•

Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 1.50%

•

Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.05%

•

Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Plus 2.20%

•

All employee early departures: 1.30%

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected
to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
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virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.
1.13 Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Clinical
Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority
which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to
expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for
all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the Clinical Commissioning
Group.
1.14 Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The Clinical Commissioning Group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and
the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the
Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation
Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The
annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular
claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.
1.15 Continuing healthcare risk pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme has been introduced by NHS England for continuing
healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013. Under the scheme
Clinical Commissioning Group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to
settle the claims.
1.16 Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes
party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the
goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the
contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
•

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;

•

Held to maturity investments;

•

Available for sale financial assets; and,
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•

Loans and receivables.

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition.
1.16.1 Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit & Loss
At the end of the reporting period, the Clinical Commissioning Group assesses
whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value through profit and
loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective
interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure
to the extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

1.17 Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the
Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have
been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been
discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise,
financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value.
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1.18 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group are outside the scope of
VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not
recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or
included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged
or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
1.19 Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated
when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they
are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control
procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different
categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in
expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good
through insurance cover had the Clinical Commissioning Group not been bearing its
own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue
expenditure).
1.20 Joint Operations
Joint operations are activities undertaken by the Clinical Commissioning Group in
conjunction with one or more other parties but which are not performed through a
separate entity. The Clinical Commissioning Group records its share of the income and
expenditure; gains and losses; assets and liabilities; and cash flows.

1.21 Research & Development
Research and development expenditure is charged in the year in which it is incurred,
except insofar as development expenditure relates to a clearly defined project and the
benefits of it can reasonably be regarded as assured. Expenditure so deferred is
limited to the value of future benefits expected and is amortised through the Statement
of Comprehensive Net Expenditure on a systematic basis over the period expected to
benefit from the project. It should be re-valued on the basis of current cost. The
amortisation is calculated on the same basis as depreciation.
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1.22 Accounting Standards that have been Issued but have not yet been
adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards
and Interpretations to be applied in 2014-15, all of which are subject to consultation:
•

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments

•

IFRS 12: Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

•

IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement

•

IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the
accounts for 2014-15, were they applied in that year.
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2.

Other Operating Revenue
2014-15

2014-15

2014-15

2013-14

Total

Admin

Programme

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

Education, training and research

15

15

-

29

Charitable and other contributions to
revenue expenditure: non-NHS

38

-

38

57

25,100

96

25,004

26,621

3,264

-

3,264

3,450

28,417

111

28,306

30,157

Non-patient care services to other
bodies
Other revenue

Total other operating revenue

Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of
healthcare or healthcare services.

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is
drawn down directly into the bank account of the CCG and credited to the General
Fund.

3.

Revenue
2014-15

2014-15

2014-15

2013-14

Total

Admin

Programme

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

From rendering of services

28,417

111

28,306

30,157

Total

28,417

111

28,306

30,157

Revenue is totally from the supply of services. The Clinical Commissioning Group
receives no revenue from the sale of goods.
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4.

Employee Benefits & Staff Numbers

4.1

Employee benefits

4.1.1

Employee benefits expenditure

2014-15

Total

Total

Permanent
Employees

Admin
Total
Other

201314

Programme

Admin
Total

Permanent
Employees

Admin
Other

Programme
Total

Permanent
Employees

Programme

Total

Other

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Salaries and wages*

4,545

4,396

149

3,141

2,992

149

1,404

1,404

-

3,885

Social security costs

403

403

-

281

281

-

121

121

-

357

Employer contributions to NHS
pension scheme

568

568

-

393

393

-

176

176

-

458

Other pension costs

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Other post-employment benefits

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Other employment benefits

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

172

172

-

-

-

-

172

172

-

-

5,688

5,539

149

3,815

3,666

149

1,873

1,873

-

4,700

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

5,688

5,539

149

3,815

3,666

149

1,873

1,873

-

4,700

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

5,688

5,539

149

3,815

3,666

149

1,873

1,873

-

4,700

Employee Benefits

Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits
expenditure
Less recoveries in respect of
employee benefits
Total - Net admin employee benefits
including capitalised costs
Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding
capitalised costs

*NHS Liverpool CCG policy is for all annual leave due to be taken in the year it is earned, the cost of leave earned but not taken is minimal and has not therefore been included in expenditure.
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4.2

Average number of people employed
2014-15

2013-14

Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

Total

Number

Number

Number

Number

104

2

106

92

-

-

-

-

r

Total CCG
Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people
engaged on capital projects

4.3

Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements

2014-15

2013-14

Number

Number
919

Total days lost
Total staff years
Average working days lost

919

455

4

2

260

228
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4.4

Exit packages agreed in the financial year

2014-15
Compulsory
redundancies
Number

£'000

2014-15

2014-15

Other agreed
departures

Total

Number

£'000

Number

£'000

Less than £10,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£10,001 to £25,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£25,001 to £50,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£50,001 to £100,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£100,001 to £150,000

1

138

-

-

1

138*

£150,001 to £200,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

Over £200,001

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total

1

138

-

-

1

138

Departures where
special payments
have been made
Number

£

Less than £10,000

-

-

£10,001 to £25,000

-

-

£25,001 to £50,000

1

34*

£50,001 to £100,000

-

-

£100,001 to £150,000

-

-

£150,001 to £200,000

-

-

Over £200,001

-

-

Total

1

34

* The payments above relate to one individual

Ill-health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme. Where the Clinical
Commissioning Group has agreed early retirements, the additional costs would be met
by the Clinical Commissioning Group and not by the NHS Pension Scheme.
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no ill health retirements in 2014/15 (2013/14:
Nil).
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4.5

Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions
Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under these provisions can be found on the
NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP
practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in
England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable
NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the
cost to the NHS Body of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the
contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do
not differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a
formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal
valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An
outline of these follows:
4.5.1

Accounting valuation

A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at
the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous
accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the
current reporting period, and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for
financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2015,
is based on valuation data as 31 March 2014, updated to 31 March 2015 with
summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial
assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations,
and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme
actuary report, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and
Wales) Pension Accounts, published annually. These accounts can be viewed on the
NHS Pensions website. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
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4.5.2

Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits
due under the scheme (taking into account its recent demographic experience), and to
recommend the contribution rates.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was
completed for the year ending 31 March 2012.
The Scheme Regulations allow contribution rates to be set by the Secretary of State
for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the
Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer representatives as deemed
appropriate.
4.5.3

Scheme provisions

The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below.
This list is an illustrative guide only, and is not intended to detail all the benefits
provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met before these
benefits can be obtained:
•

The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on
1/80th for the 1995 section and of the best of the last three years pensionable
pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of reckonable pay
per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the
Scheme Regulations have their annual pensions based upon total pensionable
earnings over the relevant pensionable service.

•

With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their
annual pension for an additional tax free lump sum, up to a maximum amount
permitted under HMRC rules. This new provision is known as “pension
commutation”.

•

Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the
Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are based on changes in retail prices in the
twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year. From 201112 the Consumer Price Index (CPI) has been used and replaced the Retail Prices
Index (RPI).

•

Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the
scheme who are permanently incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively through
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illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year’s pensionable pay for death
in service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is
payable.
•

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension
liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the
additional costs is charged to the employer.

•

Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to
money purchase AVC’s run by the Scheme’s approved providers or by other Free
Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.

•

Changes to the NHS Scheme are effective from 1 April 2015. The main features
of the new NHS Scheme include:


A Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) scheme, benefits based
on a proportion of pensionable earnings each year.



A build up rate of 1/54th of each year’s pensionable earnings with no limit
on the number of years that can be taken into account



Revaluation of active members’ benefits in line with inflation.



A normal pension age at which benefits can be claimed without reduction
for early payment linked to entitlement to State Pension.
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5.

Operating Expenses
2014-15

2014-15

2014-15

2013-14

Total

Admin

Programme

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

5,140

3,267

1,873

4,242

548

548

-

458

5,688

3,815

1,873

4,700

9,475

2,659

6,816

3,345

Services from foundation trusts

170,507

-

170,507

159,550

Services from other NHS trusts

384,180

2

384,178

388,444

4

-

4

21

70,561

-

70,561

56,870

1,175

1,175

-

574

424

12

412

9,307

Consultancy services

5,255

70

5,185

2,735

Establishment

6,849

1,001

5,848

6,316

Transport

9

3

6

40

Premises

6,873

25

6,848

6,809

Audit fees

114

114

-

116

Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body
members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits
Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England

Services from other NHS bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and lay membership body and governing body
members
Supplies and services – general

Other auditor’s remuneration
-

Internal audit services*

85

85

-

112

-

Other Services

11

11

-

-

Prescribing costs

86,292

-

86,292

85,467

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS

21,067

1,343

19,724

17,725

Other professional fees excl. audit

251

234

17

183

Grants to other bodies

872

-

872

2,039

2,071

-

2,071

134

Education and training

198

117

81

131

Provisions

750

750

-

-

1,055

-

1,055

-

Other expenditure

246

2

244

161

Total other costs

768,324

7,603

760,721

740,079

Total operating expenses

774,012

11,418

762,594

744,779

Research and development (excluding staff costs)

CHC Risk Pool contributions

*Internal audit services during the year were provided by Mersey Internal Audit Agency

122

PAGE 125

14/05/15
6.

Better Payment Practice Code

6.1

Measure of compliance
2014-15

2014-15

2013-14

2013-14

Number

£000

Number

£000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year

11,774

108,904

9,152

84,347

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

11,352

105,506

8,790

81,613

96.42%

96.88%

96.04%

96.76%

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year

3,655

578,055

2,337

562,317

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target

3,524

574,979

2,211

557,388

96.42%

99.47%

94.61%

99.12%

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within
target

NHS Payables

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within
target

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Clinical Commissioning Group to aim
to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice,
whichever is later.
7.

Operating Leases
7.1

As lessee

The Clinical Commissioning Group has arrangements in place with NHS Property
Services and Community Health Partnerships for the use of property assets. Although
no formal contracts are in place the substance of the transactions involved convey the
right of the Clinical Commissioning Group to use the property assets. In accordance
with IAS 17 and the Department of Health Manual for Accounts 2014-15 payments are
required to be disclosed as operating lease payments. Payments made in 2014-15 are
shown below:
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7.1.1 Payments recognised as an expense

2014-15

2013-14

Land

Buildings

Other

Total

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

4,910

4,511

Payments recognised as an expense

Minimum lease payments

-

4,894

16

Contingent rents

-

-

-

-

-

Sub-lease payments

-

-

-

-

-

Total

-

4,894

16

4,910

4,511

During 2014/15 the Clinical Commissioning Group have reviewed accommodation
arrangements and have agreed to exercise rights in the existing lease arrangements to
terminate the current lease. There is a break clause in the current lease in September
2015. Key determinants in reaching the decision to relocate are:
•

The level of costs associated with the current lease.

•

Lack of suitable expansion space within the current accommodation.

•

Problems associated with the functionality and environmental conditions of the
current building e.g. Physical barriers to access.

Arrangements to secure suitable alternative accommodation reflecting current and
future needs more effectively have progressed in 2014/15 and formal lease
arrangements are being agreed. It is intended that the current premises will be vacated
and that relocation will take place in September 2015.
7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
While our arrangements with Community Health Partnerships Ltd and NHS Property
Services Ltd fall within the definition of operating leases, the rental charge for the
remainder of the current lease, including void spaces, has not yet been agreed.
Consequently, this note does not include future minimum lease payments for these
arrangements.
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8.

Trade & Other Receivables
Current

Current

2014-15

2013-14

£000

£000

NHS receivables: Revenue

2,039

4,156

Non-NHS receivables: Revenue

1,324

7,220

Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income

383

3

VAT

193

78

-

1

3,939

11,458

Other receivables

Total
There were no non –current receivables in 2014/15 (2013/14 – nil)
Included above:

Prepaid pensions contributions

-

The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by
Government to provide funding to Clinical Commissioning Groups to commission
services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.
An assessment of the credit quality of receivables neither past due or impaired
concluded that no credit scoring is considered necessary.
8.1

Receivables past their due date but not impaired

2014-15

2013/14

£000

£000

By up to three months

7

5

By three to six months

125

21

-

-

132

26

By more than six months

Total
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9.

Cash & Cash Equivalents
2014-15

2013-14

£000

£000

Balance at 1 April 2014

1

-

Net change in year

1

1

Balance at 31 March 2015

2

1

Cash with the Government Banking Service

1

-

Cash with Commercial banks

-

-

Cash in hand

1

1

Current investments

-

-

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

2

1

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service

-

-

Bank overdraft: Commercial banks

-

-

Total bank overdrafts

-

-

Balance at 31 March 2015

2

1

Made up of:

10.

Trade & Other Payables

Current

Current

2014-15

2013-14

£000

£000

NHS payables: revenue

7,445

6,468

Non-NHS payables: revenue

1,579

5,824

28,377

20,096

Social security costs

-

63

Tax

-

83

4,494

1,412

41,895

33,946

Non-NHS accruals and deferred income

Other payables
Total

There were no non –current payables in 2014/15 (2013/14 – nil)

No liabilities due in future years are included above under arrangements to buy out
liability for early retirement over 5 years. Other payables include £112k outstanding
pension contributions at 31 March 2015 (2013-14 £73k).
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11. Provisions
Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England
is responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims
relating to periods of care before establishment of the Clinical Commissioning Group.
However, the legal liability remains with the CCG. The total value of legacy NHS Continuing
Healthcare provisions accounted for by NHS England on behalf of this CCG at 31 March
2015 is £4.3m (2013/14 - £2.3m.).
The Clinical Commissioning Group had given notice to terminate current lease
arrangements for accommodation procured via NHS Property Services at 31st March 2015.
The financial effects associated with dilapidation costs and known commitments for planned
relocation have been estimated below:
Current

Current

2014-15

2013-14

£000

£000

Other

750

0

Total

750

0

Total current and non-current

750

0

There were no non –current provisions in 2014/15 (2013/14 – nil).
Other

Total

£000

£000

-

-

Arising during the year

750

750

Utilised during the year

-

-

Reversed unused

-

-

Unwinding of discount

-

-

Change in discount rate

-

-

Transfer (to) from other public sector body

-

-

750

750

750

750

Between one and five years

-

-

After five years

-

-

750

750

Balance at 1 April 2014

Balance at 31 March 2015
Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year

Balance at 31 March 2015
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12.

Contingencies

The Clinical Commissioning Group has assessed that the likelihood of contingent
assets and liabilities is remote as at 31 March 2015.
13.

Financial Instruments

13.1 Financial risk management
International Financial Reporting Standard 7: Financial Instrument: Disclosure requires
disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating
or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because the Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding,
it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also,
financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than
would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly
apply. The Clinical Commissioning Group has limited powers to borrow or invest
surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day
operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Clinical
Commissioning Group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within
parameters defined formally within the Clinical Commissioning Group’s standing
financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is
subject to review by the Clinical Commissioning Group’s internal auditors.
13.1.1 Currency risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great
majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The
Clinical Commissioning Group has no overseas operations. The Clinical
Commissioning Group therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
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13.1.2 Interest rate risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure,
subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25
years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the
National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The Clinical Commissioning
Group has no borrowings and therefore has no exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
13.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s revenue comes from
parliamentary funding, the Clinical Commissioning Group has low exposure to credit
risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables
from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
13.1.4 Liquidity risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within revenue and capital
resource limits, which are funded from resources voted annually by Parliament. The
Clinical Commissioning Group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as need arises.
The Clinical Commissioning Group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity
risks.
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13.2 Financial assets

At ‘fair
value
through
profit and
loss’

Loans and
Receivables

Available
for Sale

Total

2014-15

2014-15

2014-15

2014-15

£000

£000

£000

£000

Receivables:
·

NHS

-

2,039

-

2,039

·

Non-NHS

-

1,324

-

1,324

Cash at bank and in hand

-

2

-

2

Other financial assets

-

-

-

-

Total at 31 March 2015

-

3,365

-

3,365

At ‘fair
value
through
profit and
loss’

Loans and
Receivables

Available
for Sale

Total

2013-14

2013-14

2013-14

2013-14

£000

£000

£000

£000

Receivables:
·

NHS

-

4,156

-

4,156

·

Non-NHS

-

7,220

-

7,220

Cash at bank and in hand

-

1

-

1

Other financial assets

-

1

-

1

Total at 31 March 2014

-

11,378

-

11,378
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13.3 Financial liabilities
At ‘fair
value
through
profit and
loss’

Other

Total

2014-15

2014-15

2014-15

£000

£000

£000

Payables:
·

NHS

-

7,445

7,445

·

Non-NHS

-

34,450

34,450

Total at 31 March 2015

-

41,895

41,895

At ‘fair
value
through
profit and
loss’

Other

Total

2013-14

2013-14

2013-14

£000

£000

£000

Payables:
·

NHS

-

6,468

6,468

·

Non-NHS

-

27,332

27,332

Total at 31 March 2014

-

33,800

33,800
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14.

Operating Segments

The Clinical Commissioning Group has only one segment: Commissioning of
Healthcare Services.

Commissioning
of Healthcare
Services

15.

Gross
expenditure

Income

Net
expenditure

Total
assets

Total
liabilities

Net
liabilities

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

774,012

(28,417)

745,595

3,941

(42,645)

(38,704)

774,012

(28,417)

745,595

3,941

(42,645)

(38,704)

Pooled Budgets

The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled budget with Liverpool
City Council. A partnership agreement was entered into by the predecessor
organisation, Liverpool Primary Care Trust, (using powers under Section 75 of the
National Health Service Act 2006) to ‘pool’ budgets from the two organisations for the
creation of a single budget for the provision of Integrated Community Equipment and
Disability Advice Services. The Integrated Equipment Service Partnership came into
effect on 1 January 2004. The CCG procures this service from Liverpool Community
Health Trust who hosts the pool.
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the income and expenditure handled by
the pooled budget in the financial year were:

Income
Expenditure

2014-15

2013-14

£000

£000

-

-

4,090

4,256
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16.

Intra-Government & Other Balances
Current
Receivables

Current
Payables

Current
Receivables

Current
Payables

2014-15

2014-15

2013-14

2013-14

£000

£000

£000

£000

· Other Central Government bodies

194

856

939

1,076

· Local Authorities

733

7,502

6,251

3,220

681

193

3,016

201

· NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts

1,358

7,252

1,140

6,267

Total of balances with NHS bodies:

2,039

7,445

4,156

6,468

-

-

-

146

973

26,092

112

23,036

3,939

41,895

11,458

33,946

Balances with:

Balances with NHS bodies:
· NHS bodies outside the Departmental
Group

· Public corporations and trading funds
· Bodies external to Government

Total balances at 31 March 2015

There were no non –current receivables or payables in 2014/15 (2013/14 receivables – nil
2013/14 payables - nil)
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17. Related Party Transactions
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

Name of Governing
Body member

Practice

Payments
to related
party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Receipts from
Related Party

Amounts due
from Related
Party

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Dr Nadim Fazlani

Edge Hill Health
Centre

393

-

-

-

Dr Simon Bowers

Fulwood Green
Medical Centre

334

-

-

-

Dr Janet Bliss

The Grey Road
Surgery

284

-

-

-

wef 01.06.14

The Elms Medical
Centre

341

-

-

-

Dr Jim Cuthbert

Rutherford Medical
Centre

291

-

-

-

Dr Ed Gaynor to
31.05.14

Brownlow Group
Practice

174

-

-

-

Dr Fiona Lemmens

Aintree Park Group
Practice

698

-

-

-

Dr Jude
Mahadanaarachchi

Dr's Hegde and
Jude's Practice

495

-

-

-

Dr Maurice Smith

Mather Avenue
Surgery

500

-

-

-

Dr Rosie Kaur

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the Clinical
Commissioning Group has had a significant number of material transactions with
entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:
•

NHS England (including commissioning support units);

•

NHS Foundation Trusts;

•

NHS Trusts;

•

NHS Litigation Authority; and,

•

NHS Business Services Authority.

134

PAGE 137

14/05/15
In addition, the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a number of material
transactions with other government departments and other central and local
government bodies.
The most significant of these transactions are listed below:

Name

Payments to
related
party

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related Party

Amounts due
from Related
Party

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

NHS England

3,418

817

-

668

North West CSU

3,798

-

133

-

Liverpool Community Health NHS Trust

78,228

-

-

662

Mersey Care NHS Trust

68,861

-

431

-

North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust

19,661

-

33

-

Royal Liverpool & Broadgreen University
Hospitals NHS Trust

200,321

-

4,327

-

St Helens & Knowsley Hospitals NHS Trust

17,761

-

2

-

Aintree University Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust

76,542

-

167

-

Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust

28,900

-

-

538

Liverpool Heart and Chest NHS Foundation
Trust

5,505

-

133

-

37,240

-

538

-

South Staffordshire and Shropshire NHS
Foundation Trust

5,724

-

8

-

Clatterbridge Cancer Centre NHS
Foundation Trust

9,619

-

-

-

St Helens Clinical Commissioning Group

2,005

35

4

-

965

-

-

-

17,126

21,494

7,447

733

1,891

-

92

1

Department of Health

-

1,314

-

-

Technology Strategy Board

-

3,250

-

740

4,894

-

764

-

Liverpool Women's Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust

Wirral University Teaching Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust
Liverpool City Council
NHS Property Services

Community Health Partnership
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18.

Events After the Reporting Period
There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the
financial statements of the Clinical Commissioning Group.

19.

Losses & Special Payments
The total number of losses and special payments cases, and their total value, was as
follows:
Special Payments
Total
Number of
Cases

Total
Value of
Cases

2014-15

2014-15

Number

£'000

Compensation payments

2

1

Extra contractual Payments

1

34

Ex gratia payments

-

-

Extra statutory extra regulatory payments

-

-

Special severance payments

-

-

Total

3

35

There were no losses in 2014/15 (2013/14 – nil). There were no special payments in
2013/14.
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20.

Financial Performance Duties
Clinical commissioning groups have a number of financial duties under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s performance against those duties was as follows:
2014/15
National
Health
Service Act
Section Duty

2014/15

Maximum

Performance

£’000

£’000

792,228

774,012

-

-

763,811

Duty
Achieved?

2013/14

2013/14
Duty
Achieved?

Maximum

Performance

£’000

£’000

Yes

759,123

744,779

Yes

Yes

-

-

Yes

745,595

Yes

728,966

714,622

Yes

223H(1)

Expenditure not to exceed income

223I(2)

Capital resource use does not exceed
the amount specified in Directions

223I(3)

Revenue resource use does not
exceed the amount specified in
Directions

223J(1)

Capital resource use on specified
matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

-

-

Yes

-

-

Yes

223J(2)

Revenue resource use on specified
matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

-

-

Yes

-

-

Yes

223J(3)

Revenue administration resource use
does not exceed the amount specified
in Directions

12,589

11,307

Yes

11,800

7,329

Yes

Note: For the purposes of 223H(1); expenditure is defined as the aggregate of gross expenditure on revenue and capital in the
financial year; and, income is defined as the aggregate of the notified maximum revenue resource, notified capital resource and all
other amounts accounted as received in the financial year (whether under provisions of the Act or from other sources, and included
here on a gross basis).
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21.

Purchase of Non NHS Healthcare

Purchase of Non NHS Healthcare

Other
Private

ISTCs
£000s

£000s

Voluntary

Other

Total

£000s

£000s

£000s

Total Primary Healthcare Purchased

-

-

-

-

-

Purchase of Secondary Healthcare

-

-

-

-

-

Social Care

-

19,624

3,147

7,182

29,953

Mental Health

-

5,211

2,512

3,677

11,400

Maternity

-

673

-

-

673

12,799

1,272

-

1,896

15,967

Accident and Emergency

-

-

-

-

-

Community Health Services

2

1,499

-

-

1,501

Other Contractual

-

6,849

(20)

4,238

11,067

12,801

35,128

5,639

16,993

70,561

Capital Grants

-

-

-

-

-

Revenue Grants

-

230

642

-

872

12,801

35,358

6,281

16,993

71,433

General and Acute

Total Secondary Healthcare
Purchased

TOTAL HEALTHCARE
PURCHASED
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NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group
1 Arthouse Square
61-69 Seel Street
Liverpool
L1 4AZ
Tel: 0151 296 7619
Email: Katherine.sheerin@liverpoolccg.nhs.uk
Grant Thornton UK LLP
Royal Liver Building
Liverpool
L3 1PS
28 May 2015
Dear Sirs
NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015
This representation letter is provided in connection with the audit of the financial statements
of NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) for the year ended 31 March 2015
for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true
and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the
accounting policies directed by the NHS Commissioning Board with the consent of the
Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health Service in England.
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such inquiries as we
considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves:

Financial Statements
i
As CCG Governing Body members we have fulfilled our responsibilities under the
National Health Services Act 2006 for the preparation of the financial statements in
accordance with the Manual for Accounts and International Financial Reporting
Standards which give a true and fair view in accordance therewith.
ii

We have complied with the requirements of all statutory directions affecting the
CCG and these matters have been appropriately reflected and disclosed in the
financial statements.

iii

The CCG has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that could have a
material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-compliance. There has
been no non-compliance with requirements of the Care Quality Commission or other
1
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regulatory authorities that could have a material effect on the financial statements in
the event of non-compliance.
iv

We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of
internal control to prevent and detect fraud.

v

Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those
measured at fair value, are reasonable.

vi

We are satisfied that the material judgements used in the preparation of the financial
statements are soundly based, in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and the Manual for Accounts, and adequately disclosed in the financial
statements. There are no other material judgements that need to be disclosed.

vii Except as disclosed in the financial statements:
a there are no unrecorded liabilities, actual or contingent
b none of the assets of the CCG has been assigned, pledged or mortgaged
c there are no material prior year charges or credits, nor exceptional or nonrecurring items requiring separate disclosure.
viii Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and
disclosed in accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting
Standards and the Manual for Accounts.
ix

All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which International
Financial Reporting Standards and the Manual for Accounts requires adjustment or
disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.

x

We have considered the adjusted misstatements, and misclassification and disclosures
changes schedules included in your Audit Findings Report.
We have considered the unadjusted misstatements schedule included in your Audit
Findings Report and attached. We have not adjusted the financial statements for these
misstatements brought to our attention as they are immaterial to the results of the CCG
and its financial position at the year-end. The financial statements are free of material
misstatements, including omissions.

xi

Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed in
accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards and
the Manual for Accounts.

xii We acknowledge our responsibility to participate in the Department of Health's
agreement of balances exercise and have followed the requisite guidance and
directions to do so. We are satisfied that the balances calculated for the CCG ensure
the financial statements and consolidation schedules are free from material
misstatement, including the impact of any disagreements.
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xiii We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value or
classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements.
xiv We confirm that the financial statements have been properly considered and approved
by an appropriate body in accordance with the CCG constitution.
xv We confirm that non-executive Governing Body members are engaged on a contract
for service.
Information Provided
xvi We have provided you with:
a. access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the
preparation of the financial statements such as records, documentation and
other matters;
b. additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of your
audit; and
c. unrestricted access to persons within the CCG from whom you determined it
necessary to obtain audit evidence.
xvii We have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of which management
is aware.
xviii All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the
financial statements.
xix We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial
statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.
xx We have disclosed to you all our knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the
CCG involving:
a. management;
b. employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
c. others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial
statements.
xxi We have disclosed to you all our knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected
fraud, affecting the CCG’s financial statements communicated by employees, former
employees, regulators or others.
xxii We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected noncompliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when
preparing financial statements.
xxiii We have disclosed to you the identity of all of the CCG’s related parties and all the
related party relationships and transactions of which we are aware.
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xxiv We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose
effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements.
Annual Report
xxv The disclosures within the Annual Report fairly reflect our understanding of the CCG’s
financial and operating performance over the period covered by the financial
statements.
Governance Statement
xxvi We are satisfied that the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) fairly reflects the CCG’s
risk assurance framework and we confirm that we are not aware of any significant risks
that are not disclosed within the AGS.
Approval
The approval of this letter of representation was minuted by the CCG’s Governing Body at
its meeting on 28 May 2015.
Yours faithfully
Name……………………………
Position………………………….
Date…………………………….

Name……………………………
Position………………………….
Date…………………………….
Signed on behalf of the Governing Body

4
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The Audit Findings
for NHS Liverpool Clinical
Commissioning Group
Year ended 31 March 2015
26 May 2015

Robin Baker
Engagement Lead
T 0161 214 6399
E robin.j.baker@uk.gt.com

Claire Bailey
Audit Manager
T 0141 223 0727
E claire.bailey@uk.gt.com

Alex Mason
In Charge Accountant
T 0151 224 7236
E alex.mason@uk.gt.com
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NHS Liverpool CCG
1 Arthouse Square
61-69 Seel Street
Liverpool
L1 4AZ

Grant Thornton UK LLP
Royal Liver Building
Liverpool
L3 1PS
T +44 (0)1512247200
www.grant-thornton.co.uk

28 May 2015
Dear Sir
Audit Findings for NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group for the year ending 31 March 2015

This Audit Findings report highlights the significant findings arising from the audit for the benefit of those charged with governance, as required by International Standard
on Auditing (UK & Ireland) 260. Its contents will be discussed with the Governing Body and the Audit, Risk and Scrutiny Committee. As auditors we are responsible for
performing the audit, in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK & Ireland), which is directed towards forming and expressing an opinion on the financial
statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of those charged with governance. The audit of the financial statements does not relieve
management or those charged with governance of their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements.
The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed primarily for the
purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements. Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of control weakness. However,
where, as part of our testing, we identify any control weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work cannot be relied upon to disclose defalcations or
other irregularities, or to include all possible improvements in internal control that a more extensive special examination might identify. We do not accept any responsibility
for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for,
any other purpose. We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the kind assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during our audit.
Yours faithfully
Robin Baker
Engagement lead
Chartered Accountants
Member firm within Grant Thornton International Ltd
Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales No: OC307742.
Registered office: Grant Thornton House, Melton Street, Euston Square, London NW1 2EP.
A list of members is available from our registered office.
Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority for investment business.
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We have completed a substantial amount of our planned audit
work. Management produced the financial statements in
accordance with the agreed timetable. Working papers were
made available when requested. Officers have responded
promptly to audit queries and provided explanations and
evidence to support the financial statements.
There are currently no adjustments to any of your primary
statements. Management has adjusted the financial statements
to improve the presentation of a number of disclosure notes.
Our audit identified a small number of disclosure changes in
the remuneration report.

Executive summary

Executive summary
Purpose of this report
This report highlights the key issues affecting the results of NHS Liverpool
Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) and the preparation of the CCG's
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2015. It is also used to report our
audit findings to management and those charged with governance in accordance
with the requirements of International Standard on Auditing (UK & Ireland) 260.
Under the Audit Commission's Code of Audit Practice (the Code) we are required
to report whether, in our opinion, the CCG's financial statements present a true
and fair view of the financial position. We are also required to reach a formal
conclusion on whether the CCG has put in place proper arrangements to secure
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources (the Value for Money
Conclusion).
Introduction
In the conduct of our audit we have not had to alter or change our audit approach,
which we communicated to the Audit, Risk and Scrutiny Committee on 12
February 2015 in our Audit Plan.
Our audit is substantially complete although we are finalising our procedures in the
following areas:
• review of the final version of the financial statements
• obtaining and reviewing the management letter of representation
• completing our work in respect of the Whole of Government Accounts (WGA)
requirements
• updating our post balance sheet events review, to the date of signing the
opinion.
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We received a draft annual report, financial statements and accompanying
working papers on the 23 April at the commencement of our work, in
accordance with the national deadline.
Key audit and financial reporting issues
Financial statements opinion
As at 22 May, and subject to the completion of the outstanding work described
above, we expect to issue an unqualified opinion on the CCG's financial
statements. Our audit has not identified any significant adjustment that would
affect the CCG's net expenditure for the year.
We have identified two unadjusted errors. Due to a mapping error within the
NHS accounts template, £315k of accrued income has not been disclosed in
Note 13 Financial Instruments. Management have chosen not to adjust to avoid
resulting inconsistencies within the NHS England accounts template mappings.
The balance of payables and receivables with one provider has been shown net
in the financial statements, resulting in understatement of payables and
receivables balances by £492k. All balances should more appropriately be
accounted for gross. Management have chosen not to adjust to avoid
mismatches within NHS England Agreement of Balances Exercise.
We identified a small number of recommendations which are detailed further in
section two of this report.
Management have amended the accounts for the disclosure changes identified
during the audit. These are primarily to improve the presentation of the
accounts. Further details are set out in section two of this report.

5

Executive summary

Regularity opinion
As well as an opinion on the accounts, we are required to give a regularity
opinion on whether expenditure has been incurred 'as intended by
Parliament'. Failure to meet statutory financial targets automatically results in
a qualified regularity opinion.

Agreement of Balances and Whole of Government Accounts (WGA)
The agreement of balances exercise undertaken by NHS England has identified
differences between the amounts recorded in the CCG's accounts and the
figures recorded in the accounts of some providers and other participating intragovernment organisations.

We are pleased to report that, based on our review of the CCG's expenditure, we
expect to issue an unqualified regularity opinion.

Whilst the differences are not material to the CCG's financial statements, we are
required to report them in our assurance letter to the National Audit Office
(NAO) for Whole of Government Accounts purposes.

Value for money conclusion
We are pleased to report that, based on our review of the CCG's arrangements to
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, we propose to
issue an unqualified VFM conclusion.
The CCG continues to show financial resilience and has appropriate financial
planning and management arrangements in place. During 2014/15 the CCG
exceeded its planned surplus of £14.8m.
The CCG is forward looking and ambitious in its approach. The Healthy
Liverpool Programme has now entered its third phase with the prospectus for
change published in November 2014. Programme areas have been identified and
governance and Project Management Office (PMO) arrangements are being
established.
Further detail of our work on Value for Money is set out in section three of this
report.

A summary of the mis-matches that we will need to consider reporting is
included at Appendix B.

Controls
The CCG's management is responsible for the identification, assessment,
management and monitoring of risk, and for developing, operating and
monitoring the system of internal control.
Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of
control weakness. However, where, as part of our testing, we identify any
control weaknesses, we report these to the CCG.
Our testing of journals found that six journals posted by the same user during
the year had been self-authorised.
Further details are provided within section two of this report.
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Executive summary

Remuneration Report
We are also required to ensure the Remuneration Report is prepared in
accordance with the Annual Reporting Guidance issued by NHS England. All
CCGs received clarification in March 2015 that the classification of GP
contracts drives the salary and pension disclosures required in the
Remuneration report. Looking ahead, it is important that the CCG finalises
the contracts for Governing Body Members.
We have carefully considered the CCG's approach in this area and the basis on
which GPs have been remunerated. Although there are no contracts in place
for 2014/15, the CCG considers the non-executive Governing Body Members
are engaged on the basis of a 'contract for services', and this is supported by
legal advice. A review is currently underway to formalise the CCG's assessment
of the employment status and work is progressing in developing contracts for
non-executive Governing Body Members. Full disclosure of gross salary
information has been made and no pension disclosures have been included in
line with guidance.
Executive Governing Body members have been remunerated on the basis of
'contracts of service', and disclosure of salary and pension details have been
made in the remuneration report based on the information supplied by NHS
Pensions as is required by the guidance.
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We are satisfied that the Remuneration Report has been properly prepared in
accordance with the guidance and we anticipate issuing an unmodified opinion on
the Remuneration report.

The way forward
Matters arising from the financial statements audit and review of the CCG's
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources have been discussed with management. We ask the Governing Body to
note the contents of the report.

Acknowledgement
We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the assistance
provided by the finance team and other staff during our audit.

Grant Thornton UK LLP
May 2015
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Our audit is substantially complete. We anticipate being able to
issue an unqualified audit opinion by the Department of Health
deadline of midday on 29 May 2015.

Audit findings

Audit findings against significant risks
"Significant risks often relate to significant non-routine transactions and judgemental matters. Non-routine transactions are transactions that are unusual, either due to
size or nature, and that therefore occur infrequently. Judgemental matters may include the development of accounting estimates for which there is significant
measurement uncertainty" (ISA (UK&I) 315).
In this section we detail our response to the significant risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan. As we noted in our plan, there are two
presumed significant risks which are applicable to all audits under auditing standards.

1.

Risks identified in our audit plan

Work completed

Improper revenue recognition

We have rebutted this presumption for Liverpool CCG
because:

Our audit work has not identified any issues in
respect of revenue recognition.

•

revenue is principally an allocation from NHS England

•

other revenue reported is mainly income under the formal
Section 75 agreement with Liverpool City Council, on
which we will perform detailed substantive procedures

The revenue resource limit obtained of
£763,811k agrees to the figure disclosed in note
20 to the accounts.

Under ISA (UK&I) 240 there is a presumed risk
that revenue may be misstated due to the
improper recognition of revenue. Auditors may
rebut this presumption depending on the
circumstances of the client.

We therefore do not consider this to be a significant risk for
Liverpool CCG.

Assurance gained and issues arising

Our substantive testing of revenues under the
S75 agreement found no issues.

As part of our audit work we have completed :

2.

•

a review and testing of revenue recognition policies; and

•

testing of material revenue streams.

Management override of controls

As part of our audit work we have completed:

Under ISA (UK&I) 240 there is a presumed risk
that the risk of management over-ride of controls
is present in all entities.

•

review of entity controls;

Our audit work has not identified any evidence
of management override of controls.

•

review of accounting estimates, judgements and decisions
made by management;

Our review of journal controls confirms they are
designed effectively.

•

testing of journals entries; and

•

review of unusual significant transactions.

Our testing of journal entries identified six
instances where a member of staff had selfauthorised journals. Self-authorisation of
journals is a control weakness, and there is a
need to ensure all staff with responsibilities for
posting journals are aware of the authorisation
procedures in place.
We set out later in this section of the report our
work and findings on key accounting estimates
and judgements.
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Audit findings against other risks
In this section we detail our response to the other risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan.

Transaction cycle

Description of risk

Work completed

Assurance gained & issues arising

Secondary Care
Commissioning

Contract costs not
accounted for properly.

We have undertaken the following work in relation to
this risk:

Our audit work has not identified any significant issues in relation
to the risks identified.

 Documentation and identification of the process
and key controls in the CCG's secondary
healthcare commissioning cycle.

Expenditure on NHS secondary healthcare contracts during the
year was £509.1m. This is made up of two elements, block
contract (£497.3m) and over/under performance (£11.8m). We
have agreed our sampled items totalling £493.4m of block
contract expenditure to signed agreements, and £11.5m of the
performance adjustment payments to supporting information.

Activity variation
adjustments to
expenditures not
correct.

 Walked through a sample item to confirm our
understanding.
 Sample testing to ensure expenditure and
accruals are in accordance with the contract and
the provider statements.
 Review of agreement of balances and ensure
year end position reflect the agreements.
 Review that variations to contracts at year-end
have been appropriately authorised
 Consideration of the service auditor's report in
respect of relevant controls operated by SBS.

Secondary Care
Commissioning

Invoiced non-contract
costs not accounted for
properly

We have undertaken the following work in relation to
this risk:
 Documentation and identification of the process
and key controls in the CCG's secondary
healthcare commissioning cycle.

We have not identified any changes to be made to the financial
statements following completion of our work on NHS England's
Agreement of Balances exercise. A summary of all mismatches
greater than £250k to be reported to the NAO is provided at
Appendix B.
The service auditor's report in respect of controls operated by
SBS does not identify any matters that we need to draw to your
attention.

Our audit work has not identified any significant issues in relation
to the risks identified. Total payments made via other contract
expenditure is £116.1m. Our substantive testing of these
payments has not identified any errors or uncertainties.

 Walked through a sample item to confirm our
understanding.
 Carry out substantive testing of invoices to
ensure activity has occurred, value is correct and
accounted for in the correct accounting period.
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Accounting policies, Estimates & Judgements
In this section we report on our consideration of accounting policies, in particular revenue recognition policies, and key estimates and judgements made and included
with the CCG's financial statements.
Accounting area

Summary of policy

Comments

Assessment

Revenue recognition

 The CCG has adopted the standard
revenue recognition policies for the NHS
as set out in the manual for accounts.

The CCG's revenue recognition policies are in accordance with the
requirements of the Annual Reporting Guidance.



 The CCG's accounting policies and judgements are reasonable
and appropriately disclosed.



 The policies for revenue recognition are
set out in section 1.7 of the CCG's
accounting policies.

Judgements and estimates

 Key estimates and judgements include:
−

Prescribing accrual

 We have agreed the basis for the calculation of the Prescribing
accrual.
 We are satisfied the CCG has adopted a reasonable approach to
estimating the year-end prescribing accural.

Going concern

The Governing Body have a reasonable
expectation that the services provided by the
CCG will continue for the foreseeable future.
For this reason, they continue to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements.

We are satisfied with management's assessment that the going
concern basis is appropriate for the 2014/15 financial statements.

Other accounting policies

The CCG has adopted the standard
accounting policies for the NHS as set out in
the manual for accounts.

Our review of the CCG's policies against the requirements of the
Manual for Accounts has not identified any omissions or other
matters that we need to report to you.

Assessment
 Marginal accounting policy which could potentially attract attention from regulators
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 Accounting policy appropriate but scope for improved disclosure





 Accounting policy appropriate and disclosures sufficient
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Other communication requirements
We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by auditing standards to communicate to those charged with governance.

Issue

Commentary

1.

Matters in relation to fraud

 We have previously discussed the risk of fraud with the Audit, Risk and Scrutiny Committee and we have not been made aware of
any incidents or particular concerns in the period . No issues have been identified during the course of our audit procedures.

2.

Matters in relation to related
parties

 Management has adopted a reasonable approach to identifying and disclosing transactions with related parties in the CCG's
accounts. Our review of the draft disclosures identified the following errors:
 top sliced prescribing expenditure incurred on behalf of the practices had incorrectly been disclosed as expenditure with the
practices;
 disclosed transactions for one GP on the Governing Body related to the wrong practice.
 Minor amendments have been made to the related parties reported within the Department of Health Group.

3.

Matters in relation to the
Remuneration report

 The treatment and disclosure of the pension entitlements for GPs who are Governing Body members has been the subject of much
debate nationally . The CCG received clarification in March 2015 from the Department of Health in ' FAQ 2: Remuneration Report
Disclosures ' that the classification of GP contracts drives the salary and pension disclosures required in the remuneration report.
 The CCG are currently formalising their review of the employment status of Governing Body members. However, the CCG is clear
that the GPs and other members of the Governing Body are engaged on a 'contract for services' basis.
 For members considered to be engaged on a contract for service, full disclosure of salary information has been made. No pension
disclosures have been included in line with guidance.
 The Remuneration Report has also been amended to correct a small number of presentational issues.

4.

Matters in relation to laws and
regulations

 We are not aware of any significant incidences of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

5.

Written representations

 A letter of representation will be requested from the CCG. This will include a specific representation confirming the employment status
of Governing Body members.

6.

Disclosures

 Our review found no material omissions in the financial statements.

7.

Confirmation requests from
third parties

 We obtained direct confirmation from the Government Banking Service for bank balances and no issues were noted.
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Audit findings

Internal controls
The purpose of an audit is to express an opinion on the financial statements.
Our audit included consideration of internal controls relevant to the preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control. The matters reported here are limited to those
deficiencies that we have identified during the course of our audit and that we have concluded are of sufficient importance to merit being reported to you in
accordance with auditing standards.
Priority
High - Significant effect on control system
Medium - Effect on control system
Low - Best practice
Rec
No.
1

2

Issue

Recommendation

Priority

Our testing of journals found that six journals
posted by the same user during the year had
been self-authorised.

Ensure all new members of the finance
team with the ability to process journals
are given appropriate induction training
around the journal authorisation controls
in place at the CCG.

Medium Established procedure was not
followed by a new interim
member of the team. The
Finance team will be reminded
of the need to ensure that
supporting documents are
signed off at the time of journal
approval and that there must
be separation of duties
between preparer and
approver.

Immediate

Our review of Primary Healthcare payments
found that during 2014/15, there were no formal
processes in place to monitor attendance at
sessions for GPs, practice leads and others in
receipt of sessional payments.

As of April 2015, the CCG Management
have implemented monitoring
processes.

Low

As soon as
possible

Good practice would be to introduce
formal annual adoption of all sessional
Our review also found that the sessional rate paid rates paid.
to practice nurses had not been formally adopted
by the CCG.
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Management response

Implementation
date &
responsibility

The recommendations will be
included in procedures
followed by the CCG as soon
as possible.

Chief
Accountant

Chief Officer,
HR & OD Lead
and Chief
Accountant

13

Audit findings

Internal controls
Rec
No.
3

Issue

Recommendation

Priority

Management response

The CCG did not have contracts in place with
non-executive Governing Body members for
2014/15.

Ensure contracts are in place with all
members of the CCG Governing Body.

Medium The recommendations will be
included in procedures
followed by the CCG as soon
as possible. The Chief
Accountant and HR & OD Lead
are meeting with Duncan
Groves of Grant Thornton early
June to seek additional advice
in relation to tax treatment of all
payments to GP members.

Implementation
date &
responsibility

As soon as
possible
Chief Officer,
HR & OD Lead

The CCG does not use the North West Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) to produce its accounts or to commission services. As such we have not identified any
controls operated by the CSU as being key to the figures recorded in your accounts.
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Audit findings

Misclassifications & disclosure changes
The table below provides details of misclassification and disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made in the final set of financial statements.

Adjustment
type

Value
£'000

Account balance

Impact on the financial statements

1

Disclosure

n/a

Remuneration Report

Some minor presentational changes have been made to the remuneration report.

2

Disclosure

n/a

Note 4.4 Exit Packages
agreed in the financial
year and Note 19
Losses and Special
Payments

One exit package was agreed in year. The payment was comprised of contractual payments
of £138k and discretionary payments of £34k. The disclosures in notes 4.4 and 19 were
amended to reflect the different elements of the payment.

3

Disclosure

n/a

Note 13.3 Financial
Liabilities

13/14 comparative figures for Financial Liabilities disclosed at Note 13.3 did not agree to
prior year audited financial statements. Payables – NHS: £6,467k amended to £6,468k.
Payables - Non NHS: £27,479k amended to £27,332k. Total at 31 March - £33,946k to be
amended to £33,800k.

4

Disclosure

n/a

Note 17 Related Party
Transactions

Disclosure of payments to GP practices amended to remove top sliced prescribing
expenditure (payments made on behalf of rather than directly to GP practices) which were
erroneously included in draft figures.

5

Disclosure

n/a

Note 17 Related Party
Transactions

Payments to related party for Mersey Care NHS Trust amended from £67,136k to
£68,554k.

6

Disclosure

n/a

Note 17 Related Party
Transactions

List of key entities transacted with within the DH group updated to include Community
Health Partnerships (CHP). Payments to CHP £4,894k and amounts owed to CHP £765k.
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Audit findings

Misclassifications & disclosure changes
The table below provides details of misclassification and disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made in the final set of financial statements.

Adjustment
type

Value
£'000

Account balance

Impact on the financial statements

7

Disclosure

n/a

Note 18 Events after
the Reporting Period,
Note 11 Provisions

Removal of details regarding termination of the lease as disclosed in the draft financial
statements, as this is not a post balance sheet event under IAS10 (conditions known at the
reporting date). Narrative moved to the Provisions note to provide context for the amount
provided.

8

Disclosure

n/a

Note 20 Financial
Performance Duties

Figures reported for duty 223H(1) Expenditure not to exceed income amended. Maximum
from £762,229k to £792,228k. Performance £744,012k to £774,012k.

9

Disclosure

n/a

Note 21 Purchase of
Non NHS Healthcare
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Testing found £348k of expenditure reported with commercial bodies actually with a
voluntary sector provider. Social Care – Other private – £19,973k amended to £19,625k.
Social Care – Voluntary – £2798k amended to £3,146k.
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Audit findings

Unadjusted misstatements
We have identified two errors which officers have declined to adjust. Were these adjustment to be made the effect would be to increase both the NHS payables and
NHS receivables by £492k. The net effect on the CCG's Statement of Financial Position would be nil. The table below provides details of adjustments identified
during the audit but which have not been made within the final set of financial statements.

Detail

1

2

Statement of
Comprehensive Net
Expenditure £'000

Statement of
Financial Position
£'000

The adjustment would not make a
material difference to the information
presented in the CCG's financial
statements and would create a missmatch in the Agreement of Balances
consolidation exercise.

The balance of payables and receivables with Liverpool
Community Healthcare NHS Trust has been shown net,
due to an unusually large credit note in the payables
position. Other payable and receivable balances with the
Trust should be accounted for in line with the gross
accounting concept. The CCG have been advised to
account for the balance in this way for Agreement of
Balances purposes.
Trade and Other Receivables Note 8
NHS Receivables: Revenue - £2,039

0

492

Trade and Other Payables Note 10
NHS Payables: Revenue - (£1,579)

0

(492)

Due to a mapping error in the NHS accounts template,
£315k of accrued income had not been included in the
Financial Instruments disclosures.
Financial Assets Note 13.2
Financial Assets - £3,365

0

0

Overall impact

0

0
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Reason for not adjusting

The disclosure would not make a
material difference to the information
presented in the CCG's financial
statements, and would result in
mapping inconsistencies in the NHS
England accounts template.
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We have completed our Value for Money work and intend to
issue an unqualified Conclusion.

Value for Money

Value for Money
Value for money conclusion
The Code of Practice 2010 (the Code) describes the CCG's responsibilities to put
in place proper arrangements to :
• secure economy efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
• ensure proper stewardship and governance
• review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements.
We are required to give our VFM conclusion based on two criteria specified by the
Audit Commission which support our reporting responsibilities under the Code.
These criteria are:
The CCG has proper arrangements in place for securing financial resilience.
The CCG has robust systems and processes to manage financial risks and
opportunities effectively, and to secure a stable financial position that enables it to
continue to operate for the foreseeable future
The CCG has proper arrangements for challenging how it secures economy,
efficiency and effectiveness.
The organisation is prioritising its resources within tighter budgets, for example by
achieving cost reductions and by improving efficiency and productivity

Overall our work highlighted:
• The CCG continues to enjoy a strong financial position and has effective
arrangements to secure financial resilience.
• The CCG achieved a year end surplus and met the other statutory financial
performance targets. The CCG continues to show financial resilience and
financial planning arrangements are in place. During 2014/15 the CCG
achieved a surplus of £18m compared to its planned surplus of £14.8m. In
addition the CCG delivered its QIPP of £26m. We understand that the main
reason for the higher than anticipated surplus is due to reduced contribution
(£1.7m) to the National Risk Pool for legacy continuing healthcare and an
additional allocation from NHSE (£1.5m).
• The CCG's financial plan identifies future financial risks in addition to the
risk of delivery and recurrent financial balance. The financial plan assumes
that £18m underspend can be carried forward to support the financial plans
for 2015/16.
• The approval of a strategy for working with the Voluntary, Community and
Social Enterprise Sector (VCSE) which recognises the role the sector has in
delivering positive outcomes for health and well being of the population of
Liverpool.

Key findings
Securing financial resilience
We have undertaken a review which considered the CCG's arrangements against
the expected characteristics of proper arrangements as defined by the Audit
Commission:
• Financial governance
• Financial planning
• Financial control.
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Value for Money

Value for Money

Challenging economy, efficiency and effectiveness
We have reviewed whether the CCG has prioritised its resources to take account
of the tighter constraints it is required to operate within and whether it has
achieved cost reductions and improved productivity and efficiencies. Our work
highlighted:

• £6.9m contribution to the North Mersey System Resilience Group
• Investment in winter pressures initiatives included:
• Alignment of GP's to A&E departments (£199k)
• Frequent caller specialist paramedic (£55k)
• Acute visiting scheme (£313k)

• The CCG and its partners are working together to address both the financial
and operational challenges they face. This includes the development of a
holistic transformational change programme, the Healthy Liverpool
Programme.
• The Programme has five priority areas, which look to address the 10
recommendations included in the Mayor's Health Commission.
• Community
• Hospital

• 'Examine your options' campaign (£483k)

Overall VfM conclusion
On the basis of our work, and having regard to the guidance published by the
Audit Commission, we have concluded that there are no matters which we are
required to report. We therefore intend to issue a standard VFM conclusion.

• Urgent Care
• Living Well
• Digital
• The current phase of work is looking to raise awareness of the current health
inequalities and poor outcomes to support the case for change that the
Healthy Liverpool programme will bring.
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Value for Money

We set out below our detailed findings against six risk areas which have been used to assess the CCG's performance against the Audit Commission's criteria. We
summarise our assessment of each risk area using a red, amber or green (RAG) rating, based on the following definitions:
Green

Adequate arrangements

Amber

Adequate arrangements, with areas for development

Red

Inadequate arrangements

The table below summarises our overall rating for each of the themes reviewed:

Theme

Summary findings

RAG rating

Key indicators of performance

The CCG continues to demonstrate good financial performance in a challenging national environment . It has
achieved its financial target for the year and exceeded its planned surplus by £3.3m. This reflects the reduced
contribution (£1.7m) to the National Risk Pool for legacy continuing healthcare and additional allocation from NHSE
(£1.5m). Running costs of £11.3m were within the Administration Resource Limit. The in-year financial position is
monitored and managed monthly, with details and associated risks being regularly reported to both the Governing
Body and the Audit, Risk and Scrutiny Committees.

Green

Strategic financial planning

The CCG submitted a five year financial plan. The CCG has a two-year operating plan which sets out how it will
meet its financial duties as well as outlining local priorities in the context of national strategies and restraints. The
core financial planning assumptions are set by NHS England. Contracts with the main providers were not agreed at
the start of the year but are due to be signed off during May.

Green

The 2015/16 budget has been agreed. Total income in 2015/16 has increased by £43m from NHSE. The 2015/16
budget priorities have been considered by the Governing Body. The CCG delivered projected surplus in 2014/15 and
the 2015/16 budget has been increased significantly by NHSE. The CCG considers it has set a balanced 2015/16
budget focussing of key priorities and has increased spending in key areas. The CCG 15/16 budget includes a
'contingency' balance of £7.8m and expects to achieve a surplus of £14m . There is a QIPP savings target of £27m
for 2015/16.
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Value for Money

We set out below our detailed findings against six risk areas which have been used to assess the CCG's performance against the Audit Commission's criteria. We
summarise our assessment of each risk area using a red, amber or green (RAG) rating, based on the following definitions:
Green

Adequate arrangements

Amber

Adequate arrangements, with areas for development

Red

Inadequate arrangements

The table below summarises our overall rating for each of the themes reviewed:

Theme

Summary findings

Financial governance

Key financial risks are detailed in the corporate risk register and these are being monitored by the Finance and
Executive leads and reported to Governing Body members and the Audit, Risk and Scrutiny Committee. The Finance,
Procurement and Contracting Committee is in place which meets regularly and has oversight of delivery of the
financial plan, QIPP savings and monitoring financial governance arrangements.

RAG rating
Green

Monthly contract meetings are held with main providers for escalation of issues. During the year two activity audits
were commissioned by the CCG on main providers.
Delegated commissioning of Primary Care Medical Services has been approved. A transitional plan is being
developed to more fully understand the risks to the CCG.
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Value for Money

We set out below our detailed findings against six risk areas which have been used to assess the CCG's performance against the Audit Commission's criteria. We
summarise our assessment of each risk area using a red, amber or green (RAG) rating, based on the following definitions:
Green

Adequate arrangements

Amber

Adequate arrangements, with areas for development

Red

Inadequate arrangements

The table below summarises our overall rating for each of the themes reviewed:

Theme

Summary findings

RAG rating

Financial control

The CCG has sound budget monitoring arrangements in place including monthly reports to the Governing Body
meetings.

Green

Prioritising resources

Senior management, directors and the CCG's partners have worked together to develop the CCG's investment
priorities. Programmes will be required to submit investment proposals which will be subject to a formalised
Investment Prioritisation Process. It sets out the process for review and prioritisation of investment proposals. The
process will enable the CCG to evidence its decision making as transparent and equitable.

Green

Each proposal is reviewed and scored against defined criteria which are aligned with the CCG strategic objectives and
outcome measures. The Prioritisation Review Panel has multidisciplinary representation and members include
Governing Body and patient representatives.
The 2015/16 budget has been agreed. Total income in 2015/16 has increased by £43m from NHS England. Financial
year 2015/16 is the second year of the 2 year operational plan. The operational plan was 'refreshed' and reported to
the Governing Body on 14 April 2015. There were no commissioning priority changes in the operational plan,
although the transformation priorities were realigned to reflect the Healthy Liverpool Programme priorities. Some of
the outcome ambitions targets were increased. Review of the Operational plan refresh indicates that it covers and
updates all key areas including key priorities, ambitions and aims.
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Value for Money

We set out below our detailed findings against six risk areas which have been used to assess the CCG's performance against the Audit Commission's criteria. We
summarise our assessment of each risk area using a red, amber or green (RAG) rating, based on the following definitions:
Green

Adequate arrangements

Amber

Adequate arrangements, with areas for development

Red

Inadequate arrangements

The table below summarises our overall rating for each of the themes reviewed:

Theme

Summary findings

Improving efficiency & productivity

The CCG and Liverpool City Council have well developed plans for the Better Care Fund which is over seen by the
Health and Wellbeing Board. This builds on the current relationships established under the section 75 agreement with
Liverpool City Council.
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RAG rating
Green
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Fees, non audit services and independence

Fees, non-audit services and independence
We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and provision of non-audit services.

Fees

Fees for other services
£

CCG audit fee
Total audit fees (excluding VAT)

Service

Fees £

Tax support work

11,400

95,000
95,000

Independence and ethics

International Standards on Auditing (ISA) 260 require us to give you full and fair disclosure of matters relating to our independence. In the audit plan, we brought to
your attention that Grant Thornton's Tax team provides support for the CCG on the employment and associated tax status of various office holders on the Governing
Body. We are satisfied that this non-audit service does not present any significant threat to our independence as your auditors, and has not impacted on procedures
carried out during the course of the audit.
Additionally, we brought to your attention that Grant Thornton's Liverpool office has a small team that provide accounting and tax services to a number of GPs and GP
practice partnerships across the North West, including GP members of the CCG's Governing Body. Having carefully considered the matter we have formed the view
that there could reasonably be perceived a threat to our independence as CCG auditors, but that this threat could be mitigated through appropriate safeguards. The
safeguards are:
• Reporting and discussing the matter with the Audit Risk and Scrutiny Committee.
• Confirming that the team responsible for the audit of the CCG is separate and independent of the team responsible for the provision of the GP accounting and tax
service. The teams are led by separate partners with the firm.
• Appointing an independent review partner to the CCG audit. The independent review partner is from another part of the Firm and has undertaken a formal review at
key stages of the CCG audit.
With this in place, we confirm we have implemented policies and procedures to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards, and therefore we confirm
that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements.
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We have effectively communicated audit matters throughout the
year.

Communication of audit matters

Communication of audit matters to those charged with governance
International Standards on Auditing ISA (UK&I) 260, as well as other ISAs, prescribe
matters which we are required to communicate with those charged with governance, and
which we set out in the table opposite.
The Audit Plan outlined our audit strategy and plan to deliver the audit, while this Audit
Findings report presents the key issues and other matters arising from the audit, together
with an explanation as to how these have been resolved.

Respective responsibilities
The Audit Findings Report has been prepared in the context of the Statement of
Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by the Audit Commission
(www.audit-commission.gov.uk).
We have been appointed as the CCG's independent external auditors by the Audit
Commission, the body responsible for appointing external auditors to local public bodies
in England. As external auditors, we have a broad remit covering finance and
governance matters.
Our annual work programme is set in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice ('the
Code') issued by the Audit Commission and includes nationally prescribed and locally
determined work. Our work considers the CCG's key risks when reaching our
conclusions under the Code.
It is the responsibility of the CCG to ensure that proper arrangements are in place for the
conduct of its business, and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted
for. We have considered how the CCG is fulfilling these responsibilities.
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Our communication plan

Audit
Plan

Respective responsibilities of auditor and management/those
charged with governance



Overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit. Form, timing
and expected general content of communications



Audit
Findings



Views about the qualitative aspects of the entity's accounting and
financial reporting practices, significant matters and issues arising
during the audit and written representations that have been sought
Confirmation of independence and objectivity





A statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, relationships and other
matters which might be thought to bear on independence.





Details of non-audit work performed by Grant Thornton UK LLP and
network firms, together with fees charged
Details of safeguards applied to threats to independence
Material weaknesses in internal control identified during the audit



Identification or suspicion of fraud involving management and/or
others which results in material misstatement of the financial
statements



Compliance with laws and regulations



Expected unmodified auditor's report



Uncorrected misstatements



Significant matters arising in connection with related parties



Significant matters in relation to going concern



28

Appendices

Appendices

PAGE 178

© 2015 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Audit Findings Report 2014/15 | Date

29

Appendices

Appendix A: Audit opinion
We anticipate we will provide the CCG with an unmodified audit report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF NHS LIVERPOOL CCG
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) for the
year ended 31 March 2015 under the Audit Commission Act 1998. The financial statements comprise the
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of
Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the accounting policies directed
by the NHS Commissioning Board with the consent of the Secretary of State as relevant to the National
Health Service in England.
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration Report that is subject to audit, being:
• the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers and related narrative notes on page x
• the table of pension benefits of senior managers and related narrative notes on page y
• the table of pay multiples and related narrative notes on page z.
This report is made solely to the members of NHS Liverpool CCG in accordance with Part II of the Audit
Commission Act 1998 and for no other purpose, as set out in paragraph 44 of the Statement of
Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by the Audit Commission in March 2014. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the CCG's
members and the CCG as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report which comprises the
Member Practices’ Introduction, Strategic Report, Members' Report, Remuneration Report, Statement of
Accountable Officer Responsibilities, Governance Statement and the Financial Statements to identify
material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is
apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the
course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.
In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the expenditure
and income reported in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament
and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.
Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reported in the financial statements have
been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the
authorities which govern them.
Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor

•

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the Accountable Officer
is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and
fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards also require us to
comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

•

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient
to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to
the CCG’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by the Accountable Officer; and the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

In our opinion:
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give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS Liverpool CCG as at 31 March 2015 and of its
net operating costs for the year then ended; and
have been prepared properly in accordance with the accounting policies directed by the NHS
Commissioning Board with the consent of the Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health
Service in England.

Opinion on other matters

•

•

the part of the Remuneration Report subject to audit has been prepared properly in accordance with the
requirements directed by the NHS Commissioning Board with the consent of the Secretary of State as
relevant to the National Health Service in England; and
the information given in the annual report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
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We report to you if :
•
•

•

in our opinion the governance statement does not reflect compliance with NHS England’s Guidance;
we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 19 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 because
we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a
decision involving unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has taken, unlawful action likely to cause
a loss or deficiency; or
we issue a report in the public interest under section 8 of the Audit Commission Act 1998.

Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of
resources
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the
guidance on the specified criteria, published by the Audit Commission in October 2014, as to whether the
CCG has proper arrangements for:
• securing financial resilience
• challenging how it secures economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

Conclusion on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use
of resources
Respective responsibilities of the CCG and auditor
The CCG is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to review regularly
the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements.
We are required under Section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to satisfy ourselves that the CCG has
made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. The
Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission requires us to report to you our conclusion relating
to proper arrangements, having regard to relevant criteria specified by the Audit Commission in October
2014.

The Audit Commission has determined these two criteria as those necessary for us to consider under the
Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2015.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we
undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on whether, in all significant respects, the
CCG had put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources.
Conclusion
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria published by the Audit
Commission in October 2014, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, NHS Liverpool CCG put in
place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year
ending 31 March 2015.
Certificate

We report if significant matters have come to our attention which prevent us from concluding that the CCG
has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating
effectively.

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Liverpool CCG in accordance with the
requirements of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit
Commission..
Robin Baker
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor
Royal Liver Building, Liverpool. L3 1PS
May 2015
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Appendix B: Agreement of Balances Mismatches
Summary of Agreement of Balances Mismatches (>£250k)
Payables and Receivables

Entity

Partner

Payable Receivable
£000
£000

Difference
£000

Comments

The Clatterbridge Cancer
Centre NHS FT

Liverpool CCG

0

9,600

Differing accounting treatment – mismatch to remain

Royal Liverpool and
Broadgreen University NHS
Trust

Liverpool CCG

Liverpool CCG

Liverpool Community Health
NHS Trust
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9,600

Liverpool CCG made a one-off payment to Clatterbridge
Cancer centre during the year for £9.6m to support
investment in their new building. Clatterbridge are recording
this payment as deferred income. No conditions were
attached to the payment by the CCG, therefore the CCG
have appropriately accounted for the payment as
expenditure during the year.
4,387

6,884

2,497

No agreement has been reached – mismatch to remain
The Trust and the CCG have yet to agree on final 2014/15
outturn position in respect of overactivity. The CCG have
provided full workings and documentation to support their
position as currently reported.
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1,109

662

447

Differing accounting treatment – mismatch to remain
The Trust have accounted for monies paid by the CCG for
partially completed spells as deferred income. The CCG do
not adopt this treatment, as the amounts in respect of
partially completed spells are not material to their accounts.
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Summary of Agreement of Balances Mismatches (>£250k)
Income and Expenditure

Entity

Partner

Admin/
Programme

Income
£000

The Clatterbridge
Cancer Centre
NHS FT

Liverpool CCG

Programme 0

Community Health
Partnerships
(CHP)

Liverpool CCG

Expenditure
£000

Difference
£000

Comments

9,617

9,617

Differing accounting treatment – mismatch to remain
Liverpool CCG made a one-off payment to Clatterbridge Cancer centre
during the year for £9.6m to support investment in their new building.
Clatterbridge are recording this payment as deferred income. No
conditions were attached to the payment by the CCG, therefore the
CCG have appropriately accounted for the payment as expenditure
during the year.

Programme 5,966

2,114

3,852

Mismatch partially resolved
The CCG had initially failed to report £2,114k of expenditure with CHP
which had been recorded on a duplicate counterparty code in the
ledger (audit team have confirmed that this expenditure has been
appropriately reported in the financial statements). This will be
amended in the next AOB submission.
The residual mismatch of £1,738k relates primarily to the inclusion of a
Q3 13/14 invoice by CHP in their 14/15 revenue, which the CCG had
correctly accounted for in the prior year. This mismatch will remain.

Liverpool CCG

Liverpool
Community
Health NHS
Trust
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1,109

662

447

Differing accounting treatment – mismatch to remain
The Trust have accounted for monies paid by the CCG for partially
completed spells as deferred income. The CCG do not adopt this
treatment, as the amounts in respect of partially completed spells are
not material to their accounts.
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Summary of Agreement of Balances Mismatches (>£250k)
Income and Expenditure (cont'd)

Entity

Partner

Admin/
Programme

Income
£000

NHS England
(CORE)

Liverpool CCG

Programme 3,381

Expenditure
£000

Difference
£000

1,090

2,291

Comments

Correct reporting of counterparty to be established - mismatch to
be resolved
The difference has arisen because Liverpool CCG have analysed their
expenditure with NHS England across the Core NHS England team
and the NHS England Cheshire, Warrington and Wirral area team
counterparty codes. NHS England are currently showing all revenue
with the Core counterparty. Liverpool CCG are liaising with NHS
England to ensure corresponding entries are made at the final
submission dates to avoid a mismatch.

NHS England –
Cheshire,
Warrington and
Wirral area team

Liverpool CCG

Royal Liverpool
and Broadgreen
University NHS
Trust

Liverpool CCG

Mersey Care NHS
Trust

Liverpool CCG

Programme 0

2,325

2,325

Correct reporting of counterparty to be established - mismatch to
be resolved
See above

Programme 202,163 200,303

1,860

No agreement has been reached – mismatch to remain
The Trust and the CCG have yet to agree on final 2014/15 outturn
position in respect of overactivity. The CCG have provided full
workings and documentation to support their position as currently
reported.
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Programme 68,154
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67,136

1,719

Mismatch resolved
The CCG had initially failed to report £1,729k of expenditure with
Mersey Care, as they had not been recorded as the counterparty for
the payments in the ledger (audit team have confirmed that this
expenditure has been appropriately reported in the financial
statements, although an update to the payments reported with related
parties will be required). This will be amended in the next AOB
submission.
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Summary of Agreement of Balances Mismatches (>£250k)
Income and Expenditure (cont'd)

Entity

Partner

Admin/
Programme

Income
£000

Liverpool
Community Health
NHS Trust

Liverpool CCG

Programme 77,872

NHS Property
Services

Liverpool CCG

Expenditure
£000

Difference
£000

Comments

78,223

357

Differing accounting treatment – mismatch to remain
The Trust have accounted for monies paid by the CCG for partially
completed spells as deferred income. The CCG do not adopt this
treatment, as this amounts in respect of partially completed spells are
not material to their accounts.
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Admin
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263

6

257

Late notification of accrual by counterparty - mismatch to remain
£180k of the balance relates to an accrual which NHS Property
Services notified the CCG of after the close of the formal notification
period. The CCG have made the decision not to amend, as this would
require adjustments to the financial statements, and the value is not
material to the accounts. After consideration of this balance the
residual mismatch is below the reporting threshold.

35

© 2015 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.
'Grant Thornton' means Grant Thornton UK LLP, a limited
liability partnership.
Grant Thornton is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd
(Grant Thornton International). References to 'Grant Thornton' are
to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms operate
and refer to one or more member firms, as the context requires.
Grant Thornton International and the member firms are not a
worldwide partnership. Services are delivered independently by
member firms, which are not responsible for the services or activities
of one another. Grant Thornton International does not provide
services to clients.

grant-thornton.co.uk

PAGE 185

© 2015 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Audit Findings Report 2014/15 | Date

